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This survey brings together for the first time those chapels of
architectural interest within the British Isles that belopg, or have
betonged, to the Unitarian and allied denominations. The majority
are still used as Unitarian places of worship; some have passed to
other denominations or are 1n secular use; some demolished
buildings of interest have also been included. Where a congregation
has been housed in more than one building, the succession of
buildings will be noted.

The reasons for demolition or reconstruction are various, In the
catlier period, dissenters suffercd persecution; Dr Priestley's
experience in Birmingham in 1791 when his New Meeting was
burmed by the mob, and the harassment of the dissenters of
Newcastle-under-Lyme in 1694 are cases in peint. Often, however,
the meeting-house became too small or old-fashioned and was
pulled down and rebuitt in Cothic style 10 accommodaic a larger
congregation. Sometimes a congregation split over theological
differences. During the Second World War 13 chapels were
destroyed by bombs; at least 15 chapels have been demolished due
to local authority developments: a number of others have been
voluntarily dernclished by their congregations in order to rebuild
in a form more appropriate to twentieth century needs.

Older chapels have been alfected by alterations to their
environment. Dissenting chapels occupied 2 distinctive place in
the community; some were built behind the street facade and
approached by an alleyway, thus concealing the extent of their
premises [Kendal is 2 good exaraple). Others are more openly sited
1o 4 graveyard facing the street; yet others ou the periphery of the
comrmunity, alongside the boundary walls. Modern re-planning of
urban centres and the development of road systems has completely
destroyed the environment of some of these chapels, for example,
Boston, Newcasue-under-Lyme and Dover. Auempts have been
made at Mansfield and Dudley to incorporate the ecighteenth
century chapels into new developments; such an opportunity was
ragically missed st Oldbury. The environment of the fine chapel
at Ipswich has been drastically altered. Other alterations include
the tuming back-to-fromt of chapels where the thoroughfare
chapges; chapels once deep in the country (sometimes built as a
result of the Five-Mile Act of 1665) are now surrounded by
suburbs.

No housc of worship, however simple, can be appreciated
without somme knowledge of the beliefs and customs of the
congregation whose home it is. Albeit briefly, an oulline of the
development of Unitarianism must dluminate the description of
brick, stone and mortar.

From the seventeenth century onwards various strands of belict
have contributed their quota to what is now an organised
denomination. Unitarianism only became Jegal in 1813 with the
passing of the Trnity Act. The existing Unitarian chapels owe
much to the English Presbyierians, something else to the General
Bapiists and, in thc nineteenth cennwry, to the Methodist
Unitarians, Universalists and Christian Brethren. These groups all
contributed their individusl sirands of belief. The Unitarian
strand, origwating in various parts of Europe at the time of the
Reformation, developed into an organised denomination via a
wovement of thought within the Church of England and the
dissening churches, and a liberalising of theology contributed by
teachers in the Dissenting Academies. The first avowedly
Unitanan congregation of 1774 grew out of a protest by Theophiius
Lindsey, vicar of Catterick, against the imposition of the creeds of
the Church of England as a test of orthodoxy. In the pineteenth
century the writings apd teachings of James Martinean and
Amencans like W. E. Channing, R W Emerson and Theodore
Parker contributed 1o Unitarian development and consolidation.

Certain basic religious attitndes were typical; an early, and 1o
Some extent continuing, reliance on a rational wterpretation of the
Scriptures; a belief in human reason as a guide in the search for
truth, and an acceptance of che individual's right to believe in his
Qwn way

The many different strains within the onc tradition are reflected
in tbe buddings. Preaching occupicd an important position in
noncoaformiry, thus the pulpit is a central feature in early dissent.
Ritual, except for the important hold that Communion had among
dissenters, was minimal. In General Baptist churches total

Above Mansfield nanan Chapel
{1761} szen from entry in Stockvgd!
Gate. The old parsonage is on right
Below plan of 1816 showing

Rosslyn Chupel, Hegpitead, in
grounds of the house uf Fdward
Carlile. {Chapel rebuilt 1862.)
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Above: Irenchay Chapel, Brisio}
{1621} Below Diss Chapel. Morfolk
{1822, now clused)

imomersion was practiced, making nccessary the provision of
baptistries. Especially in the North-Wesi, day-schaols were
attached 1o Unitarian chapels, reflecting the Unitarian beltef in the
iTnportance of education and democratic self-improvement.

1t is estimated that nearly 1,000 meeting houses were erccted
between the Toleration Act of 1689 and 1710 Of this enormous
number, most have long since returned 10 dust; a few belong to the
Baptists and Society of Friends, and morc became Congregationa.
Some 21 chapels from these early years are now Unitarian, and the
remainder — how many we ar¢ only now beginning to discover —
are still in usc as secular buildings of one sort or another.

The simplicity of the early meeting-house is an important factor
io its survival. It was solidly built, though far from costly {Ilpswich
Meeting House, one of the best, cost £398 in 1700). Their modest
size and simplicity of design reflects their function as both
preaching-house and meeting-place and is in mute contrast 1o the
Unitarian chapels of the nin¢teenth century Gorhic revival, whose
decay is an awful wamning of the frailty of bricks and mortar.

The large proportion of early chapels of architectural merit
whbich are now Unitarian has been explained by Martin Briggs as
due to their predeccssors {the Presbyterians) being ‘the most
intellecrual of the three denominations {Baptist, Independent and
Presbyterian) and the most inclined to approve and atiain 1o
dignity of architectural design and beaury of internal fittings’. It
mhust also be remembered that they were among the most
prosperous of the carly Dissenters. From the period before 1750, 66
chapel buildings have been included, zll but elcven of them
mentioned by Professor Sir Nikolaus Pevsper i Buildings of
England.

In the later cighteenth century chapels were distinguished by
their purely functional character. Except where galleries were
added, thus dividing the height of single-storey windows, the
outside appearance truthfully reflects the snterior lay-out. Several
chapels of this period contain important souctural dcvelopments
made necessary by larger and more sophisticaied buildings. The
Octagon Chapel Norwich, Field Row Chapel Belper, and Lewin's
Mead Buistol, feature original forrns of constructien which

influenced tacer bwildings of varicus denominations. To this period
also belong the rebuiiding and ‘modemnisation’ of several older
meeting-houses. Often, the roof was raised and the windows,
originally rectangular, were given arches, as for example at
Frenchay, Bristo] and Kingswood, Birmingham. Galleries, 100,
were added for larger congregations and Jater for Sunday Schools.

During the early nincteenth century Unitarians built a handfu!
of churches in a severely classical style. Of these only one survives
with an active congregation — Brighton. Other 'classical’ churches
have been demolished or adapted to secular use; the style seems 0
have been uncongenial for religions purposes, and on oceasion was
described as pagan!

Unitarians were the first among the Nonconformists 1o adopt
the Gothic revival style. It was used almost without exception for
the 75 years following 1840. This was due in great part to the

epthusiasm with which James Mantineau, doyen of Victorian
Unitarians, embraced the Gothic style. The last forty years has
seen the demolition of many of these buildings, But much thought
weat into the design and planning of oew churches, and the
conversion of older buildings whose orientation reverted to the
East end and whose pews were 'turned’ to face the narmow end The
increased acceptance of ritual and litany — anathema 10 the earlier
Purtans — did not mean that the basic Unitarian tenets of
scholarship, reason and individual responsibility had been lost.
The Gothic idiom was still used to emphasise the rolc of the
preacher, as well as bringing the organ and choir inwo greater
prominence. Building for educational and social functions —
always important for Unitanans — contnued apace. Many of the
Jater Victorian chapels, and indeed up to the First World War, have
an open, single-space design reminiscent of the Friars’ buildings of
the later Middle Ages, and their function as preaching houses was
of course similar.

Throughout the Victorian age there are fine example; of newly-
acquired wealth being used with aesthetic discrimination io
Unitarian churches; Todmorden, Garton, Monton, Ulict Road,
Liverpool, and Flowery Field and Gee Cross in Hyde were buiit by
men like the Fieldens, the Ashtons, Sir John Brunner, Sir Henry
Tate, 2nd Richard Peacock.

More recently, apart from imodest replscements of older
churches destroyed by bombs, local authority planning, or by the
decisions of the congregations thernselves, therc are successful and
carchully designed new churches at Golders Green, West Kirby,
Cambridge, Lytham St. Annes, and Balliwell Road Bolton from
the inter-war period; the unusual church in date and style, of
Newcastle upon Tyne of 1940; and post-war churches such as
Brixton, Bury, Kensington, Pendleton, Rawienstall and Stand.

An account of Unitarian churches of architectural interest must
include sorme which have been subjccted to a change of use or
demolition. This needs emphasising, because some in our list had
only a short life as Unitarian places of worship Bui whether they
lasied 50 or 300 years is immaterizl — an unsatisfactory building
was rarely the cause of congregational failure.

Some Unitarian churches would be outstanding in any survey of
Brutish architecture — others less so. Unitanians comprise a small
body of people and their churches are not as numerous as those of
many other religious groups. Thus is it possible for vs to survey in
ane book the complete body of Unitarian churches in the British
Isles — 2 task it would be dilficult or impossible to attempt with a
larger denomination.

Most of the older buildings have been altered, cxtended or
paually rebuilt; only a handful are in their original condition. In
listing them, the carlicst date of erection has been taken as the
tclerence point; it has, we hope, been made clear that subsequent
alterations may have greatly altered the original structure.

Above: the spime of Nyde Chapel,
Gee Cross (B8] with the chapol!
schonds in i joregroasd

Beiow Church of the Divine Unity.
Mewcastle upon Tyue (19404,




CHAPTER ONE

The Puritans:
Before 1662

Above Tha Angient Chopes,
Toxieth (16181
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Few dissenting chapels were built before the mid-seventeenth
century, for the obvious reason that Dissent was illegal. But many
seventezenth century chapels were built by puritans who belonged
o the Church of England. Especially in the north — much later
than the South in developing a parish-sysiem embracing the whole
population — chapels were built to serve remote areas, ctheir status
being 'chapels of ease’ attached to a parish church. In large parishes
Jike Halifax, Sheflicld or Bolion, many such chapels existed in
moorland and remote [arming districts of Yorkshire and
Lancashire. Here, away from ceontres of church government,
puritanism flowrished and maoy ministers and congregations
adopted Presbyterianism. During the Commonwealth those
churches with 2 puritan character were strengthened, only to be
denounced in 1660 when the Restoration beralded the Ace of
Uniformity of 1662.

The few dissenting chapels built before 1662 bear a sirong
resemblance 1o Anglican chapels of the period, and are not unlike
chapels built at the end of the century, when the laws against
dissenters were relaxed.

It the remoter areas of England the Act of Unifermity made lice
difference o the way people worshipped. At Chowbent near Bolton
the original brick chapel was in cxistence by 1645 as a chapel of

ease of Leigh Parish Church. The Presbyterian minister, James
Wood, was not ejected in 1662, and in 1672 the cha_pe] was
licensed as "a Presbyterian Mecting Place’. However, m 1721,
nearly sixty years after the Act of Uniformity, the Jazobite Lord of
the Manor exercised his right o expel the Presbyterians. The
congregation were then compelled to build a new chapel,
corapleted in 1722, A similar pattern of events occurred at
Rangway [later Bale Bamns in Chesbire), Rivington, Walmsley and
Hindley in Lancashire, at Stannington in Yorkshire, and other
places. .

Several mediaeval buildings housed Unitarian congregations and
their predecessors for long periods. Blackfriars m Cannlcrbury.
Tavistock Abbey, Devon, and Kirkstead Abbey, Lincolnshire, are
examples. It is probable that other carly dissenting groups met in
buildings left derelict by the dissolution of the monasteries,
evidence for this exists at Norwich, Bridport, Warringion and
Blackfriars, London. ‘

No complete interior of a dissenting chapel of the mid-
seventeenth century survives, but there is 2 description and
photographs of the Canterbury chapel and of Kirkstead. The
Anciunt Chapel of Toxteth was largely rebuilt i 1774 but may be
close 1o the original arangement.

Left: Doorway of the Refectory.
Tavistock Abdwy.

Above: Blackinan, Canterbury with
brick exvaramen ¢ 1763

Below: Great Houghton Anglican
Chapel of Fase ' 1650), Built by
Edward Rhodes for hus personal use,
dissenting chapel wll 1743,




The Ancient Chapel of Toxteth, Liverpool, 1618
and 1774,

in 1611 Richard Mather arrived in Toxteth as
master at the new school, Toxteth Park was a
remoty forest area, disparked in 159) and a
haven for outlawed Catholics and dissenters.
Mather later retumed 1o Oxdord 10 complete his
degree and was probably ordained by the Bishop
of Chester in 1619. The Chapel was built for
him, and leased from Viscount Melyneux, a
Catholic It was pever consecrated, bemng
outside a parish and beyond the jurisdiction of a
bishop. In 1633 Mather was suspended for
disobeying church law; he sailed for
Massachusents in 1634.

Red sandstone; stone flagged roof with small
lanierm. Original building work consists of two
intenior galleries, part of the interior woodwork
fiwo pows dated 1650 and 1700} and some
masonry. Largely rebuilt in 1774, reflecting
growth in nmearby Liverpool, bul its compact
crowded interior has the fecl of the seventeenth
rather than the eighteenth century. A third
gallery was added in 1774 with porch on south
sule. 1841 extension on north side with new

porch. Interior: small and dark with high pulpit,
gallerics and pews ol dark oak. Clock by
Williarm Lassell of Toxteth Park [buried in
graveyard).

Memonials to 'Edward Aspinwall of Tocksteth
Park, Esquire’ 1656; Jeremiah Homrox who
predicled apd observed the transit of Venus
across the sun, Nov. 24, 1639, Doctor Matthew
Debson, Physician, an original member of the
Suciety for the Establishment of an Academy of
Painting and Sculpture in Liverpool [est. 1769).
He was a pioneer in treatment of diabetes and
becamme physician to Liverpool Infirmary in
1770. Also memorial ta his daughter Elisz, 1778.

Chapel bell 1751 probably by Luke Ashton of
Wigan. Craveyard with many memorials and
modern columbarium.

The 1neanor of rhe Anciem Chape,
Tiadetly.

C'P.'.'dsﬂf' Snde view of Wesigair
Compal, Laveer Tha chaped is on dhe
Telr Inura doewwiay). The A=l fnn ri
e the mighi

Lewes: Westgate Chapel, High Streer. Sussex.
1595 and 1700. Founded 1662,

Presbyterians and Independents met in Lewes
before 1662; a licence 10 waorship in a privatc
house was obtained in 1672. The move to
Westgate reflected a split between Independents
and Presbyterians, previously one congregation
with two ministers. Presbyterians moved imo
old town-house of the Goring family adiacent o
the Westgate, pardy occupied by the Bull Inn. A
plaque on the inn records that Tom Paine lived
there from 1768-74.

Of the Tudor house, the flint walls, one
doorway and traces of mullioned windows
remain. Twu large mullioned and maosomed
windows at back and cast side Tile-hangng on
rear wall. 1698-1700, roof raised and larger
windows added, and curcular load-bearing posts
inserted. In 1913, under the direction of Ronald
P. Jones, the interior was divided lengthwise and
tuned 1o form meeting-room and chapel.
Vesuy-cum-library adjoins entrance into passage
to High Streer.

The following mediaeval buildings were used as
Unitanan chapels but are no longer so used.

Tavistock: The Abbey Releciary. Devon. 13th ceiiisy,
Finmded 1660, when Willem, third Esel of Hedbond
revwmited and paid io0 @ dissennog Bepls mleneer chonen
by the inhabitants of Tavismck, Dhsisg the nusetesnth
century (he congregaiion becime Unliaslsn, A lilsary was
housed in mdeomry turer. Coogreganion ceasal b 1960,

Canterbury; Blackiriars Refeceory. 1235, Fausded 1642,

Adter tha Dissoluuon i1 becnine & chorh wesvess' el |asd
by dissenters befoom 1642 Bouglic by Peter de 1a Pisrer or
Plesse, an Anatapiis, in 1858 QOccupied by Gensial Baptists
in 1698, ihen 1= comtinuous e by General Baptivth and
Unitarianeiill 1913, when sold 1o & anisgue dealer . oo
in 1w by Mancy, Lady Astes bee Chistan Scientists Mo
pant of King's School.

Alnmgs ke River Stour, with quay. South sl of Secorative
brick and tle protably adled 1763, Symmvirial chapd
squeraed berwech mindsier's hissie and simpe rofecsory ju
windows @l backl Gosd able tombh of Eev. Sampaom
Kingiond, pasior of ke General Baprims for 40 yras,
1750-EH11.
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CHAPTER TWO

The Growth of
Dissent:
1662-1750

Ahave, Chowbent Chape! Athanion
{1722}

16

Following the restoration of the monarchy in 1660 there was a
period of intense persecution for dissenters. Informal promises had
been made by Charles I at the time of the Treaty of Breda that
religious tolerztion would be given 1o all (including Catbolics), oo
matter whom they had supported in the Civil War. But the
renewal of the Elizabethan Acts of Uniformity in 1662 required all
clergymen to consent to using the Book of Common Prayer, to
conform to the 39 Articles of Faith and to affirm ordination by
bishops. On 5t. Barthelomew's Day 1662 acarly 2000 clergy, about
a [{ih of the total, left the Church of England. The tendency to
connect Dissent with treason persisted long inwo the cighteenth
century, resulting in the ‘Church aad King' riots of 1715 {when a1
least 30 dissenting chapels were destroyed|, and again at the time
of the anti-French riots of the 1790s. The idea of religious diversity
within the State was slow in growing, both in government and
among dissenters themselves. The humble Baptists and
Independents (not to mention the Quakers who had continved to
racet and build and endured constant violence and destruction as a
result] bad no desirc 10 be connected with a State chuorch.
Mcanwhile, the Presbyterians, increasingly suffering under
discriminatory laws {the Conventicle Act 1664, the Five Mile Act
1665), wanted toleration for themselves.
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Until this was achieved therc was little incentive to build
chapels. Dissenters met in private houses, bams, guild or trade
halls, or in the open air. Macclesfield and Evesham congregations
met in barns from 1662 until they built their chapels in 1690 and
1737 respectively. In 1672 . the Cirencester Presbyterian
congregation led by James Greenwood applied for a licence to meet
in the Weavers' Hall. In London, merchants’ halls such as Pinners
Hall, Salter's Hal) and Crosby Hall were used by dissenters as
places of worship. ,

Charles I's Declaration of Indulgence of 1672 encouraged many
dissenters to take out licences; these have been prescrved by
several Unitarian congregations — the first material evidence of
their meeting-places. But indulgence was followed by further
persecution. Severily was sometimes softened by the realisation
that dissenters were the principal agents of trade and prosperous
town life. Dissenters’ influence in local aifairs grew sironger in this
period.

In 1689, immediately following the arrival in England of William
I, the Toleration Acts were passed, exempting dissenters {but not
Unitarians or Catholies) from the Acts of Elizabeth I, provided that
preachers and meeting-houses were licensed by the bishop or
archdeacon of the diocese. Most Unitanan churches dating from
this time have a Presbyterian origin; a few were originally
Independent [most Independents eventually became
Congregationalists). The first trust deed of Framlingharn Chapel
{1717} says that the chapel . . . is 10 be freely used . . . by such
Protestants as shall profess to be of the Presbyterian or
Congregational persuasion’. In many chapels Presbhyterians and
Congregationalists met together in the carly years, Jater splitting
aver doctrinal dufferences. At Hinckley the [ndependent, Philip
Doddridge, preached at the Presbyterian, now Unitarian, chapel.

A number of early chapels, mostly in the south and west
country, are General Baptist in foundation. Besides those still
active as Unitarian congregations, there were many which closed

Top left; Licence of 1672 granted by
Charles H 1o Warringlan
Preshyteran Chapel. The signatures
of the King amd Lord Arlingtan can
bE Sedn.

Above facobean pulpit used by
Hichard Bexter. Now un
Kiddermmster New Meeung House.
Below Ap Newcastle-under-Lyme
{1717 the Presbyteran {now
initarian) Chapel was buill ar the
end of the Parish chuschyard
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Lefi: Framiinghom Unitarian Chapel
(1712). Right Warminsier General
Baptist, subsequentdy Unitanan,
Chapel {1704).

Bottom: The Grove Chapel,
Bradford-on-Avon {1698).

in the second half of the nineteenth century, when the growth of
Strict and New Connection Baptists edged the more tolerant
General Baptists towards Unitarianism. These early Baptist
chapels are more house-like than their Presbyierian counterparts
and closely related to the cottages and bams in their localities.
They are pleasant exampies of vernacular building — among the
most attractive now to be found among Unitarian chapels. Their
quality as buildings has helped them to survive in their respective
communities; they are ofien well-cared for and worth seeking out.

Only a handfu! of chapels surviving from this early period — of
which 46 are now Unitarian — remain in their originz) condition.
Most have been altered and some drastically so.

What did they look like when they were new? And why were
they built the way they were — so different from the English
churches of the middle ages?

In the seventeenth century most churches were medizeval in
character. They had chancels, high altars, chantries and aisles,
wall-paintings, stained glass and carved wood and stone. The
reforming zeal of Edward V1's reign had led to the abandonraent of
the high altar, the chancel became a storage or seating space, the
walls were white-washed, and the stained glass often removed.
Reformed churches oo the Continent and in Scouand, where the
Reformation was more complete and alterations to churches
becamne permanent, still give a puritan impression 1o the visitor.
Such churches in Ceneva, Amsterdam or Leiden would be scen by
many seveniecnth centwry English Puritans in exile or attending
foreign universities [dissenters were barred from Oxford and
Cambridge|. Continental and Scottish reformed churches, and the
modest puritan chapels built in England earlier in the seventgenth
century, were what dissenters knew; upon these they could base
the designs of their new church buildings.

A building style emerged which was common to all parts of the
country. Tt is a style which declares its values; symmetry,

simplicity, exemplary workmanship devoid of omament. The
buildings proclaim theix permanence — an expectation that socicty
will accept them and their occupiers, and announce their place in
socicty — often a modest one, but novel in their role of the first
purpose-built places of worship outside the Church of England.

They are buildings which were commissioned and built by
ordinary people, true exarnples of vernacular architeciure. Richard
Baxter, leading opponent of the Act of Uniformity, wrote of the
dissenting weavers of Warcestershire, *. . . as they stand at 1heir
loom, {they) can set a book before them or edifie one another’. In
Susscx the Baptist, William Evershed, pinned his reading maiter to
his sleeve 10 learn it by heart while ploughing. There arc numerous
humble oceupations where talking and cven reading is possible
whilst carrying on the made. Such people tended 1o think for
themselves, and were atrracted ta a dissenting religion. At Lincoln
Umitarian chapel the original trustees of 1725 consisted of three
genteren, a grecer, a carrier, two tanners, a malister and a
brazier. The original wrustees at Loughborough {1672] were one
gentleman, two yeomen, three tailors, one cordwainet and (wo
farmers. in 1700, ten years after the chapel was built, Macclesfield
congregation consisted of 20 gentlemen, 90 tradcsmen, 52
yeomen, 44 labourers, and 294 women and children.

The earliest chapels were built by the same craftsmen as other
secular buildings in their localicy. In the North, dwelling-house
and barn are commaonly joined in linc with mullioned windows
piercing the lacade as necessary. Visitors to College Fold, Rathmell
nea Settle, the surviving remoant of Richard Frankland's first
dissenting acaderny of 1686, can see the (raditional pattemn.
Fulwood Old Chapel [Shelfield) of 1728 has the minisier’s house of
1754 attached in -he same way as farmhouses and bams in the
Maylield valley zdjacent. Further south, the chapel jnow Zion
Baptist) of 1698 at Bradford-on-Avon forms the easiem end of the
fine terrace known as Middle Rank. A1 Ditchling ihe minister’s

Above left: Fulwood Oid Chapel,

Sheffield {1728). Above and below:
cottages at Ratluneld, Cumbna bl

by Richard Frankland as & dissen
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seademy in 1686 Mis inttials can be

seen over a window




Left: Crear Mectng, Leicester
{1708) Probally the firce brick
FurMding 1 Lescester, Right part of
MHinckley Unitarzan Chepel showing
brick pulaseers (1722).

Warcrpate Chapel, Newbury {1698).
Demaolished 1960

house is attached to the chapel, and the same pattem oceurs at
Codalming.

The homely, domestic appearance of these chapels reflects both
the modest standing of their roembers, and their fear of
persecution. They needed protective cover. But both outer design
and, not surprisingly, interior arrangement, are quite different
fromn yeomen's houses of the period.

Symmerry is the most important feature. Qrder and balance
were valued highly in the sixtcenth and seventeenth centuries —
Renaissance virwues which were noticeable by their zbsence in
most mediaeval churches. The elevations on pp 148-9 show that
the ordered disposition of two, four or six windows and one or two
doors can produce variations 2s subtle as any fugue.

Brick and stone arc the two principal materials. One coraplete
wooden chapel, io its onginal state of 1700, exists at Ipswich.
Probably many others did not survive the early years; we know
that before 1778 there was a wooden chapel at Bewdley, Worcs.
Cob |clay and straw) was used at Crediton, Devon. Sione is used in
the 1radinonal stone areas of the North, the Cotswolds and the
West.

There are a number of brick chapels which are early examples 1
their respeciive areas. Leicester Great Meeting (1708) was one of
the first brick build:ngs in the city; nearby Hinckley Unitarian
chapel (1722) must also be oae of the earliest remaining brick
buildings in the area. Preston and the surrounding part of
Lancashire is ap early site of brick-making, and the chapel of 1717
is an exceptionally early cxample. Knutsford [1689) and Dean Row,
Wilmslow [¢.1690), though in an area where bricks were
coramonplace in she eighteenth century, are 1wo of the earliest
brick places of worship in Cheshire. Upper Chapel, Sheffield,

seems o have been the earliest public brick building in Shefficld.
According to Eric Mercer (The Architectural Hertage of
Vernacular Buildings io England) ‘1t was not until the last quarter
of the seventeenth century that houses entirely of brick were built
by meen of lesser status’. The new material produced ‘a completely
new kind of house which was both Jarger and more clegant’. Brick
was used particularly by the new middle classes — men in trade
and professions such as law, medicine and banking. They were
among the first to build brick places of worship and the new form
of structure evolving from the use of brick.

The meeting-house comprised a single interior space, unlike a
dwelling house. The focus of the meeting-house was the pulpit at
the centre of one of the long walls. There had evolved during the
seventcenth century the ‘double plan' house, square rather than
lincar. The roof of a square house had to be supported centrally,
and in a house this was easily done by resting the central roof
timber on the walls dividing the front rooms from the back. Thus
arose the double pitch and valley rool, commeonly found on Jarger
meeting-houses. In a house this structure was quite satisfactory,
but in a chapel where the interior is open and the fecus is central,
the pillars supparting the roof accupy space and obstruct the view
of the preacher for anyone sitting behind them. These pillars were
made much of as decorative features. For example, those of
Flemish oak at Taunion Chapel, ‘perfect examples of the
Corinthian order from base 10 entablature’, are planted in the
rajdst of the pews A partial solution was te make them the front
supports of a gallery, as at Iminster and Hinckley.

The form of the disscnting chapel was ncw; but the detail was
often conservative — shy of decoration or flights of inventiveness.
Flamboyance of style was not considered a virtue in dissenting

Above: interior of Friargate Chapel,
Ipsvich [1200). Below: detail of one
of the piflars supporting the roof in
Taunton Unitenan Chapel (1721).




Above left: deraif of brickwork on
the froni of Bury St. Edmonds
Uniiarian Chapel (1711, A unigue
and ambitious design, executed 1
old-fashioned FEuoglish Bond.

Above nght: pulpit tn Bury 5.
Edirinnds

Below. Wihsey Fold, Bradford
{1688). The chapef was on the nght

circles; the style associated with continental Catholicism was
baroque — the essence of flamboyant, emotional over-
dramatisation. Usehilness, later to develop into nioeteenth
century utilitarianism, and later siill into twentieth cenrury
functionalism, was already a feature of nonconformist
architecture. Chapels of this period are traditional in many details.
Dean Row, Knutsford and Macclesfield in Cheshire still
incorporate the mullioned windows of Tudor times. Kautsford and
Dean Row [¢. 1690} are late examples of the use of English bond
brickwork, rather than Flemish bond. Bury St. Edmunds Chapel
{1711} is also English boad, and an outstanding example of fine
brickwork with resirained orpament of pilasters and broken
pediment.

A number of chapzls originally had exposed raliers, and were
ceiled-in later. Bessels Green, Sevenoaks (1716) had the ceiling
added in 1882; Great Mecting Leicester (1708) has a fine plastered
ceiling of 1786, Windows and doors are useally simple. Windows,
at fust with a horizontal cmphasis divided by mullicns [as at
Bradford {Wibsey Fold), Kautsiord, Dean Row and Maccleshield),
developed a more wvertical form incorporating mullions aod
transomes which continued (0 be used well into the 18th century,
as at Chesterfield and Crewkerne. Leaded lights were often set
straight into the stone or brick. Sash windows were not ntroduced
from the Netherlands till the ead of the seventeenth century; the
oldest surviving example of this in a Unitarian chapel js the
Qctagon, Norwich {1752]. Doors do not so frequently survive, but
the few that do have simple vertical planks and horizontal iedges of

pak, with iron stud-nails and strap hinges, the whole hung on
hooks set in the deorpost. There are good examples at Chowbent,
Atherton [1721), Dean Row, and Fulwood, Sheifield [1728).
Irapressive door-surrounds, with unusual baroque decoration, are
10 be found at Ipswich. At Bridgwater a fine shell-hood deor-
surtound of 1688 was re-used in the rebuilt chapel of 1788. Often
there were two doorways, symmctrically placed, for the scparate
use of men and women.

Dissenting chapels began to be planned according to the site, and
not with the e2stwards orientation of the Anglican churches. Dean
Row, Knutsford and Macclesfield chapels are almost identical in
design; yet Dean Row fronts o the south, facing the graveyard.
Koutsford faces norb towards the road. Maccicsfield, on 2
restricted town site, is also approached from the north. Knutsford
and Macclesfield have their pulpits on the north side. Most early
chapels have their main facadc to the south, as do most dwelling-
houses of the period. The preoccupation with symmetry is thus
strengthened; the morning sun shines obliquely on the front
windows and moves around 1o supsct in the west. The window
splay was sometimes adjusted to tzke fult advantage of this effect,
which must have been visibly apprcciated during the Jong services
of three hours or mote, customary when the chapels were new.
Few chapels had any artificial light till the advent of gaslight in the
early ninctecath century; the more lighe able o enter the chapel
the better, along with whatever heat the sun could provide as there
was usually no system of heating. .

Inside, a symmetrical plan was centred on the pulpit. The

Above: Knutsford. Below: vast side
of Knutsford chepel showng timber
framing. {1689}
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hicrarchy of minister, clerk, elders and congregation, scated in
order of importance, is paralleled in the plan of law-courts,
theartres, colleges and guildhalls. An elevared ‘scat of authority’ is
ac the centre of onc wall; a canopy, or sounding-board is placed
above it. Imroediately below are seats and a table for those
attending in a privileged capacity. Beyond are the scats for the
congregation, fitting as many as possible into the spdce. All is
subordinated to the seat of authority, now central 10 the space,
rather than focused on the narrow east end. .
Communion was important to early disscoters, but the pulpit
was the focus of attention. During services it was the centre from
which radiated words of comfon, wisdom, inspiration. Early
Puritans had valued the lecture, a scrmon-based service which
enabled them to avoid the services of an unsympathetic parish
priest, and the dissenters’ monumental pulpit demonstrated the
sermon's inherited value. Most early pulpits were moved in
Victoriab times. Examples in their onginal positions can be seen at
Ipswich, Hale Bams, Chowbent, Rivington and Bury St. Edmunds.
Mast were two or three-deckers; the bottom level for the clerk who
announced and led the psalms and hymos, the sccond for the
preacher when reading the lessons and prayers, the top for
delivering the sermon — the most imporiant part of the service.

|Oliver Heywood {1630-1702}, an indefatigable travelling preacher
ir the North of England, is recorded preaching for three hours or
more.! Windows are common bebind the pulpit, giving a good
natural light for the minister and clerk 1o read their books but an
uncomforiable glare for others. However, box-pews did not
pecessarily face forwards, but were grouped in squares. Although
some might read the Bible it was not necessary to read to follow
the scrvice.

It was traditional fer the congregativn to be responsible for their
own seating arrangements. Early dissenting chapels were built in
the heyday of ‘possessive individualism’, and the notion of private
ownership had ¢mbraced agriculture, wage-earping, and even
worship. Heads of families ‘improved’ their accustomed seat in the
Anglicap churches by building enclosed pews, and the new
dissenting chapels paturally included pews from the start. Material
comiorts were added in the form of cushions, curiains, backrests,
{ootstools, candles, and even individual sioves. As Dean Swift put
it.

A bedstead of the antique mode
Compact of tirmbers many a load
Such as our ancestors did use

Was metamorphosed into pews;
Which still their ancient nanure keep
By lodging folks disposed to sleep.

The floor-space of the chapel was filled with private boxes, each
with a door [sometimes with 2 lock| and seats on three sides The
boxes were origwnally up to five feet high; these were often lowered
i the nineteenth century, or totally removed and replaced by
forward-facing bench-pews. The originals were often of cak, fine
examples of joinery with elegant brass or iron fittings.

There were other adjuncts to worship. In General Bapiist chapels
the baptistry, large encugh for total immersion, is sometimes
found below the pulpit as at Taunton in humbler chapels a nearby
streamn might be used, as at Billingshursy; at Sesscls Green a
baptistry was constructed in the yard. Commmumon tables
occasionally survive from this period; for example, the 17th
century oak table in Dean Row vestry Two fine Flemish hrass
canil=labra survive at Ipswich and Taunton. There are a few carly
belks — rare in dissenting chape's where steeples and the ringing of
bells were forbididen. Clocks are a common feature, often with the
tmaker's name and date, and hung on the front of the gallery.

Graveyards are smportant additions to many chapels.
Sometimes an earlier yard surrounds a rebuilt chapel, a5 at
Monton in Laocashire The habit of interment in vaults under
the chapel [or even in the groupd heneath an earth floen]
continped into the vighteenth century, memorisls 1o mimisicrs
buricd in this way can be seen al Fulwood, Knutsford,
Amsworth, and Walmsley. Excellent examples of the memorial
stone-mason's art can be scen at Horsham, Billingshurst,
Leicesier, Hinckley, Besscls Green and Frenchay.

BN
Mismw . wd e
few ' JOLHILLA DOBSON
Palte ol (R Chorels gy yeson
wlen
chpect nat Fram il [.IJ.-. [LFR
8 Flaidrriag wsbemsmyi] of lish wiotisen
ey are recanded
By the Taothlul woines

the ﬁm;.‘r" of 00

ey e e

apell pleafine inaes
pel vt whom [
=yl |.¢-rl|lr.| anat b w0
he prenched il lred
the Gpﬂ§ﬂff_ al L HIRIST
I thie mean poes
Fram hence
he beany dhead yor {peateth
el Bileotly et forcably alfmenllicrh
Tt ance beloved praple
16 pernernber b Talenon asiilels
and tooaeet Lo ar the prevp Tikeel
Hr l[ul'All'éF-"' g™ "!),7 Agen
sxalyecde by wile durd® e o et

Adbewr mrmorial of Asaswnik
Belowr memmonii o Wilfuam
Bgranr m Chumh of the Diving
[nity. Newcasile ugen Tyne

Fakinritls VENERARLD
GUILIELE DURANTAM
Filosis ©nnieTi
LIV G i U R RE

fadl Tl
™1 kW




Gazetteer 1662-1750

Ainsworth Presbyterian Chapel,
Road. Lancashire. 1715.

Congregation originated in chapel of ease of
Middleton Parish Church, from which they
were cjected.

Stone, gabled Welsh slate roof; two rows of
four three-light mullioned windows to each
side, bellcote. Inscription over entrance:
‘Erected AD 1715, Enlarged AD 1773, Altered
and repaired 1845'. 1773 ealargement due to
ministry of Rev. Thomas Bames, cloquent
preacher, later minister of Cross Sureet,
Manchester, and principal of Maochester
College, buried in aisle.

Interior, box pews (re-pewed 1845); central
two-decker pulpit. Three-sided gallery. Qne-
handed c¢lock imscribed ‘Pr. Clare fect.
Manchester 1774'. Good Victorian accessories,
such as umbrclla stands, lighting, etc. Memorial
to Rev. Joshua Dobson d. 1767.

Extensive graveyard, many good stones.
Associated buildings north and east of chapel;
Sunday School west of graveyard.

Knowsley

Atherton: Chowbent Chapel, Bolton Old Road.
Lancashire. 1722.

Congregation originally built a brick chapel of
easc from Leigh Padsh Church in 1643;
Presbyterians ejected by Jacobite Lord of
Atberton Manor in 1721 First ministers were
three generations of James Wood; 'General’
James Wood [minister for 64 years) raised a
troop against the Jacobites in 1715 rebellion.

Brick with stone deuailing. Three bays, with
gable-pediment, by four bays; round-arched
windows in two storeys. Date of 1722 on top
course of bricks on north side. Cupola and bell.

Square interior unaltered except for removal
of a few pews and additicn of organ loft and
vestibule in 1901. Three-decker pulpit
surmounted by gigantic memorial to 'General’
James Wood. Cak commumon tzble from
original 1645 chapel. Oak box pews. Three-sided
gallery supported on six cak columns with fine
double staircase Clock. Stained glass c.
1920-40. Good Art Nouveau light fittings.

Imposing setiing in walled graveyard with
irnpressive gates {1854).

Sunday School of 1837; day school (now local
authority school} of 1859 and 1850.

One of the best examples of Presbyierian
architecture.
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Bessels Geeen: Old Meeting House, Scvenoaks.
Kent. 1716,

General Baptist Congregation dates from
1650, register of births from 1673.

Chapel and parsonage housed under the same
roof, hence the irregular, though pleasing, cast
front. Chapel has three tall mullioned and
transomed windows; right-hand window formed
the chapel entrance until 1882 when vestibule
and vestry were extended into the parsonage, 10
which the present door originally gave access.
Parsonage extended nomhwards in 1887; first
floor windows raised into dormers, early 20th
century. Walls of vernacular diapered brick fred
sctchers, blue headers) on ragstone basc; tile
hanging on south wall.

Interior originally had box-pews and pulpit
with sounding-board fixed to the west wall in
1749, when gallery sdded 1o north wall over
otiginal enwrance (gallery removed 1882). Pulpit
and box pews replaced by presear pulpit and
pitch pine pcws in early 20th century, these
pews in turo replaced by chairs in mid 1979. The
roof is open and spanned by two beams with
kingpests. Brass chandelier; long casc single-
handed clock dated 1718. Memorials: bronze
plaque to the Harman family, cycling mermorial
to Lionel Alleyne Blundell Q.C.

Twao-acre graveyard with many good
memorials. Modern lych-gate (Nathaniel Bishop
Harman gift, 1937). Remains of baptistery in the
garden of ‘Bastry’, Wesierham Road.

“The scene is complete, an embodiment of the
gentle, familial spirn of eighteemth century
nenconformiry.’ [John Newman, Buildings of
England, Kent.)

Bridgwater: Christchurch Unitarian  Chapel,
Dampiet Street. Sornerset. 1688 and 1788.
Congregation dates from 1662, when vicar,
Rev. John Norman, ejected. In 1683 [during the
Monmouth rebellion) Lord Stawell wrote:
'Found the House of Worship, which was sooner
pluckt down than built . . . We stood round the
bonfire and healths were not wanting’. He
added, 'The Mitting hous was made rown like a
cockpit, and once held some 400 persons’. In
1751 the chapel is described as ‘a fine Meeting
House, with an advanced seat for the Mayor and
Aldermen, who happen to be Dissenters, as also
a private academy for such of their youth as are
intended for preachers’. (England's Gazetteer.)
Red brick, probably rebuilt 1788,
incorporating shell-hood door of 1688; Ducch

Top Interior of Chowbent Chapel, Atherton.
Centse left: Bndgwater, Centre right: Amnsworth.
Below. Hanging itles on the Old Mecting House,
Bessels Green.

gabled pediment. Forms part of sureer [acade.
Interior 'tumed’; four massive sione pillars
support barvel roof. Plain box pews; venetian
window with ruby glass. Rear gallery with
otgan. Schoolroom adjoining. Burial groond at
rear.
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Abuve Bury $i. Edmunds. Below: Chesterfield,

Bury $St. Edmunds Unitarian Chapel,
Churchgate Strect. Suffolk. 1711, Founded
1672.

Impressive three-bay red brick facade aligned
with neightouring buildings in the street. Four
pilasters rising 1o Dutch-style paraper with
central sundial Central door with broken
pediment and oval window above, flzoked by
two full-height round-arched windows with
leaded lights and original fittings. Double-
hipped roof hidden by parapet. lron railings and
gates al front.

Interior: square with graceful double staircase
to three-sided pallery: superb woodwork. Three-
decker pulpit and sounding board flanked by two
oval windows. Somc puws removed and arvi
helow pgalleries screened off, but most of the
original fittings remain. Centrat pillac
supporting valley gutter.

Ambitious and unique design for a dissenting
chapel, though the style is used in the Easten
Counties for middling size houses. The chapel is
being restored by the D.O.E.

Chesterfield: Elder Yard Unitanian Chapel, Elder
Way. Derbyslire. 1694

Founded 1662, In 1693 High Sheriff of Derby-
shire ‘Cormclius Clarke did so purchase with
intent to erect a new building thereupon to be a
place of Mectinge lor Disscoting Protestants for
Religions Worship’. The chapel's architecture
refllects the status of the county gentry of the
period.

Original south front faces gravevan! Stone
walls with quoins, pow roughcasi; tall
mullioned and transomed window: 5lightly
projecting central section with pedimear and
fine doorway. Chancel added at east e¢nd in
[H21, destroying the syrmmerry.

Interior 'turned’ 1818; pulpit formerly on
north wall. Original gallery blocked off 1981 o
form meeting-room. Early cightcenth cemury
clock. Fine collection of mammoth pottery jars
by Pearsons of Chesterfield. Early records
describe windows hung with green and red
curtains, pews cushioned and lined with red o=
green baize, walls whitc-washed, pulpit ra:l
painted blue.

Large graveyard with good memonals. North
of chapel, arched Sunday School of 1831 and
1846, now a shop.

Chorley Unitarian Chapel, Park Street.
Lancashire. 1725

Founded 1725. Abraham Crompton of
Chorley Hall gave £1,000 for land and chapel.

Ashlar stone in large random blocks. Two
doors; two mullioned and wrapsomed windows
on each side. Red brick chancel of 1885.

Interior plain; arched rear window; organ and
central choir sea:is in chancel donated William
H Tate 1902,

Graveyard with tomb of Rev William Tate,
minister 1799-1836 [father of Sir Henry Tate,
sugar manufacturer and founder of the Tate
Gallery, Loadon). Attractive group opposite of
school {1860) and houses; parsonage adjoins
graveyard.

Crewkeme Unitarian Chapel, Hermitage Sircet.
Somersee. 1733.

Fouuded 1666. Rev. Jerom Murch, writing in
1833, thought the ¢hapel had always been
Unitarian; he called :t "of the plainest kind.”

Yellow Ham stone. Cropped gable roof.
Facade with semi-circular window over central
doos, flanked by mullioned and transomed
winidows, also round-headed. Extension at side
for organ brought from Uminster Chapel 1913,

Interior  Victorianised. Clock by Thomas
Contell 1782, Memorials to Blake family
{descendants of Admiral Blake] incluile Fastor
Wilbaim: Blake 1754-99, great-grandfather of
Rev Margaret Richroond Blake, designer of
pindern altar end memonal window 1914-18,
Gooil stained glass window 1893, Schoolrooms
1884

Belove. Crewkerne, Right: Dean Row.

Dean Row Chapel, Wilmslow, Cheshire. c.
1690.

Founded 1672, Probably on site of earlier
chapel built 10 comply with the Five Mile Act of
1665. Location still rural though now
approached by suburbia.

Similar design 1o Kouisford and Maccleshield.
Red brick, English hond. Two outer staircases
Tise 10 gain access to gallerics and lorm
symmetrical entrance porches. Ten [s1x over
fow} two-light mullioned windows retaio
diamond lcaded lights; similar window pattern
at rear. Coped gables with ball finials, bell-cote
a| West end. Stonc flagged roof, renewed 1972,

Interior ‘tumed* and restored 1845 after period
of disuse. Pulpit in north-cast corner, re-aligned
box-pews. Galleries on vast and wost ends
{south gallery removed| Organ [L8%94' 1n east
gallery; arca below walled off 1o form spacious
vestry, contaminyg early communion table.

Extensive and auractive graveyard, many
graves, modern sundial. Lych-gate 1870. Pormer
school [1862) and parsonage situated 200 yards
north.




Ditchling Old Meeting House. Sussex. 1740,

Gencral Baptist. Founded 1698 by Robert
Chatfield of Streac (d. 1726}, buried in graveyard;
also earlicr influence of Matthew Caflyn from
Horsham. Trust Deed dates from 1740 but
chapel may be some years earlier; adjoining
cottage is probably older than chapel and may
bave been used for carty meetings.

The two buildings form a splendid group of
Sussex verpacular architecture. Chapel is brick
with central porch flanked by two tall mull-
ioned and transomed windows. Hipped roof.
Cottage has hanging tiles. Interior modernised,
pews removed 1877, No race remains of
baptistery.

Delightful garden-graveyard approached by
‘Twitten’, footpath to chapel. Graves include
that of Samuel Thompsoo [1766-1837), Free-
Thinking Christian and radical reformer.

Dudley Ol Meeting House, Wolverhampton
Street. Worcestershire. 1717,

Founded 1690. Earlier chapel of 1702 bumnte
down in "Church and King' riots of 1715; rebuilt
with government compensation.

Stone: facade with porch added 1869. Hipped
slate roof. Iron windows at side and rear oniginal.
Interior ‘tumed’ and restored 1869. Three-sided
gallery supported by cast-iron ¢columns. Typical
site down alley from main road; re-development
has retained something of the traditional layout.
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Above: Eveshiam. Left' memonel 1o Rev Joseph Porter
fd. 1721) at Eveshem.
Opposite: Galeacre.

Evesham Unitarian Chapel, Qat Stirect.
Worcestershire. 1737,

Founded 1696. Sirong Puritan tradition in
Evesham; prior to building chapel, congregation
worshipped in a barn behind 17 High Sucet
Third minister, Paul Cardale, author of “Iequiry
whether we have any Secripture Warrant for o
direct Supplication, Prmse or Tharnksgiving,
either to the Son, or to the Holy Ghost” (1775) —
impartant in spreading Uniarian ideas.

Stone; ashlar front with pilasters, porch and
arched windows, all parc of 1875 restoration.
Hipped roof.

Interior ‘twmed’, pews cut down, apse added
at East End. Memorial 10 George May, author of
Histary of Evesham.

Delightful garden-yard approached through
arch of Sunday School. Apant from this, all
aaces of environmeat have been swept away
and replaced by car parks and supermarket.

Framlingham Unitarian Mecting Housz, Bridge
Sureet. Suffolk. 1717,

Founded 1660. Long hisiory of Dissent in
town; parish church had several Puritan vicars.
1716, Independent congregation at Woodbridge
Quay gave £8 for new church at Framlingham;
‘to be freely used ... by such Protestants as
shall profess 10 be of the Presbyterian or
Congregational persuasion’.

Three bay red and blue chequered brick.
Mullioned and ransomed windows; low hipped
roof; domestic appearance. Interior “turped’;
plain. Single gallery. Small fore yard, graveyard
at rear [added 1792).

Frepchay Chapel, Frenchay Common. Bristol.
Apparently 1720, but roof timbers have been
dated to 1650-80.

Founded 1620's. First Trust Deed 1691,

Pepnant stone. Double-hipped roof with
valley gutter. Windows arched, and entraace
porch and bell-tower added at a later date. Bell
recast 1750; inscribed ‘When you hear me
nnging come and praise the Lord’ (recently
stolen).

lntcrior square op plan with rear panelled
gallery and two Tuscan columns supporting roof
beam. Pulpit, clock inscribed Thornbury, and
nice little fireplace all probably carly ninetecnth
centory. Recently modernised with box-pew
panelling forming dado.

Large graveyard with many memoarials,
including extra heavy slabs w thwant body-
snatchers. Pleasant  gjtuation on  Frenchay
Creen, contemporanepous Friends Meeting
House nearby, both supported by Bristol
merchants in early days. Michael Maurice,
father of Christian Socialist Frederick Denison
Maurice, was munister and schoolmaster here
1815-24.

Gateacre Chapel, Gateacre Brow. Liverpool.
1700.

Founded 1690. Red sandstone, pitched roof
with bell-cote. Bell with carved head and
fohage, inscribed ‘Come away make no delay
1723' ([same as bell at Platt Chapel,
Manchester). Roof raised ¢. 1723.

Interior ‘turned’. Early pulpit at north-east

comer, and rear gallery. Memorals to firse
minister James Whittle d. 1702 (in aisle floor);
also to Rev. William Shepherd d. 1847,

Chapel surrounded by graveyard with mem-
orials, including Rev. Joseph Lawton d. 1747,
Centrally pivotied lych-gate. 'The centre of
Gateacre 3s not the church but the chapel
{Pevsner).
Hale Chapel, Hale Barns,
Cheshire. 1723.

Founded 1662. Congegation mer ariginally at
Ringway {chapel of ease of Bowdon Parish
Church — now under airport). Ejected 1722 and
resited 3 miles away at Hale.

Brick, formerly with one owtside staircase to
gallery. Bell-cote. Two original entrances on
north side.

Impressive interior; open rafters and kingpost
trusses; box pews; pulpit with sounding-board in
original position. East window by Mormis and
Co. |{Burne-Jones) 1906.

Surrounded by large graveyard, many mem-
orials. Lych-gate ¢. 1890 by Percy Worthington.
Arns and crafts siyle school 1880 and 1910;
architect F. B. Dunkerly.

Chapel Lane,

Hinckley Great Meeting, Baices Lane.
Leicestershire. 1722,

A house was licensed as a Presbyterian meet-
ing place in 1672, Here the great Independent
Philip Doddridge preached as a student.

Brick with crude comer pilasters; original

front is at the back. Segmental arched windows
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on two fevels. Date inscribed on east side at 10p
of wall. New entrance added 1869.

Impressive interior; two massive oak pillars
support valleg-roof; three-sided gallery of 1727;
pews refitted 1912, Egg-cup pulpit pre-dates
chapel. Behind pulpit, rtapestrics of 1902,
concealing recess used by students of Hinckley
academy when attending services in eighteenth
century. Clock.

Memonals include George Dare, first sec-
retary and manager of Rinckley Cooperative
Society and secretary of first building society in
the town; Arthur Atkins, hosiery manufaciurer
and founder of Hinckley Free Library; also
Elliott Mc¢Ewen, music master of Mary Ann
Evans {George Eliot).

Fine uees in Jarge graveyard with many good
slate memorials.

Hindley Presbyterian Chapel, Market Strect.
Lancashire. Dated 1700, although accounts swr-
vive 10 suggest it was rebuilt on the same site in
1788. Congregation ejected from chapel of ease
of 1641,

Brick, rendered. Toree round-arched windows
on south side, originally matched on north side.

Interior has cencral pulpit on short west end;
semi-circular communion rail. Single rear
gallery. Altered 1798, 1852, 1879. Two
memorials o Rev. Joseph Bowen, 'Minister 1o
ttus Society’, d. 1765; and Rev. Jonathan
Rodgkinson, ‘Instractor and Friend', d. 1812,

Massive complex of brick schoolrcoms to
east, 1877 and Jater. Small graveyard ac rear with
few graves.
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Atove left: pulpit used by Phillip Doddridge at
Hinckley Above: Horsham.

Horsham Unitarian Church, Worthing Road
Sussex. 1721.

Founded 1648. General Baptist origins in early
seventeenth century; Rev. Matthew Calfyn
[1628-1714) was expelled from Oxford in 1645
for Unitanian views [memorial window in
chapel).

Brick, simple dwelling-house appearance;
hipped roof with stone slates. Porch added 1727,

Interigr, two oak pillars support high roof.
Smnall apse added at rear in 1838. Oak pews from
Crediton chapel. Good organ. Rear gallery.
Memonial 10 Elisabeth Gatford and her legacy.

Baptistry and ‘Copper Room’ for hcating
water added 1772 over a2 well south of the
chapel. Spacious garden with good memorials.

Iminster Old Meeting, East Soeet. Somerset,
1719.

Founded 1672. Second chapel on the site.

Mooclham stone with Ham stone facings.

Pediment with obelisks over two Tudor
Gothic windows fRanked by pair of doorways.
Side elevations show 1wo unequal coped gables
also crowned by obelisks; square mullioncd
windows.,

Interior “turned’; Victorian pulpit and pews.
Prominent side gallery [rear before tuming ook
place) supported by massive Ham stone pillars,
wilth twin central staircases. Licence of 1719
framed on wall. Clock by ]. Hansford, Iminster.
Organ chamber added 1919, Nice sentimental
child’s figure from Sunday School date-niche,

above Ipswich. exterior of chape! ond detail of doot moulding
Belew Mimunster: intarior views of gallery pillars and pulpn.

now 1n chapel Sunday School of 1846 adjacent
1o chapel.

Main approach is through avenue of yews to
west front. Graveyard with decaying tombs;
memorial sione beiween entrance doors in-
sciibed ‘A new front and other repairs inside in
1851",

Ipswich Unitarian Meeting House, Friar's
Sireet. Suffolk. 1700.

Founded 1672 First two ministers, ejected
vicars of Barking [Suffolk] and St. Andrew’s,
Colchester.

The only remaining timber-framed chapel of
thys period; built on brick footing {original floor
was brick). Defoe described it in 1720: "As large
and as fine a building of that kind as most on
this side of England, and the wside the best
finished of any I have seen, London not ex-
cepted’. Builder, Joscph Clarke, housc carpen-
ter; his contract hangs in the chapel. Probably
made in components in the builder’s yard and

re-erecied on sitc. The whole exterior is
plastered and painted. Five bays square, with
upper and lower storey rmullioned and tran-
somed windows and oval windows (added c.
1900} over entrance doors and on pulpit side.
Pedimented entrances with carved suppons of
cherubs and doves. Spy-hole in door 10 safeguard
congregation when meeting. Double-hipped
roof.

Interior virtually as built with addition of
organ | 1799), wooden loor and removal of small
area of box pews. Four pillars support valley
gutter and three-sided gallery which strengthens
framework of building. Clock contcroporary
with chapel. Magnificent brass chandelier with
24 candles, probably Dutch. Pulpit carved in
Gibbons siyle; also carving on balusters and
gallery.

Swrroundings drastically altered with re-
development; verdani graveyard has dis-
appeared. Area to east of chapel in process of
restoration and developroent.
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Intertor of Knwpsfond,

Kendal Unitarian Chapel, Marker Place.
Westmoreland. 1720.

Licences taken out 1671-2 under leadership of
Rev. Richard Frankland, wior at Cromwell's
Durham University who later founded dissen-
ting academies at Rathmel {N. Yorks] and
Autercliffe  [Sheffield). Chapel built  during
ministry of Frankland's pupil, Caleb Rotheram
{see headstone in chapel wall), who jounded a
dissenting academy in Kendal in 1733 (entrance
10 chapel from Market Place is through arch of
academy building}.

Stone, whitcwashed; two storey mullioned
and transomed windows. Date 1720 on down
spout. [nterior repewed and zltered . 1845. First
turial around 1722, now an attractive garden.

Knuesford: Brook Street Chapel. Cheshire. 1689,

Founded 1672, Jsolation of arca facilnated
early growth of nonconformist worship. Several
privale houses licensed in carly years; first
minister, Rev. Wilham Tong, publicly installed
in 1687 . Earliest of three similar chapels at Dean
Row, Knutsford and Macclestield.
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Ceiling at Greai Meeling. Leicester, installed 1786,

Dark red brick. Two outer staircases rise to
gain access to palleries and form symmetrical
entrance porches. Gabled roof, stone flags at
front, slate at rear, with timnber framing exposed
on east gable. Facade faces nortb towards road.
Subtle arrangement of 12 two-light mullioned
windows back and front, four windows at sides.
Diamond leaded lights.

Interior renovated but not twrned in 1859;
pulpit of 1859 in original position on centre of
long nonk wall. Gallery on three sides with
carved balustrade. Short grandfather ¢lock by
Richard Richardson. Laiin memorial to lsaac
Anrobus the Elder, schoolmaster and founder
member of chapel. His grave and others in
central aisle.

Craveyard added pieccemeal duriog nineteenth
century; area in front of chapel, now an open
stecp slope to road, contained large Sunday
School building {demolished 1953}, Many early
gravesiones with good lettering; also grave of
Elizabeth Gaskell, 1865. (Knutsford is the
original of Cranford, where the author was
brought up.]

Leicester Great Meeting, East Bond Sireet, 1708.

Probably second chapel of congregation
founded 1662. Earlicst surviving brick building
in Leicester {apart from Roman remains).

Square plan; double-bipped roof of
Charnwood slates; corper pilasters, and
mullioned and transomed windows in 1wo
storeys. Vestibule across full widch of front and
vestry, choixr and chancel added 1866.

Interior very fine; originally open (o rafters,
splendid plaster ceiling added 1786. Gallery
1716, supporied by iron columns. Chancel
window with six lights in neo-Gothic 13th
century style, cornmemorating chapel olficers;
painted and carved choirstalls. Pulpit of 1708
{see 1ablet on chancel wali).

Numerous memorials include the finest we
have seen; superb lettering in stone and metal
from eighteenth to twentieth centuries. Among
them, Rev. Hugh Worthington, 4. 1797, Mrs.
Mary Reid, d. 1812, Paget family, Alderman W.
Kempson, d. 1893, Edith Giuings, d. 1910,
Thomas Fielding Johnson, 4. 1921, Annic
Elizabeth Clephac, d. 1930, Vesuy contains
collection made by Annie Clephan of pictures of
the chapel; also portraits, among others, of
James and William Gardner [introduced
Beethoven's music 10 England).

Large graveyard full of finely lettered siones,
slate memorials a speciality. South of vyard,
Sunday School of red brick, gothic, dated 1859.

Lincoln Unitarian Chapel, High Street. 1725.

Founded 1662. Foundation of congregation
closcly linked to Disney family [descendants
Rev. John Disney, colleague of Theophilus
Lindsey, and Walt, of cartoon fame].

Brick, stucco facade. Original appearance of
¢hapel much more homely than at present, with
steep hipped roof and plain brick walls. Facade
with porch added late nineteenth cenmury.
[nterior ‘tumed’; leaving supporting pillar
misplaced.

Londan: Newington Green Unitarian Church,
North London 1708,

Founded 1682. The area was inhabited by
influential Dissenters in the seventeenth
century, for instance, Defoe and Watts; there
were several dissenting academies. Edward
Harrison, goldsmith, erected the chapel at a cost
of £300.

Brick, rendercd. Hipped roof concealed by
pedimented facade of 1860. Rear semi-circular
apse of 1860 contains egg-cup pulpit. Gallery
added 1840.

Interior interesting chiefly for its memorials;
Rev. Dr. Richard Price {1723-1791), propounder
of laws of probability and author of Observations
oz Civil Liberty, supporting the American War
of Independence; Samuel Rogers and family;
Anna Barbauld; Samuel Sharpe.

Prominent situation facing the Green.
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Above: Lincoln Unitarian Chopel before ¢. 1890 Beluv
Newingion Green,
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Lydgate, near Hiddersfield.

Lydgate Unitarian Chapel, New Mill, ncar
Huddersfield, Yorkshire. 1695 and 1768.

Founded 1671, by John Armitage {kinsman of
Enoch Armitage, who founded a settlement in
Hopewell Valley, New Jursey in 1719). First
preacher at chapel was Oliver Heywood, great
travelling preacher \n the North of England.

Gritstone; pitched roof with coped gable,
kneelers and cupola. Some doubt about
rebuilding in 1768; possibly old matcrials re-
used (see panel near pulpit carved '‘John
Armitage 1695). Extensive repairs in 184§;
south wall panly rebuilt with new windows,
full-height porch incorporating organ loft,
cupola and bell.

Interior, small and plain; high pulpit with
sounding board at namow end of chapel.
Chained books [three volumes Archbishop
Tillotson's sermons} below pulpit. Rear gallery.
Organ installed 1801, renewed 1926.

Large graveyard with many memorials.
Parsonage 1842 nexi door. Beyond, interesting
Oliver Heywood Memorial Sunday School 1911,
attributed to Edgar Wood.
Macelesfield: King Edward  Street
Cheshire. 1690.

Congregation dates fromm Ejection of 1662.
Chapel was opened on $1. Bartholomew’s Day
jAugust 24th) 1690 — the anniversary of the
Ejection. List of seat-holders for the opening
m¢ludes John Broadhurst, given a whole pew
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Chapel.

'for kindness in letting the society have his bam
1o mete in'. The chapel was dominated by the
Brocklehurst family (silk manufacturers) ill
closure 1873-6 [the Brockleburst Bank was
adjacent).

Design similar (o Dean Row and Knursford,
but here on a restricted town site and typically
sitwated down an alley from the road.

Sandstone; 1wo outer staircases rise to gain
access (o palleries 2nd form symmetrical
entrance porches. Twelve [six over six] two and
three-light mullioned windows in facade, now
with Gothic tracery. Cenure four windows are
dummies. Rear has 16 [eight over eight) three-
light mullioned windows. Lead spout dated
1690; iron wall lamp opposite alley. Slate roof
{stone flags prior to 1929).

Interior Gothicised 1840 but still retains
‘Meeting House' atmosphere. Two-decker
pulpit with sounding board in cenire of long
north wall. Around the pulpit, blocking the four
central windows are dark wooden panels with
Gothic decoration and gilv lettering. Originally
470 sittings {200 on ground floor and 270 in
gallery); box pews fitted 1840; present pows
1929 [original benches in gallery). East and west
gatleries supported by timber columns 10 in.
square. South gallery removed ¢. 1800. Organ of
1876 in west gallery, where open rafters still
survive. William Leicester’s chair inscribed
W.L. 1688.

Maidstone Upitarian Church, Earl Street. Kent,
1736.

Congregation dates from 1662 Ejection.

Brick; square, with pyramidal slate roof and
corner pilasters. Three bays to front and sides
with mullioned and transomed windows. Front
on pavement edge; central door with iron lamp
over.

Interior Gothicised but retaining original
layout including central pulpit now set back in
shallow chancel {added in nineteenth century).
Three-sided gallery. Flat ceiling with exposed
bearns and joints. Memorabilia of Rev. William
Hazlitt Senior, minister here 1770-1780.

Mansfield Old Meeting House, Stockwell Gate.
Nottinghamshire. 1701.

Founded 1666, Important centre of
nonconformity in late seventeenth century.
Before 1701 congregation met in Porter’s House
at alley entrance {now solicitor’s office, formerly
parsonage). Typical location of chapel down an
alley from main rpad.

Pink sandstone with limestone quoins,
square. Two original doorways on east side, now
blocked. Mullioned and transomed windows;
double hipped roof. Symmetry of present front
¢levation spoilt by porch of 1940.

Interior ‘tumed’ and Gothicised 1870; chancel
added 1882, enlarged 1908. Pillars of Sherwood
oak support roof. Stained glass by Morris and
Co. 1890. Clock by Thomas Haley of Norwich
c. 1748,

Extensive school buildings 1837 and 1885
alongside entrance yard. Redevelopmen: all
reund, but chapel has survived well.

Newcastle-under-Lyme Old Meeting House,
Lower Street. Staffordshire. 1717.

Founded 1672. Previous chapel of 1694 burnt
down by rioters, encowraged by rown auth-
orities. Patronised by Josiah Wedgwood and
family; Charles Darwin's mother, Susannah
Wedgwood, also attended (see plaque in chapel).
1804-20, chapel closed; open on and olf
throughout nineteenth century. Periods of act-
ivity connected with rise of Christian Brethren
{see chapter 4).

Brick, rendered. Approach was through grave
yard of adjacent Parish Church. Meeting room
above chapel added in 1926. Interior plain,
renovated 1898, Rear gallery. Chapel wow
exposed by ring road.

Maidsinne.

Maonsfield.




Park Lane Chapel, Wigan Road, Ashton-in-
Makerlield, Lancashire. 1697. Founded 1672.

Brick walls with parrow courses, now r1en-
dered. Mullioned windows, stone flagged roof
with bell-cote. 1826, one of the two entrances
blocked, chapel ‘turned’ and ceiling put in.
1861, coal mines started in the area, changing
environment and make-up of congregation;
renovations in 1871, 1904, 1926, 1946, all in
part due to subsidence.

Present gallery and pews of 1871 when box
pews converted into panelling [some dated
1697). Interior colourfully Gothicised with
much charm; ctained glass: memorial window
to GCaskell family, 1914-18 war memorial
windows, nice sentimental painted glass in
vestibule, etc. Pulpit moved from middle of
north wall to narrow east epd. Present pulpit
from Prescot chapel {1756-1896). Memorial to
Rev. Samuel Park, d. 1775. Collection of
memorabilia gives insight inte chapel life
through the centuries.

Very large graveyard, with interesting tombs.
Day schocl buildings west of chapet [1902);
recently demolished Sunday School buildings
{1867) stood north of chapel. Lych-gate of 1934
erected by the Women's League 2s a memorial
1o Rev. Matthew Watkins.

Rivington Unitarian Chapel, oear Horwich,
Lancashire. 1703,

Congregation originated in pazish church of
1566 on opposite side of The Green; ejected
1662. Pawron, Lord Willoughby of Parham, d.
1765 sce remarkable raonument in chapel].

Stone. Two mullioned and transorned win-
dows with leaded lights flanked by pair of doors,
headstone on right dated 1703. Stone flagged
roof with belleote at west end.

Interior original and unaltered. High pulpit
centred on long north wall. Box pews with seats
facing each other rather than the pulpic.
Canapied pew of the Willoughby family. Stone
foor. Framed stone tablet inscribed 'Ye REVD
SAMUEBL NEWTONE, Driven from ye church
on Banholomew Sunday 16627, revealed when
workmen were pulling down a wall c. 1840.

Rural graveyard overlooking beautiful scenery
on lower slopes of Rivington Pike.

Sheffield: Fulwood Old Chapel, Whiteley Lane,
1728/9.

Founded 1714. Inscription io centze of front
wall, ‘Bwlt 1729 in Persuance of ye last will of

38

Mr. W. Ronksley’. William Ronkstey [1650-
1724}, wtor and librarian, wrote several
children’s text-books on mathematics, English
grammar and the classics. His will states:
‘... lorasmuch as Fullwood . . . is very remote
from Church and Chapel my mind and will is
that for the conveniency of the inhabitants
thereof [who are most of them Dissenters from
the Church of Epgland) ... a2 large and
handsome Chapel shall be built and {inished
with a Pulpit and convenient seats . . . with the
interest or produce of the said fow hundred
pounds . . f

Sandstone with gritstone mullions, and door
surrounds. MNot large. Two doors, four
mullioned windows with original leaded lights
and glass. Interior ‘tumed’ in  nineteenth
century, gutted and modemnised mid-twentisth
century after long period of aeglect.

Adjoining parsonage, 1754; also attached,
small schoolroom built soonm after. Former
graveyard contains village stocks found nearby
and re-¢erected 1930. Now on edge of suburbia,
but faces teautiful Mayfield Valley.

Sheffield: Underbank Chapel, Stannington.
1742

In 1652 Richard Spoone left funds to support
‘a preaching minister’ in Stannington. Place of
worship at this time possibly 2 barn. The Pres-
byterian Minister was ejected in 1662, but until
1699 ministers were catered as curates of the
Diocesc of York. A licence was taken out by
dissenters to meet in nearby Spout House and
endowed 2 minister to be ‘a Protesiant
Dissenter . . . of the Presbyterian or Con-
gregational denominations’. The chapel has an
exceptionally sophisticated design — who was
responsible for it?

Sandstone with hipped stone-flagged roof.
South front has two tall central round-arched
windows with fanking doors; cireular windows
above. Pronounced gritstone window and door
surrounds and quoins. Origipally had six
mullicoed windows in two storeys to sides and
rear; west elevation now bas two round-arched
windows with two blocked mullioned windows,
altered in 1866 when pulpit moved from south
to west wall and chapel ‘tumned’. (Pulpic
subsequently moved 10 north-west corner 1921
when war-memorial organ installed; retumed
1952 when wransposed with organ.) Originally
three galleries; only east one survives, leaving
interior sadly much altered. In vestry junder

gallery] delighiful sampler depicting chapel,
signed ‘[nday Oaies 1848,

Small cottage adjoins chapel. Schoolroom
dated 1853 across road om moorside. Laige
graveyard with many imeresting stones. Superb
serting; still isolaved, yer suburbs creep nearer.

Sheffield: Upper Chapel, Norfolk Street. 1700,
reconstructed 1848, Congregation originated
with ejection of Rev James Fisher, vicar of
Sheffield, in 1660; met in private houses till
1678, then 2t New Hall Chapel on Snig Hill.
Present chapel built during ministry of Timothy
Jollie f[Jollie was principal of Autercliife
Academy, East of Sheffield).

Chapel originally faced West, approached
from Fargate down Pepper Alley. ln 1948 —
delayed till passing of Dissenters’ Chapels Act
— it was enlarged and 'turned’ to face Norfolk
Street. This street, laid out ¢.1770, became the
principal street in the town for chapels —
Unitarian 1700, Congregational 17185,
Methodist 1780, Roman Catholic 1850.

A look at the rear court is instructive. Brick
side walls of 1700 — the oldest exposed
brickwork in the city — can be discerned rising
to the upper window arches. In 1848 these were
raised by 6 feel and a new roof constructed. An

Above: Underbank Chapel, Stannington, Sheffield.
Below: Rivinglom

extra bay was added to the East end, forming a
vestibule with classical stone facade and portico
supporied on 4 Ionic columns. At the West end
the first vestry with organ loft was added,
incorporating datestone ‘Built in 1700 enlarged
1847".

Internally present galiery added, and a layout
sumilar 1o today adopted. Rebuilding cost about
£2,000, under the directicn of John Frith,
Architect, of Sheffield. Re-opened for public
worship on 21st May 1848, the chapel makes an
interesting contrast with Mill Hill Chapel,
Leeds and Gee Cross Chapel, Hyde — both built
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Upper Chapel, Sheffield.

Rivingion
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in the sare year but under the iofluence of the
advocate of Gothicism, James Martineau.

In 1866 a 3 manual organ was installed by
Edward Wadsworth of Manchester. Tt is still in
use, being overbauled in 1984. Thus a new
vestry added 1866, enlarged and re-styled 1900
10 celebrate bicentenary. Chapel repewed in
1882 and present pulpic and o1gan console added
in 1907.

These alterations have left an interier redolent
of solid Victorian comiort. The vestibule lcads
into 3 blocks of pews facing bigh central pulpit
supported on 4 colomns. Three-sided curved
gallery zhove. Organ Inft hehind pulpit, flanked
by rwo unusual stained glass windows depicting
liberty and truth, ¢.1940 by Easton. Other
stained glass by Henry Holiday, 1899. Lofry
panelled cciling.

Memorials to Rev James Fisher; John
Rutherford, surgeon, 1789; John Bagshawe of
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Great Hucklow (son of William Bagshawe,
Apostle of the Peak') by Chanuy; the Hunter
Pamily {Rev Joseph Huanter was zutbor of
definitive histories of Hallamshire and South
Yorkshire, and ipstrurnental in establishing the
Public Record Office). Vestry contains fine
collection of paintings and photographs of past
ministers of the chapel and of Susannah, wife of
Rev josepb Evans. Adioining West wall in the
rear yard is a barely legible Latin memorial to
Timothy Jollie.

Ffront graveyard landscaped as a small public
garden with memonals and sundial. Southwest
of the chapel and adjoining is the Hollis block
built as the Sunday School €.1815. South again
are the carstaker's house and Channing Hall,
the latter built above a smart parade of shops in
1882 on the then new Surrey Strect. Facade
resembles a Venetian palazzo; incerior has
multi-cotoured glazed bricks and fire timber
roof, linked to chapel by spiral staircase.
Architects, Flockton and Gibbs. [E. M. Gibbs, a
leading member of the congregation, also
responsible for pews, pulpit and vestry
extension).

Shrewsbury Unijtarian Church, High Street.
Shropshire. 1691-1885.

Congregation dates from 1662 Ejection of two
Shrewsbory vicars, Rev. John Bryan and Rev.
Francis Tallents. Chapel bumt down in 1715
riots, rebuilt 1718 with government funds; large
Coat of Arms of George ! in ckapel. 1839, furtber
rebuilding. 1885, forecourt built over 10 create
the present stone streec facade; Pevsoer thinks it
may be an auempi to recreate siyle of earlies
facade.

Interior, refined classical; panelled dado, high
square windows, central pulpit with recently-
restored coat of arms above. Memorials include
one 1¢ Charles Darwin, who atiended ¢hapel in
his youth; also Rev. Job Orton, minister 1741-66
and a founder of the Royal Salop Infirmary. 1798
Coleridge candidated for the rinistry here;
Hazlitt describes hearing him in ‘My First
Acquaintance with the Poets’. {Brass plate neax
pulpit in commemoration. | Clock of 1724.

Sidmouth Old Mecting, All Saints Road. Devoo.
1710

Founded 1710. Chapel originally fronted by
*White Hart’ public house on south.

White render on stone. Pleasant restoration
1886; pointed windows and barge-boarding.

Inierior of Shrewsbury.

Interior 'turned’ and re-pewed. Original pulpit
with sounding board. Barrel-vaulted ceiling with
timber boarding. Stained glass window by
Mayer and Co., Munich, 'Christ Preaching’.
Clock by ‘William Hornsey Exon 1767,
Schookroom of 1697, Leigh-Browne room 1939,
housing assortment of pictures and fumnirure.

Graveyard and north-cast entrance of chapel
with onginal roctangulay windows preserve
something of pre-Victorian aimosphere.

Tamworth New Meeting House, Victoria Road.
Staffordshire. 1724,

Founded 1690.

Original front is now the back, which retains
chequered brickweork and stone above former
porch inscnibed ‘This house was built 1724°.
Modern tendered front faces road bom the
raitway station built for Queen Victoria on her
visit 10 Tamworth in 1853. Hipped roof.

Interior ‘rurned’ 1879; gothic-arched pitch-
pine chancel, organ chamber and vestry formed
out of east end. Memorials. All else is swept
away in modemisation by Royal Naval
Association, who share chapel.

Graveyard adjacent, good stones leaning
against side of chapel.

nerior of Taunion,

Taunton Unpitarian Chapel, Mary Street.
Somerser. 1721,

Founded 1646, General Baptist origins;
amalgamated with Presbyterian Tancred Street
Chapel {built 1732, closed 1815, now
demolished). Earlier building bumt down in
Monmouth rebellion.

Street facade rendered ¢. 1850 with lalianate
pilasters and round-arched windows. Original
brickwork at rear.

Excellent interior; pews altered in nineteenth
century, otherwise untouched. Baptistry under
flcor below pulpit. Two square Flemish cak
pillars ‘perfect examples of the Corinthian Order
complete from base 1o entablature’ (R, P. Jones).
Galleries on three sides. Chandelier of 23
candles, wrought imn and brass, inscnibed
‘Nathaniel Webb 1728’ Clock contemporary
with building. Good monuments :o0 Toulmin,
Elake, Roselloty.

Brick Schoo! with bell tower 1866; hall with
frescoes. Remarkable memorial window in
sehool hall. Burial ground at rear.
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Tenterden Old Meeting House, Ashford Road.
Kent 1746,

Congregation dates from 1662 Ejection of Re?.-.
George Haw from parish church. First met in
barn, pesalbly on same site.

Brick, stmple domestic character, bipped toof
with cropped gable, tile hanging a1 sides,

Interior, original thiee-sided gallery. Central
pulpit, large scundmg board. Semi-exposed
rafters Short-case parliament clock.

Burial ground has grave of Rev. Lawrence
Holden, mimister 1774-1824. Sume 1874
commemorating bicenizmary of Beaamin
Franklin's visit. Adiacent fuall 183%.

a2

Walmsley Unitarian Chapel, Belion,
Lancashire. 1713

Founded before 1671. Congregation originated
in Old Walmsley Chapel, Turten Heights, about
ont mile away [now consists of foundation
1emaing and graves). Remote situation, so Actof
Uniformity not very effective; Old Chapel
shared by Anglicans and Presbytcrians till 1706,
Pirst munister at Walmsley, Rev. James Miloe,
buried beneath aisle.

Reddish Valentine sione from nearby quary.
Six three-light mullioned windows o each long
side, altered in nineteenth cenary.

[nterior "turned’ and Gothicised; three-sided
gallery; roof altcred and [aced with pitch pine ¢
1870. Large ninetcenth century east window.
Organ ¢. 18500, from Bank Street Chapel, Bolion
Porch and beliry added 1874,

Sunday School across yard 1651 Large grave
yard with many memorials, including Rev. John
Aspinall {built cotton-carding cugine on nearby
stream); Rev. Thomas Davics jd. 1811), doctor,
mathematician, chemist, ttor at Manchester
New College, mtroduced cow pox vaccipation
to the districs; Rev. William Prober, minister
1821-1870. Many 1able tombs.

Warrington: Cairo Sureet Chapel. Lancashire.
1745,

Founded 1662. Original chapel of 1703 on
same site; before that coogregation met in
Warringion Courthouse {was Greyfriarz] 1 i3
possible chapel has similar design to previous
chapzl, even incorporating part of the stuciure.

Brick. Froni on gable end; cenual round-
arched window with Gathic tracery, 1wo doors.

Interior aliered; repewed and gallery removed
1863. Now a strange amalgam of Neo-Gothic
pitch pine and the remains of eightcenth
century glorics — chietly evident in memotials
round the walls. Memorials: Edward Carlick, d.
1758, aged 15; John Andrew Wilson, d. 1760;
John Galway, swudent in the Warmringlon
Acaderay, d. 1777; John Aiken, Professor, d.
1780; Holbrock Gaskell, d. 1842; Rev. Philip
Pearsall Carpemier, B.A. London, Ph.D. New
York, d. 1877. Licence of 1672 framed in vestry.
‘Parliament’ clock.

Chapel faces long yard full of gravestoncs,
many table graves 10 Gaskell family, ete. Fige
wrought-iron gatc from sireei. Llarge
schoolrooms of 1882 and 1896.

Warringlon Dissenting Academy, 1737-86,
was the most celebrated of the nonconformist

Opposite ahove, Walmsley: below. Tenterden

Thiw pege dcoft, York, mght, meimunsly in Warringion.

‘red brick' universities. Rev. John Seddon was
minister of the Chapel 1747-1770 and rutor in
Language, Oratory, Theology and Philosophy. It
has recently been transported 60 feet 1o 2 new
site at Bridgefoot and restored.

Whithy Old Chapel, Flowcrgate. Yorkshire.
1750. Founded 1694,

Completely hidden behind shopping sueer;
approached down side alley. One of the walls
has been found 10 be the back of a {ourteenth
century house in Flowergate.

[nterior simple, small; ‘tumed’ and repewed.
Single rear gallery. Memorial (o Rev. Francis
Hayda Williams, minister 1888-1910, Jueboat
campaigner and carly champion of footpath
legislation.

York: St. Saviowgate Unitarian Chapel. 1693,

Founded 1692. Lord Hewley |mayor of York
1665, MP for Pontefract and York, d. 1697) and
Lady Hewley (held licence o preach at her
bouse, d. 1710] gave mooey o build chapel. See
portraits in vestry, also Lady Hewley's chair,
The Hewley bequesis later gave much trouble 1o
Unitarians -- s¢e Chapter 4.

Brick; austere facade belies claborate plan in
form of Greek cross. Short rower on crossing
originally pierced by windows; pyramidal slate
roof. Sash windows 1830.

Interior: communion table at west end. Small
organ gallery over eatrance 1800, Late 18th
century hexagonal pulpit. QOriginally open o the
rafters, ceiling wserted 1859, obscuring tower
arches, windows and barrel vaul: Pews 1860.
Good ‘flashed ruby’ glass Fine memerials by
Jarnes Fisher of St Savicurgate and Matthew
Skelton of Micklegate, also R. Regnant of
Londop. Memorial to Rev. Charles Wellbeloved,
principal of Manchester New College, then at
York, minister of ¢chapel 1800-1858.

Chapel set in graveyard; high brick wall
replaced by railings 1860. ‘s cenwalised plan
and austere character make it the wmost
distinctively Nonconformist chapel in the city,
wliolly uncompromiising and making no
concessions to anyone.” |Professor Patrick
Nutigens, York. Buildings in the Ciry, 1978
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Disused and Demolished
Chapels and Churches

Alcester: Bull's Head Yard, Knowsley Road Worcestershire,
1721, Closed 1896. Demolished 1963 alier fire damage. Had
good meeting house interior with rwe-decker pulpnt and
spunding board.

Allpstock, near Koutslord, Cheshire ¢ 1696. Founded 1672,
Erom 1909 1] recently used as a prunary school with
occasipnal services. Now a dwelting-house

Ashford, Buxion Road. Derbyshure ¢, 1700. Founded 1696,
Closed 1875, demolished. Gravevard survives on, road 10
Monsal Head, ( Gent Baphsb-Soe Tndvsde @ 08T
Atherstone, Long Sticer. Warwickshire. 1725, Closed 1918,
Demolished 1956,

Barnstaple, Crass Steeet. Devon. Early 181h cenrury.
Bloxbam, East Milten, Oxfordshire ¢. 1700, Closed 1843
Chapel pow a farm bam adjoining graveyard of parish church.
Milron, Chapel Lanc. Closed 1865, fragment sunnves as &
garage,

Bradford on Avon: Grove Meeung House, Middle Rank.
Wileshire, 1698, Closed 1473 Now Zion Baptist Chapei
Bath stone, end of terrace of weavers' houses. Impressive.
Bullhouse, near Penistone Yorkshire. 1692.

Bult as, and stll is, an Independent chapel, but dunng the
ministry of Thowsas Halliday {1772-1793) and ks successors,
adopred Unitanan thealogy Typical of several "patronage’
chapels in Yorkshire with Presbytenan or Unitaran
conpections, such as Auercliffe Hill Top Chapel [1629),
Bramhope [1649), Great Houghton {1650 qv, Wibsey,
Bradford [sec chapter 5], Silvanus Rich built Bullhouse Hall,
his son Elkanals the chapel. Fine prece of Penoime Vemascular
architecrure, gritmo=e with mullioned wansarmed wisdows,
coped gables with #all finizls Ineerior retams hygh pulpt and
sounding-board am! some box pews
Calne, Bollings Lane. Wilshue. 17th century. Closed 1835
Dernolished 1962,

Chichester, Sussex. Baffins Lane. 1688 Closed 1923, now an
aucuon room. Adiacent to Pallents ‘New Toww'. Geod
design, brick with peiment biding valley guner, three
round-arched windows, Also Eastgaie General  Bapuist
Chapel. 1720. Closed 1943. Now a comamunity centre. Seven
coffins recendy ound tmdsr floor, meluding Richand
Drinlowater, "Pastor anil Messenger' Brick now rendered,
gabled cnds, two round-archail windows Craveyard 1o side.
Cirencester, Gosditch Sueer. Gloucestershire  Built and
founded 1672 Regular services ceased 1969, One of 2 group
of nonconformist chapels forming a ‘ghenw’. Approached
down alley. Rendered with mullioned windows. [ntenor
rwnidd and restgred i 1891 by Thomas Wordungeon
Calehester, Fssex. ¢ 1692 Closed 1823, Demolished 1894,
Colyton: George's Mecting, Queen Square. Devon 1743
Founded 1662. Closed 1939 Mow a coramunity cenire. Two
round-arched windows, roof originally thatched. lnwerior has
barrel-asched ceding, foor wnserted, vault of Pole family
survives.

Crediton, Bowden Hil). Devon. 1721, Founded 1672. Closed
1963. Demolished 1966, Cne of the largest buildings ever
made of cob (mud bricks) Fine classical design; five bay,
round-arched windows and staall central pedimen. [oterior,
pulpit with sounding board and simple pews (now m
Horsham). Two gallentes, barrcl-vaulted ceiling supported on
two nmber colurans.

Deal: Taverner's, Lower Street. Kent, 1688, Closed 1910,
MNow a private house. Built by Caprawn Samuel Taverne,
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Commonwealth Covernor of Deal Casde, his grave is m the
floor [see also Dover chape]) Refronted in 19th century with
GCothic windows,

Derby, Frasgate. 1698. Founded 1672, Demolished 1975,
Large, red boek, four bays with pediment Impressive snterior
relitted 1890; throe-sided gallery, two stone Tuscan colurans,
organ 1oft over vesury bebind pulpit, A sad loss 10 a city where
all wo few buildings have becn spared. [New chapil. see
chapter 5.

Devizes, Weltshire 17th century to mid-19h cenmry
Dorchesier, Pease Lane. Dorset. 1720, Founded 1662 Closed
1875 Demolished c. 1970,

Filby, Norfolk 1706, Desooyed by bomb 1940, Graveyard
SUrvives.

Findern, Lower Green, Derbyshire. ¢ 1690 Closed 1860.
Demolished 1939 Former Academy w Dules Lane [adjacent)
survives as a row of cotrages.

Fleet, Lincolpshire. . 1700. Became Bapuist in 1%1h century
Vieworian chapel now oo site, bur old graveyard survives,
good headstones,

Giloucester, Barton Street. 1699, Founded 1662 Closed 1967
and demielished. Three bay classical facade of Cotswald stone
hid modest brick building with hipped roof. Interier
originaliy bad threc galleries, bax pews, pulpit with sounding
board. Tumed and refitted 1893 with chancel apd organ
extension eniered through oiumphal proscenium arch with
Corinthian pilasters

Hapton, Morfolk. 1741, Closed 19359, Founded 1729 by
Brewer's widow, Elizabeth Gay. Tunber framed, lath and
plastered. Door fromn Octagon Chapel, Morwich. Siruated
within grounds of Hapton House, now a dwelling-house.
Hoolton: Budge Meeting House, High Saeet Devon. Early
18th century Closed 1860, Demolished. Cluck-face now in
Museum

Leeds, Call Lane. 169]. Congreganonal, Cenceral Baprist and
Uniearian influetice.

Lewes, Eastport Lane. Sussex 174}, Chapel closed 1826
when congregation amalgamated with Westgate Chapel.
Now a dwelling-house,

London: Hacknesy "Grave! Pit Chapel’ of 1716 survives in
Ram Place off Chatham Place, now a factory. Rectangular,
yellow stock brick. loredor much altered though carved
tmber columis survive, Congregation had four llustiious
ngsters 1770 to 1845 Richard Price, Joseph Priestley,
Theemag Belsham and Robert Aspland (note Belsham Street
naasty] In 1809 congregation moved 10 rhe ocragonal ‘New
Gravel Pie Chapel’, further Souch on Chathamn Place. 1858,
rebuilt in Cothic siyle, Closed 1969 amed acquired by Greata
London Council wha deemolished it for hiousing, leaving only
the graveyard Aspland Hal! af 1913 dealgiied by R P. Jones.
Long Sutton, Chapel Bradge [Lutton Parkid Lwcolnshirc.
1700. Closed c. 1930, De=satlished c. 1970. Garage now on
site, graveyard grassed over without headstoges. Former
parsonage survives beside road.

Malton, Wheelgate Yorkshie 1715, Altered 1785 and 1878,
Closed 1952, now Elim TPentecosial, Intenor ity changed
and retains monwmenis.,

Morpeth, Cortingwood Lane. Nerthumberland, 1732
Latterly a prinary schood, now disused Red brick, swoe
quoins Twe sound-arched windows Nice chest torob 10
Rev. Ueorge Aken at rear.

Nantwich, Hospital Suect. Cheshire. 1726, Founded 1688,
Closed 1963, Demohished 1969, Joseph  Prigstley was
minister 1758-6). Had a fine brick facade with two wall
round-arched windows and two Dutch suyle gables. Set back
from road.

Newbury: Waterside Chape), Northbrook Street. Berkshire,
1697, Founded 1664, Closed 1946 Demolished 1940, but
parsonage incomporated m Teomers' depanment  store,
Chapel of brick, four by five bays sguare plan. Mulhoned
windows 1 two storeys, tnple-hipped ciled rool. [oterior, two
rows of four columnns suppore valley gutters. Rear gallery
Box pews. Chapel had arivate quay on adjacent River Kepnet
Preston, Church Streer. Lancashire 1717, Founded 1672
Closed 1975, now derclwt Rendered brick, arched windows.
Schoolrooms of 1905 adjon at right angles Small graveyand.
Ringweood: 51. Thoras's Chapel, Meeting House Lane.
Hampshire, 1727, Founded 1672 (losed 19735 Acgqured by
local autbarity for loca! studies centre lmpressive inside and
out. Three bays square, mullloned windows, double roof
with cropped gable Box pews, threr galleries, bexagonal
pulpit, bazel-archied eeiling 16 main roof and over galleries,
suppored on six columss
Rushalt, Whltshire. 1706, Closed 1972, Demolished 1982,
General Baptist. Very small. Archerype for GPO rural
telephone exchanges. Chapel fitred happily imo vallage sireer
scene.
St. Albaps, Lower Cagnall Sticer. MHerdordshire 1697,
Founded 1662, Closed 1895. Now a bank Four by three bays,
brick with segmental arched windows in two storeys, hipped
double rool.
Sale, Cheshire. Cross Strect, 1739, moved o Arkinson Road
1876, closed 1970. Both buildings recenly demolished.
Shepton Malles, Cow] Strevs. Somerser. 1696, Founded 1692,
Restored 1785 and 1886, Closed 196). Towr by two bays,
stone Front has pedimented dopreases and two enonmous
round-arched windows with Cothiwe tacery, bipped roof
Rear wing has mullioned windows Jonginal®]. Interior had
richly carved pulpit o slender stem, balustraded stairs, Jamp
brackets and sounding board, now wransfemed o St
Nicholas's Church Museurn, Bristol.
Siafford, Mount Strerr 1689 and 1807, Founded 1672
Presbytenan Chapel brivfly became Umtarian i early 19th
century. Both the earler buildings appear to survive bebud
the ¥ictorian chapel.
Topsham, Ropewalk, now Victoria Road, Deven. 1727,
Closed 1888. Mow Masanic hatl,
Totnes: Lower Meeiing, Fore Streer Devon 1724
Apparcatly demaolished,
Warminster, Nonth Row. Wiltshire 1704 Founded 1687,
Closed and sold 1869 Now a schoul meals centre. Five bays,
brick with stong quosns. mulijoned windows u two storeys,
double-hipped riled roof
Wem, Noble Street. Shropshire. 1716 Closed 1874, Adjacent
10 parsoniage where Walliam Iazlice lived as a boy [lus father
was minister). Chapel half-demnolished and used as a garage.
Whitchutch. Congregation founded by Pinlip Henry [father
of Mamtbew Henry, ste Thestee) in 1672 at Broad Oak Farm
three miles west of the town and st in Wales. He bualt a
chape! here m 1689,

Furst chapel between nes. 7 and 9, Doddinglon bult 1707
Desroyed by rioters 1705, rebuilt 1717, closed 1844

Subsequen:ly served as g Bruish Schoo! and 2 Music Hadl.
MNow dereliet bur cries out w0 be pesied. Fine vernacular;
brick with hipped and quanes-gsbled roof, round-arched
windows, now blocked Set back from road down alley.

Also in Whitchuech, ‘Chureh of the Savionr’, Highgate
1877. Clased 1921 and demolished. Highgate lnn now stands
on site A corugated wen ‘Gothie' chapel; George Eyre
Evans, Unitanan storian, minister 1885-97,
Wisbech, Great Church Sweer. Cambridgeshire, ¢ 1700
Closed 1898, demolished.

Tap: Ringwood. Above: Roof umbers, Hinpwood,
Below: Shepron Maller,




Ulackwise from rop left: Sheptun Mallss jinlpif, Thepron
Mallet extanior, Crediton; Nanjvork Caedipos inresiag

Clockieise fram top left: Hepron, Eunipor Lowes
Baiting Lane, Chichestes; ey, Bushell,
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CHAPTER THREE

New Status,

New Identity,
New Technology:
1750-1840

Above: intciior of the Getagon
Chapel, Norwich {hihograph of
1848}

48

Danicl Defoe argued strongly for the encouragement of dissenters
rather than their persecution; they created trade and weaith. They
were now in a position to provide for not only the town charities
and trusts for which they are well-known, but also for ministers of
religion, new chapels, and increasingly, for schools.

Al 1he beginning of the cightecnth century there had been 2
spate of chapel-building; in most towns and larger villages the
dissenting chapel became an accepted part of the scenery. Later in
the century their improved status was expressed in the building of
Yarger and more sophisticated chapels. Westgate Chapel, Wakefield
{1752) was built nearer the town centze than the old chapel at
Westgate End; among its members were some of the leading geowy
and wadesmen of the neighbourhood. Stourbridge Chapel {1788)
replaced the previous chapel, itself a replacement of the chapel
desiroyed by the ‘Church and King' mob of 1715. The 1716 chapel
was described as ‘inconvenient . . having nothing venerable, but
exciting the idea of 2 dwelling house of three stories converted into
a place of worship’. Stourbridge was an expanding industrial t1own

and the chapel shared in its prosperity. It is large and up-to-date —
brick, with c¢lassical detailing, iron-frame windows and high-
quality woodwork,

This was the [irst century of peace between Establishment and
Dissent, coupled with widespread use of the printed word. There
was decreasing persecution (apart from the time of the French
Revolution) and greater freedom of debale in dissenting circles, on
matters theological as well as political. Educated ministers of
religion and dissenting laymen read and discussed the works of
John Locke, Sarmuel Clarke, Joseph Priestley, and, oo a more
popwlar level, lsazc Watts. The Bible was, ol course, the
foundation of church life and was also discussed freely.

Ministers were sustained by leading laymen such as the Eaxl of
Shelburme, who employed Priestley as his librarian, Lord Russell,
who paid the Presbyterian minister at Tavistock, and the
merchants of Exeter and Nonwich, whao were abie to dictate to the
dissenting commumities in their cities. Led by Priestley and Rev.
John Taylor of Norwich, the more intellectual dissenters gradually
expressed new ideas based on a rational interpretation of the Bible.
From the second quarter of the eighteenth century Presbyterians,
General Baptists and some Independents progressed via Arianism
to Unitarianism {Arians held that the Father is the supreme God;
the other persons of the Trinity owe their existence to Him).

The dissenting academies were at the root of the change.
Priestley wrote of his education at Philip Doddridge’s academy:
“The general plan of our studies . . . was exceedingly favourable 10
free inquiry, as we were referred to authors on both sides of every
question, and were required to give an account of them''.
Education was not confined to the academies; smaller schools, run
by dissenting ministers as a supplement to their livelihood,
became a common feature of town life in this period.

The cross-fertilisation of ideas via academies and dissenting
mainisters (who moved around the country in the course of their
careers) is well-documented. An average example was Rev. John
Houghton {1730-1800}, who was born in Liverpocl, educated at
Northampton academy, and was minister at Plat, Hyde,
Nantwich, Elland and Wem, before running a school in Morwichin
his retirement. Joseph Priestley was educated at Daventry, was
minister at Needham Market, Nantwich, then itaught at
Warrington academy, moved 10 Leeds and Birmningham, before
emigrating to the United States. 1t would be surprising il the
material designs of chapels were not also transmitted from one part
of the country 10 another, and indeed their visual appearance js
temarkably similar.

In many cases, it was pot long before chapel extensions and
galleries needed ta be built (though confidence in expansion was
often misplaced).

The substantial cak gallery at Ilminster seems to have been
added even belore the chapel was compleied. At Cross Strcet,
Manchester, the gallery of the old chapel [destroyed in 1940) was
built by private subscription less than a year after the erection of
the chapel. Galleries were added at Lydgate {1768), Bessels Green

Abgve: Wernington Academy of
1762

Below: memerial in Newington
Creen 1o Rev. Richard Price
{1723-1791} Minister of the chapel
for 26 years and founder of the
prnciples of actuanal practice.




Sumday Schosl pews i gallery =

Prnt of Biroungnem Old Meeting i
1827 A punls sehod crocodile
enters on ghr defll

[1749), Newport (1790] and many more. By the end of the cenrury
accommodation was being added for Sunday Schools, olten in the
gallery, Bridport has special ‘end-on’ pews for teachers 1o supervise
children in the gallery.

Fewer chapels were needed in the second half of the century after
the earlier spate of building. Designs of this period ofien depart
from the vernacular style, but they are not generally the work of
known architects. Qften we must assume that they are the work of
local craftsmen working in close touch with their clients. They
teflect new fashions and structural innovations, but the puritan
qualities of syrametry, propartion and non-figurative design
persist. The QOctagon, Norwich (1756), the most ambitious chapel
of this period, was built by Thomas lvory, a carpenter. Westgate
Chapel, Wakeficld [1752), may be a very early design by John Carr,
who was bom at nearby Horbury. Lewin’s Mead, Bristol, was bult
in 1791, probably to designs by William Blackbume, who also
dewigned the Watermen's Company Hall in London. Bridport
Chape) (1794) replaced a previcus meeting-house which was
"extremely mean in its appearance, unbecoming the respeciability
and opulence of the society’. Much the same sort of simation must
have atisen at Bath and Bewdley, where the existing buildings
were deemed inadequate. Trim Streer Chapel, Bath {1795), is an
integral part of the Georgian street design, and would have entirely
fulfilled z fashionable congregation's expectations. At Bewdley
{1786), the original chapel of 1698 was timber-framed, it is
probable that it became too dilapidated and "old-fashioned’ o suit
the congreganion of a sophisticated, though decaying, inland port.

Changing theology Jed to splits within congregations. Chapels
{roostly Presbyterian) which became avowedly Unitarian lost more
Calvinistic members 1o new causes. Independent congregations
broke away from the old mecting-houses at Chesterficld, Shefficld,
Stand, Hinckley, Maidstone, [Ominster, and elsewhere. Atg
Kidderminsier, the more liberal members had to leave and build
anew. At Bessels Green, the stricter Baptists left o build their own
chapel an the grecn nearby. At Brighton, members of a Calvinistic
Baptist chapel were attracted to the more merciful teachings of
Universalism.

A handful of chapels newly founded in this period swrvives.
Some sprang from older foundauions, as at Billingshurst (from
Horsham] 2nd Lye and Cradley [from Stowbridge]. MNorcliffe
Chapel, Styal [Cheshire] was founded by the Unitarian Samuel
Greg for workets at his Quarry Bank cotton mills. Field Row
Chapel, Belper, was built by Jedediah Strutt for his workers. Lye
Chapel, founded by Rev. James Scott, served a community of nail-
makers living in roud huts on Lye Waste. By conirast, the
Unitarian chapel at Cheltenbam was founded in 1832 by Mr.
Furker, described as a wadesman from Bath; its founding could be
considered a contribution 10 the development of the town.

Not only within the old Dissent were there changes in this
period. English religious jife as 2 whole was changing. Methodism,
emanating from the Church of England, was the greatest agent, but
other sects evolved, among them the Countess of Huntingdon's
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Connection, the New Baptist Connection and Universalism. Out
of Methodism evolved the energetic and influential Methodist
Unitarians of Lancashire, and the Christian Brethren of the
Midlands. Small but significant growth ia Unitarianism took place
with the secession from the Church of England of Rev. Theophilus
Lindsey.

Methodism's ‘warmth’ 2nd ‘encthusiasm’ — derogalory tetms 10
the old Dissent and Anglicans alike — brought many converns to
their cottage meeting-places and chapels. Methodism was disliked
by the old Dissent for obvious reasons — it took away members
and jt was undeniably working-class. The result for Unitarians
was, on the one hand, rcduced support, but on the other an
ultimate enrichment through Methodism's greater vigouwr The
emotional stance of Methodism affected Unitarianist as much as
other religious walks of life. Joseph Cooke {1775-1811! was a
Methedist lay-preacher on the Rochdale circuit. He was cxpelled
for his ‘unsound doctrines’ and his numerous followers built
chapels at Rochdale [Providence Chapel, Clover Sircer) and
Newchurch. Congregations were also formed at Padiham,
Todmorden, Haslingden, Rawienstall and Bumley. Methodism’s
influence is sull apparent in the strongly cohesive, basically
working-class Methodist Unitarian congregations of the Rochdale
area,

The Free-thinking Christians were a small group founded by
Samucl Thompson, grandfather of the poet Sidoney Dobell.
Thompson influenced a group of churches 1n Kent and Sussex, and
further afield at Loughborough, Dewsbury and Jewin Swect,
Lom_lon. The large, plain but well-preserved chapet a1l Cranbrook
survives, now a sccial club.

The relationship between Unitarians and Ceneral Baptists

Abuva Jeft Lewin's Mead Meeting,
Brlsiif {2791,
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evolved over a peried of a century or more. By the mid-cighieenth
century General Baptists were Arminian in outlook, that is, they
bad a toleramt attitude towards redemption, leading to a more
inclusive church. In 1770, the Bapiist New Connection {Strict
Baptist] was formed by the more evangelical members. In 1802,
the General Baptist Assemnbly was transformed by the admission of
tlse Baptist-Universzlist William Vidler. His preaching caused the
fimual hreak with the New Counection, and many General Baptist
chapels followed Vidler and the man ‘who inspired him, the
Amezican Rev, EThanan Winchester. Chapels were built as a result
at Brighton {congregaticon formed 1793], Northiam (1810},
Chatham {1802}, Cranbrook {1807}, Headcomn {1819, Rolvenden,
Biddenden (1834), and South Place, Finsbury, now the Ethical
Society (1824,

At Dover, a chapel was bullt for the Presbyterian congregation,
founded in 1643, now much expanded by Benjamin Martin, a
follower of Vidler. The travelling Bapiist-Unitarian missioner
Richiard Wright (1764-1836) and Robent Aspland, munister of the
General Bapiist-Unitarian chapel at Newport, loW, did much 10
strengthen causes at this time. A number of places had Ceneral
Baptist chapels which in the course of time joined nearby
Presbyterian/Unitarian congregations, as a1 Boston, Portsmouth,
Lewes, Taunton and Hull. In 19)6, the Genera) Baptisis officially
joined the Unitarians, and in 1929 became pant of the newly-
founded General Assembly of Unitarian and Free Christian
Churches.

All these movements arose from differences within dissent, from
a freely-expressed individualism which found a place under the
telerant vmbrella of Unitarianism. However, a more important
schism for Unitarianism was the secession of the Anglican
clemgyman, Theophilus Lindsey. The only churches founded as a
result were Essex Church, Lendon, originmally in Essex Sireet
[1774), now in Palace Gardens Terrace, Kensington [rebuilt 1978},
Devooport (1791}, now a public house, and Dundee, founded in
1785 by Lindsey’s friend Thomas Fyshe Palmer, the last man in
Britain to0 be transporied for sedition. In the ninctecnth century,
the presence of ex-Anglican clergymen within Unitarianism
pratishly helped to influence both architecture and liturgy in an
Anglican direcrion.

Berween 1796 and 1814, only a handful of new Unitarian chapels
were built The reason 18 pot hard 1o (ind; Unitarians wese
enthusiastic supporiers of the French Revolution, sceing it as an
overthrowing of the kind of unjust privilege whici had for long
barred their own progress in goverpment and many other spheres
of life. Tam Paine atended the Lewes Unitarian Chapel; Marat
rsefly taught in the Warrington Acadrmoy, Benjamin Franklin,
Amernican Amhatsador o revolutimary France, was a close fnend
of luseph Priestley, and Priestley himself sulfered the desuruction
af his home, chapel, library and laboratory in the anti-French riois
af 1791, h was not the time for conspicuous building projects.
Kingswood, Birmingham, was destroyed by an anti-revolutioanary
moli in 179), and was rebuilt in 1793 with goverament

compensation. o cenmiral Birmingham, the New Meeting was
burnt down, and rebuilt in 1802. In Manchester, the Unitarian
chapel in Moseley Streer [built in 1789) was destroyed by a mob 1n
1792. The congregation rebuilt in Upper Brook Street in 1839,

Until the very end of this period there was an apparently
conscious effort an the part of dissenters to avoid any suggestion of
ccclesiastical style. By contrast, out of the 214 Anglican churches
built fullowing the Church Building Act of 1818, 174 had Neo-
Cothic architecture. In other words, 174 Anglican churches had
pointed arches and pitched roofs rather than classical columns, a
horizonial architrave and pediment. Un:il 1839, no Unitarian
chapel of this period has any Gothic features {Warwick, Styal,
Kidderminster and Kingswood, among others, were gothicised in
the later nineteenth cenury]. Gothic architecture, described by A.
W. Pugin as ‘truc Christian architecture’, was associated in many
people’s munds with the Catholic Church; nonconformists were
therefore reluctant o use it. Conversely, the architecture of Greece
and Rome scemed cntirely appropriate to Unitarians who were in
the vanguard of academic leamning, trade and classical education.
'Gothic’ cqualled 'superstition’; Classical' equalled ‘Resson’,
Unitarian chapel facades resembied rown mansions, assembly
rooms, ¢ven cusiom-houses and warchouses. The builders of mill
and chapel were one and the same; the architecture of the
Industrial Revolution was plain, cvolving out of a heritage of
vernacular craftsmanship and long-inherited classical forms.

And the vernacular tradition was not dead. In remote areas, or
where 1raditional building crafts excelled, the old styles continued.
Stannington {1742), Marshfield {1752}, and Saifron Walden {1792)
are fing examples from the Pemnines, the Cotswolds and East
Anglia. In the deeper rural communities, simply-crafied chapels
survive; in the Pennines, Bradwell {1754], Great Hucklow 1795,
and Lydgate {1695); in the South, Gislaliming 11789], Billingshurst
{1754] and Northiam |1810}. Congregations of the towns and more
prosperous villages wanted something more appropriate (o their
‘respectability and opulence’ as Bridport congregation put it.

Abave it exaly peming of Dover
Chape! 17809)
Al ippham Mew Medling
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Extenor of Belper.

Litile Portland Street {demolished).
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Landmarks of this kind in their respeciive compounities were
Wakefield [1752), Stourbridge {1788), Kidderminster [1782],
Bewdley {1786}, Bridport {1794), Bath {1795), Boston [1819) and
Dover [1819].

The persistence of the large chapel, where an auditorivm was
the essential requirement, meant that the structural problem of
roofing a wide span still remained. Various solutions to this
problem were wied out. At Paradise Street, Liverpool {1791), an
ingenicus system of king-post and radiating beams was devised by
'an lrishman by the name of Wynne’, the architect in the initial
stages of building the octagonz) chapel. At Lewin's Mead [1791), 2
comptetely new idea was introduced, by suspending the ceiling on
chains. At Belper |1788), a cornparatively small chapel was created
out of the upper segment of a cube, the lower segments on either
side forming a burial vaule and part of a carctaker's cottage, with
the auditorinm raked above. But the biggest innovation was the
Octagon Chapel, Norwich, built in 1756 by Thomas Ivory. Using
the supporting columns on the periphery of the octagonal seating
area, an open central space was created. Whether Ivory was the
originator of tbis idea, or whether he was prompted by the large
and influential congreganion led by its minister, the eminent
theologian Rev. John Taylor, we do not know, but it was certaioly
tbe first octagonal ecclesiastical building to be erected. Wesley's
visit to the Octagon may have been seminal in 1hat numerous
Methodist octagonal chapels were subsequently buile, as well as 2
few Unitarian ones; [the best-known, the Octagon Chapel, 1763,
subsequently Anglican, now dcmolished, and Paradise Street,
1791, demolished 1849 — both in Liverpool).

In many chapels of this period, the load-bearing pillars are of
cast-iron, as they were in faciories and warehouses built at the
same time. At Stourbridge and Lye, the builders introduced iron
window frames.

The style of the meeting-hoase had long been Ravoured with a
classical ingredient such as the ‘classical’ pediment, albeit in
hurmable brick, at Chesterfield, Wakefield and Bridgwater. Mary
Street, Taunton, and the Octagon, Norwich, employed the
classical orders on interior columns. Sometimes, in the coursc of
restoration, a ‘classical’ facade was added to an earlier, more
modest, vernacular ope, as at Lincoln and Newington Green.

During the period of Greek-revival architecrure of 1820-30,
when the work of Sir Robert Smirke and Decimus Burion was
fashionable, several Unitarian chapels were built in chis style. The
best-known, and only onc now active as a Unitarian chapel, is
Brighton. Others were at Diss, Norfolk {1822); Stamnford Street,
London, where the facade alonz remains (1823); Warcham (1830];
Little Portlang Streetr, London, now demolished {1833); and the
recently-demolished St. Vincent Street Chapel, Glasgow [1856].
Apart from the Grecian (acadcs, the area behind remained a
‘preaching box’ on raditional dissenting lines. The classical idiom
did not inspire the design of the interior.

But times were changing. Two new Unitarian chapels were built
in 1839.

In the relatively new London suburb of Brixton, a congregation
had been formed and a chapel was soon after built. It had a high
gzble flanked by wurrets, and 2 large rose window which, according
1o the architect R. P. Jones (no great lover of the Gothic siyle)
probably appeared to the building committee to be no less traly
Gothic than the west front of Rheims Cathedral’.

Mare noteworthy, however, was the opening of Upper Brook
Street Chapel in Manchester. The Unitatian congregation of
Moseley Strect dared from 1789. It was founded in response to the
more assertive Unitarianism of Priestley and Lindsey; the
Protestant Dissenters’ Almanac of 1811 refers 1o Cross Stueet, 2
seventeenth century foundation, as Presbyterian, Moscley Street
as Unitarian. Its members included an affluent and intellectual
section of Manchester society led by their minister, Rev. J. J.
Tayler. In spite of destruction in the 1792 riots, the congregation
survived, and in 1839 buile their new chapel at Upper Brook Strcet,
commissioning Sir Charles Barry as architcct. Three years earlier,

Parliament. He was riding on the high tide of success, and had just
completed the Royal Manchester Institation {now the Art Gallery,
1835} and the Athenaeum in Moseley Street {1839). The Unitarian
congregation demonstrated, 1n their choice of architect, the fact
that they had *arrived’. Not only was the architect the best that
money could buy; the style was completely new for a dissenting
chapel. Upper Brook Street was built nearly twenty years after the
first Neo-Gothic church in the area [Barry had designed Stand
Parish Church in 1822}, but it claims to be the first nonconformist
chapel in Neo-Gothic style. Like the Houscs of Parliament, it is a
rectangular shape in Gothic dress; it has 2 plaster ceiling, galleries,
and an impressive central puipit in the traditional dissenting
pattern. It was opened by James Martineau on September 1st,
1839. In spite of the superficiality of its Gothic style, Upper Brook
Street was a landmark and a precursor of many Gothic Unitarian
churches to come.

Upper Brook Street, Manchester.

Stomford Street, London. Only the
poriico remaing
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Belper: Ficld Row Unitarian Chapel, Green
Lane. Decbyshire. Dated 1788. House-worship
from 1689; first chapel 1721 in Green Lane [pow
Sunday School, enlarged 1855). The 1780s were
a period of enormous industrial growth in
Belper, with Jedediah Strutt’s development of
local water-power for cotton-spinning. He built
mills in 1778, 1786, 1795, 1804, Swruu, a
dissenter, built Field Row Chapel to serve his
growing workforce.

It seems that only the hipped roof rectangle
was built in 1788, when the pulpit would have
been on the short wall, facing the tiered congreg-
ational pews {moved 10 present location 1906).
The extensions containing Sunday School
benches were probzbly added at a similar time to
the building of the cowage, circa 1820. It is
likely that access was then to the present rear of
the chapel, frome the Sunday School on Green
Lane.

T shaped plan. Sandstone with hipped roof,
round-arched windows and cantilevered stone
staircase to gallery. Interior has unique
construction with tiered seating on cach side
sloping to middle aisle, with Strutt {family vault
under congregational box-pews and part of
caretaker’s cottage under the Sunday School
benches {Strutt established schools at the mills).
Two cruciform iron columns. Clock of 1788 by
John Whitchurst of Derby. Memorials to Strutt
jamily and others.

Front of chapel faces small graveyard, rear
adjoins gardens of mill-workers’ covtage ‘Rows'.

Billingshurst Unitarian Free Christian Church,
High Street. Sussex. 1754, Founded in the same
yeat, from Horsham Chapel. First preacher and
founder, Williara Evershed, is buried in
graveyard.

Chapel set in Jagge graveyard with many fine
headstones, at end of long approach from rosd.
Small, patterned brick; tile roof with overbanging
eaves; segmental arched mullioned and
wansomed windows. Vestry at rear 1825,
incorporates baptistery {previously used stream).

Interior has simple pews and rear choir
gallery. Six-bracket chandelier and clock by
Inkpen of Horsham.

‘A delightful plain rural chapel, with the men
and women siting on different sides, the
deacons crouching round a table at front of the
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pulpit, the singers in the gallery, the hymns
introduced by the wail of a pitch pipe.’
{I. Dendy, Record of my Life, 1878)

Boston Unitarian Chapel, Spain Lape.
Lincolnshire. 1819. Founded 1804.

Mellow red brick, three bays square with
hipped roof. Well-proportioned {acade, round-
arched door, windows with interlaced tracery.

Interior little alttered apart from Victorian pine
pews; original gaslight fittings at pew ends. Rear
gallery supported on four fluted Doric columns.
All woodwork is of excellent workmanship, but
pride of place goes to central pulpit, mahogany,
classical style with Doric pillars; deacons area
below. Art Nouveau stained glass screen forms
vestry at front.

Graveyard and garden at rear with sorne wall
memorizls. Gothic style caretaker’s house
adjoins. Chapel now faces busy bypass road —
which also caused demolition of General Baptist
chapel of 1804 |congregations amalgamated by
raid 19¢th Century).

Bridport Unitarian Chapel, East Street. Dorset.
1794 Founded 1672. Original chapel probably
1690. In 1791 demolished as 'extreamly mean in
its appearance, unbecoming the respectability
and opulence of the society, incommodious
both to the speakers and hearers, insufficient for
the accommodation of all those who worship
there, and, morcover, in a very decayed and
ruinous condition’. Bridport manufactured nets
and ropes, supplying most maritime needs in
the 18th century, Merchants and town
corporation were largely dissenters. The new
chapel was paid for by subscribers among the
congregation andg friends and by pew-rents [po:
freeholds, as previously). Built on the site of the
Crown Inn, alongside town ditch. Total cost
£1,942 1s 3d. No designer or architect can be
traced; possibly Rev Samuel Fawcett, leading
instigator of the rebuild, though not the
minister of the chapel; cne Hyde is paid bills for
joinery repairs, snd joinery is by far the largest
item in the cost of building.

Plain, brick painied white with a side wall of
stone. Two-storied facade with 3 bays, round-
arched windows and semi-circular [onic pillared
portice. 'Unitarian Chapel’ was carved abave
the portice in 182). Hipped roof. Chapel faccs
down long graveyard to road, with fine
memorials to prominent Bridport citizens,
many net-makers.




Interior, spacious with lonic pillars of marbled
wood supporting three large galleries, back
gallery for singers, sides for Sunday School;
special pews for teachers ar right-angles 1o
supervise; two cntrances direct from galleries to
Sunday School at rear, added 1840. Downstairs,
pulpit on short wall, box-pcws with special
accommodation for mayor znd corporation.
Pews re-arranged mid-19th century. Clock by
Matthews of Bridport.

Brighton Unitarian Church, New Road, Sussex.
1820.

In 1791 the Calvinistic Baptist congregation
in Bond Street was joined by William Stevens, a
[ollower of the American Baptist-Universalist,
Rev Elhapan Winchester. ‘The main split . . .
came on the issuc of eternal punishment for evil
doers. Stevens influenced other members . . .
and on Qctober 13, 1793, it was decided that all
those who could not accept the doctrine of
everlasting Hell should be expelled. 19 members
were thus excommunicated.” After joining the
General Baptist Assembly, they came under the
leadership of Dr Morell, headmaster and
¢lassical scholar. A plot of land was bought from
the Prince Regent for £650. Morell had the
theory that a modern church should resemble a
Greek temple; design is based on the Temple of
Thesens as illustrated in Millar's Ancient
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Brighton.

Architecture. It is described in the Royal
Broghton Guide of 1827 as ‘built after the
manner of a heathen temple’; and in The
Stranger in Brighton of 1822 as 'this very elegant
and truly classical building’.

Stucco facade, four Doric columns and
pediment, originally with Creek inscription.
Interior was pure dissenting meetinghouse,
plzin cube with central pulpit and box-pews;
now modernised. Meeting rooms adjacent added
c.1880. Organ from Essex Church, London.
Stained glass memorigls include one 1o
proprieiress af the Theatre Royal {across road).

Bristol: Lewin's Mead Meceting. 179].
Congregation dates from Ejection of Rev John
Weeks, one of seven ejected clergy in Bristol;
first chapel 1694, Murch described the chapel in
1835; *Besides commodious vestries aitached o
the chapel, the congregation possesses other
eligible buildings on the seme spot. When the
chapel was built, stables and coach-houses were
provided for the accommodation of the
worshippers. Over the stables is 2 lecture room
built in 1818 . . . here the intermediate school is
taught and the chapel library kept.' Further
extcosive rooms built 1826, mostly for
educational purposes, during the influential
ministry of Lanc Carpenter |1780-1840).
Memorials 10 him aand his daoghter, Mary

Carpenter, the social 1eformer {1807-77) are in
the chapel.

Architect, William Blackbume. Scone,
classical design. Central pediment over semi-
circular porch. Lower floor of rusticated stong;
upper floor has large wri-partite window with
semi-circular top in centre of each elevation,
and three such behind pulpit ac rear. The whole
exterior is yeminiscent of a mansion-house {18th
century members included Jord mayors of
Bristol}.

Interior, very broad and spacious [similar
proportions to Wakefield). Excellent pulpit
centre of rear wall. Mahogany box pews for
2,000 sittings {imported through Bristol Docks).
Two side palleries and organ gallery with
choirstalls over entrance. Coffered ceiling
suspended from the roof oo chains. Many
memerials on pulpit wall, including one to
Rammohun Roy [1780-1833), founder of the
liberal Hiodu movement, Brahmo Somaj, who
died while on a visit to Mary Carpenter.

Many anciliary roorns and caretaker’s house
at side and rear of chapel, built jnto the cliff face
below Christmas Steps. The future of the chapel
is uncertain,

Cradley, Netherend Chapel, Park Lane.
Worcestershire, 1796,
Original Meeting-house of 1707 was at

Lewin's Mead, Bristol.

Pensnet Meadow, destroyed 1715; rebuily 1716,
sold to Methodists 1796. Presear chapel built by
Rev James Score. Set in open, semai-industrial
couniry — an area of collierics, nail and chain-
rmaking.

Pauzerned brick made on the spot the previous
summer; plain well-proportioned round arched
windows with interlaced tracery. Bell-tower and
spire added 1864, Interior: pulpit sei in chancel,
also added 1864. Callery with large central
organ, orgamsts’ memorial plaques and choir
stalls. Large verdant graveyard with many good
memorials. Substantial parsonage of 1753 stood
close by, Small school {also 1753?) along track
— now used for light indusury.

Dover Unitarian Church, Adrian Street. Kent.
1819.

One of the oldest General Baptist foundations
{1643); Captain Taverner of Cromwell’s army
{see Deal] was a founder-member. Second
chape) built 1745, enlarged 1793. Present chapel
built 10 house large following of Benjamin
Martin, disciple of Universalist William Vidler.

Yellow brick, octagonal. Two matchiog
venetiazn windows on opposite sides with
pediments over; slate yoof, formerly with bell-
cote. Plain arched windows of good proportions.

[nterior: original plain  box-pews; pulpit
moved to one side when semi-circular organ
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chamber added late 19th century. Rear curving
zallery supported on four iron pillars. Architect
Thomas Read.

Meering hall of 1971, built as compensation
for road encroachment. Small garden.

Exeter: George's Meeting, South Street. Devon.
1760, Founded 1662.

Originally there were five dissenting
congregations in Exeter, with much scope for
schismatic opinions. 'Presbyterianisio was very
acceprable 1o successful merchants, for it gave
them a degree of control over religious affairs
which would have been impossible in the
Church or England, or in the more democratic
organisations of the Baptists, Independents and
Quakers, all of whom were active in Exeter.!
Hallett's dissenting academy was active in
Exeter in 1720s and '30s, when Trinitarian-
Unitarian controversy was rife. Re-alignment of
congregations led to foundiog of George's
Meeting in 1760.

Impressive facade of red brick and stone
dressings; Tuscan porch and arched parapet.
Segmental arched windows te ground floor and
round-arched windows to first floor, front and
sides.

Spacicus interior with high quality
workmanship gives an impression of opulent
good taste in spite of neglect. One of the carliest
chapels to have pulpit on shart wall. Very fine
1wo-decker pulpit with canopy and carved
drapery swmounted by cross. Box pews. Gallery
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on three sides supported on square lonic timber
pillars. Good stained glass.
Chapel now deserted, fate uncerain,

Godalming: Meadrow Unitarian Chapel,
Famcombe. Surrey. 1789,

Ceneral Bezptist foundation. 'Wed june 4th
1783, at a church meeting held at Bro. Wm.
Evershed's at Eashing, Godalming, it was agreed
that a more convenient Place of Public Worship
may conduce much to the Ease and prosperity of
this chapel. Agreed that a mecting house Be
Erected a1t Meadrow Godalming for that
purpose.’

Brick and stucco with stone queins, three
round-arched windows back and froat; porch
added later. Brick couwage of 1821 attached.
Chape] faces down long graveyard with many
memorials to road entrance, where new Gothic
chapel was built 1870. Original chapel became
Sunday School. In 1976 roles reversed; chapel at
the gate now being the meeting-room-cum-
school. Chapel interior cleared of pews {some
line walls); back gallery (now enclosed);
baptistry under floor. Good row of hat pegs.

Chape) rear faces towards River Wey.

Great Hucklow, The Qld Chapel. Derbyshire.
1796.

Congregation founded 1696 by William
Bagshawe, 'Apostle of the Peak’. His brother
John, made High Sheriff lor Derbyshire in that
year, lived at the Qld Hall nearby; he probably

——
.y

Left to nght Exerer: Exeter pulpit, Cradiey; Godalming

gave William shelter and use of 2 bam, possibly
that on the south of Grindlow Lane. It is not
clear whether the prescnt chapel replaced an
carlier one. Gritstone, set lengthwise to the road
in a small graveyard. Porch with bellcote, and
gallery added 190! when interior refumished;
schoolrcorn behind pulpit. Mernorials. Former
parsonage 200 yards north in village street.

Kidderminster, New Meeting House, Church
Street. Worcestershire. 1782, remodelled
1870-83. Founded 178] when dissenting con-
gregation [established by Richard Baxter when
ejected from the parish church) disagreed on the
choice of a new minister. The less Calvinistic
{and more prosperous] group, including carpet
manufzcturer Nicholas Pearsall, withdrew from
original meeting house and subscribed to
building of “The New Meeting-House’,

Chapel is situated at the end of long approach
from Church Street, with graveyard at side. 'The
building was originally of the old square barn
shape and appcarance, 39 feet long and 36 [eet
broad’.

In 1870 it was re-pewed and the threc-decker
pulpit replaced with a single-decker. Large scale
extensions 1879: chancel added ‘in
perpendicular siyle, so as to harmonise as
perfectly as possible with the old building’;
gallery renewed 'with some preuty perforated

work in pitch pine’, incorporating organ
chamber in rear gallery. Architect, |. M. Gething
of Kidderminster. In 1883 chapel lengthened by
25 feet incorporating a vestibule. New facade
built of red sandstone with lighter stone
detailing, ‘ogee’ windows and doors; also carved
open parapet, four pinnacles and bell turret — all
removed 1935, leaving the chapel with present
shorn appearance. At the sides 'the old ugly
wooden windows and frames were removed and
the openings enlarged. Stone windows with
cusped and traceried heads, glazed with
cathedral glass in various tints were
substituted’. Internally, ceiling panelled with
stained timber and ‘chancel enriched with a
handsome dado of encaustic tiles by Messrs.
Maw and Co. of Broseley’. Architects, Payne
and Talbor of Birmingham; cost £2,500.

Below the chancel arch is Richard Baxter's
pulpit daung from 1621 — a fine exarople of

" Jaccbean woodwork. [t was thrown out of the

parish church as rubbish and bought by Pearsall
in 1785. Good memorizls including Lant Car-
penter and Nicholas Pearsall [whose gravestone
stands outside chapel doors). Stained glass,

At side of the chapel, now demolished, were
Grammar and Charity Schools built by Pearsall
1792, endarged 1865; part of these buildings later
housed the library. Also Sunday School, enlarged
1883 (classes begun by Pearsall in 1730},
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Kingswood Meeting House, Packhorse Lane,
Birmingham. 1793.

Qriginal chapet founded and built in 1708 at
Dark Lane, burnt by mob in 1715; rebuilt and
again destroyed by mob in 1791. Chapel and
parsonage rebuilt neartby with compensation
money. Set back from road in large graveyard ip
open country. Large number of gravestones,
18th century to present day.

Reconstruction of 1874 has all but oblicerated
earlier characrer, though surroundings remain
idyllic. Brick; porch, chancel, roof and walls
above window height of 1874. Lower side wall
has bricks of 1792 incised with builders’ names:
B. & 5. Greves, Thos Greves, John Redditch.
Fzcade now has broad 3-bay porch with gallery
over middle bay. Semi-circular, segmental and
pointed arches feature in the presemt confusing
elevation. Interior completely Gothicised;
raftered roof, singers’ gallery over porch, chancel
with organ chamber. Simple stained glass; pitch
pine pews. Marble mermorials, including Rev
James Tapiin 1882 with bas-relief portrait.

Schoolrooms of 1890 10 1ear; parsonage next
door also 1793.

Moretonhampstead, Devon.

Two chapels, linked from 1835 onwards, but
both continued in use. General Baptist in Fore
Street [founded before 1650 by Anabaptist
woollen workers). Buile 1796, closed 1966 and
now a min. Similar proportions 10 Cross Street
but with rectangular windows. Presbyterian in
Cross Street, built 1802 |founded 1662 by Rev
Robert Woolcombe).

Stone, rendered. Pyramid slate roof. Front
facade has two-storcy plain windows, sides and
rear two long round arched windows. Builder
came from Exeter, used materials from previous
chapel of 1693. Interior; concave gallery over
entrance with nice woodwork. Central pulpit
flanked by stained glass windows in memory of
Susan and Thomas White, 1873. Chiming
Parliament clock from Crediton. Memorial to
Edward Bowring. [Moretonhampstead was the
home of the Bowring [amily. Sir John Bowring
was author of 'In the Cross of Christ 1 Glory'.
Thomas Bowring donated the Public Library and
built coctage terraces and parsonage ¢ 1895}

An attractive chapel, set in walled graveyard
with good memorials, looking over Bovey
Valley 10 Dartmoor.

Newport, 10W Unitarian Meeting House, High
Sucet. 1774. Congregation founded 1726. First
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chapel 1728. Brick, rendered and brighdy
painted. Naive Gothic.

Hung slates on side and back walls. Set back
from street with long graveyard, caretaker's
cottage at side. Enlarged 1825; either then or
later, facade and windows Cothicised. Interior
cleared of pews and modernised. Back gallery
with iron pillars bolding organ. Large Victorian
schoolroom at back.

Northiam Unitarian Chapel, Dixter's Road.
Sussex. 1795 and 1810. {Datestone).

Founded 1796 from Brigbton on initiative of
Rev William Vidler Brick, hipped tiled roof.
Intcrior has pine pews and open roof with simple
trasses, very rodest.

Norwich: Octagon Chapel, Colegate. Norfolk.
1756.

Rev John Collinges ejected from St Siephen’s
Church, ‘but his people loved him and
purchased a place of worship for him in Colegate
in 1687 on the former Blackfriars convent
ground’. {Intervening meetings had been held in
the convent.] The congregation flourished, and
during the ministry of the eminent theologian
Rev John Taylor (1733-1757) the chapel was
rebuilt on the same site by Thomas ivory
{1709-1779). Ivory was also responsible for the
Methodist Meeting of 1753 and the Assembly
Rooms of 1754, In 1757 he built and became
manager of the Norwich Theame. He was
deseribed i his will as ‘builder and timber
merchant’.

First octagonal place of worship. Brick.
Portico with four lonic columns. Two upper and
two lower sash windows on each of scven sides,
three windows over entrance. Bulis-eye dormer
windows in octagonal roof,

Most impressive interior. Eight huge wooden
pillars with elaborate Corinthian heads support
continuous gallery and terminate in arches
which suppart the roof. Special seats for mayor
and aldermen. Sword-rests for official regalia.
Memorials. [nterior was originally ‘marbled by
an eminent anist from London’. Total cost
£5,174, nearly all raised by the congregation. Re-
pewed, organ and pulpit wall rearranged 1889.

Martineau Memonal Hall 1907 by Chatfeild
Clarke at side of forecourt. James Martineau was
member of prominent Unitarian family in
Norwich.

John Wesley visited the Octagon in 1757 and
adopted this plan for several of his chapels in

Ceiagon Chapel, Norwich,

subsequent years. He wrote: 'Wednesday,
December 23rd, 1757, [ was shown Dy Taylor's
new meeting house, perhaps the most elegant
one in all Europe. [t is eight square, built of the
finest brick, with sixteen sash-windows below,
as many above, and eight sky-lights in the
dome, which indeed are purcly omamental. The
inside is fumished in the highest taste, and is as
clean as zaoy nobleman’s salcon. The
commumon-table is fine mahogany; the very
latches of the pew-doors are polished brass. How
can it be thought that the old coarse gospel
should find 2dmission here!”

Stourbridge Presbyterian Chapel, Lower High
Street. Worcesiershire, 1788.

Philip Foley, ironmaster, was a stTong
supporier of the dissenting cause and had a
private chapel in the grounds of his house. His
chaplain, Rev George Flower, became the first
pastor of the Dissenters’ Meeting House in
Stourbridge. This was built by Richard Baker

circa 1698 behind his house in Coventry Streer.
Burmt down by mob 1715 but rebuilt within a
year.

At the Covernment Commission of 17186, set
up to assess reparations for property destroyed
by riot, John Conguest, carpenter and joiner
stated that he had helped to build the original
chapel, and estimated that to rebuild it would
cost £82 8s 3d. This was confirmed by John
Wright of Bromsgrove. Thomas Parker, mason,
also helped to build the chapel 16 years before.
The 'Meeting House was 38° in length, 21' 1)~
in breadth and 17° 9" in heighe from the flower
10 the wall plate’ . .. 'Cost of bricks, 1yles,
time, hayre, sand, masons workmanship and
laths and other things would be £34 95 6d°. John
Bankes, glazier testified that the cost of
‘casements, barrs, and workmanshipp . . . £6
195 2d". Joseph Carpenier, trustee, claimed £4 6s
for time overlooking the workmen.

Rebuilt on new site during ministry of Rev
Benjamin Carpenter. Urban seuing in the best
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street in Stourbridge, rising o the canal past
shops and town houses to Town Hall. Chapel
and day school in paved yard with gates at front.

Classical brick facade with pediment and
porch; inscription over door ‘AD 1788 Hoc
Templum Aedificacum’. Three iron-framed
round-arched windows 10 front and four to sides.

Interior: excellent woodwork; wainscotiing
from old chapel, box-pews, doors with refined
fanlights. Small rear gallery added 1794 with
Sunday School seats, supported on two iron
fluted Doric columns. Chance) added ¢.1860
with impressive Corinthian arch. Present organ,
which fills chancel, added as a memornial in
1913, Organ screen 1896 by Percy Worthington,
also choir stalls. Clock. Standarg lights rising
from pews, originally gas. Fine series of
memorial tabiets, inciuding Scotts and
Waorthingtons.

Styal: Norcliffe Chapel. Cheshire. 1824,
Founded 1824 by Samuei Greg as part of the
model village for his workers at Quarry Bank
Mill. Greg, a Unitarian cotton manufacturer,
also built the Methodist chapel in the village.
The Mill is now the National Museum of che
Textile Industry, owned by the National Trust.
Brick with haif timbered porch and bellcote.
Chancel added and windows Gothicised 1867.
Ioterior also Gothic with open roof. Memorials
1o Gregs.
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Wakefleld: Westgate Chapel. Yorkshire 17352.
Congregation founded 1662. Ambitious design,
possibly the work of Robert or John Carr
Replaced the earlier meeting house of 1697
which stood in Wesigate End and suffered
flooding from Alverthorpe Beck; graveyard and
parsonage survived tili early 20th century.

Traditional site arrangement of chapel at end
of long approach and graveyard, now opened up.
Red brick with classical pedimaent across full
width of facade; bell-cote at apex. Two classical
doors flank venetian window, three windows
above with rusticated stone surrounds. At sides,
three round-arched windows in recessed panels.
Four windows at back — two either side of
pulpit with stained glass.

Interior has woodwork of high qualiry. Tall
central pulpit with sounding-board and flanking
staircases dates from 1737, brought from earlier
chapel. Regewed 1882 in walnut, but retaining
original orientation, Former box pews re-used as
wall panclling. Rear gallery with orgap of 1847,
supported on iron columns encased in timber
with arcading between. Side galleries added
1790, now removed. Tumber-panelled ceiling of
considerable span. Memorials include Daniel
Gaskell of Lupsett Hall, first MP for Wakefield.

Under chapel are barrel-vaulted catacombs
with tombs containing remains of gentry, sealed
with inscribed slaies. {The congregation was
described in late 18th century as ‘from the

Opposite: Stourbrdge. Above: Wokefield.

wealth and influence of several of its leading
farpilies . . . perbaps the most considerable in
the North of England’.)

Passageway leads under Back Lane from
chapel to schoolrepms — formerly the orangery
of Pemberton House, owned by the Milnes
famity, leading cloth merchants in Wakefield
and early benefactors of the chapel. Delicate
classical design, single storey of stone, round-
arched windows with iron tracery. Surrounded
by evocative garden coptaining burial
monurncnts; caretaker's house ar entrance.

Warwick Unitarian Chapel, High Street. 1780.

Congregation dates from ¢ 1635; first met on
the boundary of Warwick Castle precinct; land
for present chapel given by Lord Warwick in
exchange for original site which he wanrted to
enclose in castle grounds.

Stone front and rear, brick sides; small fore-
court, graveyard bchind. Restored and Goth-
icised 1863. Stone facade added with two arched
windows and cenwal doorway; roof tepitched;
chancel, gallery and vestry added.

During 1963-83 the pulpit has been replaced
by eagle lectern from New Meeting
Birmingham, the chancel has been cleared of

choirstalls, organ and aliar, the unusual raked
floor with original box-pews bas been removed
and the gallery blocked in.

Diamond clock. Memorials to the Field
family {Rev William Field minister 1789-1843,
his son Edwin Wilkins Pield MP saw Dissenters’
Chapels Act of 1844 through Parliament).

Woodhall Spa Presbyterian Chapel, Mill Lane.
Lincolnshire. 1821,

Congregation  worshipped from ¢.1663 in
chapel of 13tk century Cistercian Abbey of
Kirkstead {now Anglican Church of St Leonard),
endowed by the Disney family with a Presby-
terian roinister. Rev John Taylor, later of
Norwich [qv} was minister 1715-1733. Anglican
Disney heir dispossessed the Presbyterians in
the late 18th century; result was a long court
case. Chapel was awarded to the Disneys but
endowment went to the congregation. Mill Lanc
Chapel was built 134 miles away {Spa warter was
discovered three years fater in 1824),

Brick, small, utterly plain, segmental azched
windows. Large graveyard with yew irees and
many gravestones. Minute caretaker's house
attached at back {now meeting rooms). Interior
venovared 1981, chairs replaced benches.
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Disused and
Demolished Chapels

Alnwick, Comeetnion House Yerd, off Market Place.
Northumberiand, 1817. Closed 1862, now demnclished.

Ashwick, Pound Chapel, Downside Sorncrset. 1758, Closed
18R see "Ofd Mendip® by Robin Atchil]]

Bath, Trim Street. Somerset. 1795 Replaced chapel of 1692
in New Bond Sureer. Bath stone, live round-arched windows;
peditnented apsc added 1860 Arshiteq, Palmer. Among
ministers, lsionians Jerom Murch and Joseph Huoter,
Closed 1969, now 2 resiaurant,

Battle, Mount Street. Sussex. 1789, Closed 1897, demolishued
1958, Brick, 3 bays. Arched windows, parapet hiding hipped
rool. Good design, bad loss,

Bewdley, High Street, Worcestershire. €.1778, Set back from
raral end of strees mn lazpe graveyard, Replaced timber-framed
chapel of 1698, Brick, clliptical ends, exvernal staircase
{recenmily enclosed;. Shaliow uled ool Ioterior hias lose box
pews and pulpat but retains curved galiery. Closed 1894;
since 1933, Roman Catholic Chureh of the Holy Famaly.
Worth visiting,

Biddenden, Kemt ¢.1834, Closed 1868. General Bapnst
ferandaton of 1648.

Birmingham: Paradise Meering, Livde Cannon Sireet. 1869,
Replaced chape] of €. 1790 tn Paradise Sueer, closed 1814,

Bradwell, Derbyshure. 1754, Limestone with 3 gristooe
mullinned and wansomed windows cach side, Graveyard at
side S:uuared at wop of village, cnce dependent on lead
miming. Ciosed 1954 Now a scout centie,

Bridwell Hall, near Ulfculme, Devon 1792 Hechard Hall
Clarke, owner of Hall and 2 Unitarian {d 1821], hudde a chapel
bere [sec County Life 19th March 1981).

Cranbrook, High Sueet Kent. Dawed 1807, Large Regency
style; 3 bays with coped gable Brick. Graveyard behind.
Buill by Benjamin Dobel) after sphit of Frec-Thinking
Christians from General Baptists. Closed 1875, now the
Cramp Institote

Crof, Lady Lane. Lancashire 1839 Originated at Rislcy in
1707 from which Unitarians were expelled {Chapel there
demclished 1971 — in path of M62 motonyvay] Closed 1959
and demolished, though gravevard survives, neatly
maintained by Warrington Corporation.

Devonpon, Ker Street. Chapel bwlt 1701 with loan from
Theophilus Lindsey. Adiacent to dockyard, and damaged in
anti-French riots. Closed and sold for £1,000 in 1806 Now
the "Old Chape) Inn’. Granite 3 bays squarc with poech,
pediraented gable and curcular windaws, New chapel opeaed
1829 in Granby Strect. Larger chapel built 1864 m Duke
Strect. Closed 1913, demohished md 196075 Cothic with
spire, architect Alfred Norman,
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Digs, Parkiicdds. Norfolk. 1822 Founded 1697 a1 Palgrave
Suffolk), one mile south, where the graveyard survives
Striking classical facade i stucco, square with hipped roof.
Good sening above the Mere. Now a muasonic lodge.

Duffield, oo *ye new road 1o Wirkswonth' Derbyshire. 1766.
Lease Erorn Henry Cloape of Dufiield Hali; lease not renewed
m 1842, services in scheol ol closure w 1867 Chapel
survives, much altered, as workshop.

Durham, Claypath. Presbyteran chapel of 1751 bebind
presem Cothic church. Mow used as schoolroom. Red brick
with pediment and round-arched windows.

Falmguth, Killgrew Stest. Comwall An old theatre
converted to chapel 1818, Closed c.1854.

Flagg, Derbyshue 1839, Limestone; simple Gothic with
lancet windows and belleote. Closed 1963 but used by FOY
Sociely and Anglcans.

Gulliford and Lympstonc, Devon. 1774, Fust chapel 1689,
Closed 1888, dernolished 1907 b graveyard surnives Round
arched windows and unusual elipical pavapet, 1819, Rev
John Jervis minister of Guillford buili new chapel a mile
2way ip Lympstong; closed 1887 and now demobished.

Hanley, 10l Strect. Staffordshire. 1824, Christian Brethren
foundatwn. Closed by 1862, One of several congregatiuns in
the Pottenes out one of the {ew 1o budd a chapel.

Readcorn Kent. 1819, General Baptist, now reverted (0
Baptist Uman. Brick, 3 bay front in 2 storeys, pedimented
gable insenbed 'Unitarian Baprist 1819, Graveyard.

King's Lyan, Norolk. Twe congregations: Presbyterian
chapel <1700 m Spinnars Lane (onow Paradise Road),
Umtarian Bapusy ‘Salemn Chapel’ 1812 stood 1ill 1978,
rcached down alley adjacert 127 Norfolk, Streer. Bnck,

shghtly projecung porch, round-arched windows and hipped
roof Congregation moved 1875 o chapel in Broad Sueer.
The Broad Street and Paradise Street areas have been woeally
redeveloped, peither chapel survives.

Leawoed, Church Swee, near Matloek. Derbyshire. Chapel
endowed by Nightingzle family who hved at Lea Hurst
Closed ¢.1900, later wsed by Methodists. Lower walls
survive, enclosing a garden Parsonage adjacent sunaves

Liverpool: Octagon Chapel, Temple Court. 1763, Closed
1776, now demolished [see chaprer 4).

Londen:

Not surprisingly, there are several ¢xiinet congreganons in
inner London, whilst others haved moved from the centre
with the ourward growth of the capital.

Bermondscy, Dockhead [General Bapnist] Closed 1863
Bishopsgate ~ Finsbury, Founded 1793 by Rev. Elhapen
Winchester in athament Court off Antitlery Lane. London
swock brick. Now a synagoguee. Congregation moved 20 South
Place, Finshury 1824, Remained ol 1927 when office bleck
built. (A plaque records the site over River Mate House' It
has large classical facade, pediment, leunic pillars.
Congregation became South Place Ethical Secicty, now
mectng 1 Red Lien Square).

Blackiriars, Stamford Seeer. 1823, Closed 1962, Classical
facade with six colunms, entablature and  pedinent,
‘surpnising in ns Greck Dane seventy, wedged i between
parmal law Georgian ieraced bouses' [Pevsper] Only the
facade 15 presssaad, fronag a playground, Chapel was the
result of ite: amalgamainn in 1623 of the St Thumas’
congregatien Southwark) and that founded 1666 in Tothill
Street, Weasminster

Borough, No 26 Cales Suert Now a factory but reraining
some chapel features,

Cletkenwell, 51, John's Square. Founded 1808, buili 1832,
Kpown as 'The Sociaty of Free-Thmbking Christians’.
Amalgamated with Dingley Ulace Mission [see chaprer 4]

Opposie: above, Bath; below, Devonport, This page:
lefr. Bewdicy: right, Headcom.

1877. Tudar-styled facade, demotished.

Righbgaic, Southwood Lane Five bays, arched windows. Now
a synagoguc,

Litde Porland Sureet. 1833, Founded 1824 in Duke of Yotk
Street Restrained classical, 3 bay ashlar facade, portico wath
two Tuscan columns, pedimenced doorcase in recess. Closed
1909, demolished.

Shorediech, Worship Streer. 1779781 amalgamartion of 4
Geuneral Baptist chwrches, Closed by 1900.

London: Waltharnstow Old Meeuing, Marsh Surect, Essex.
Circa 1796, Unutanan ill 1825.

Manchesier, New Bradge Street, Strangeways., 1838,
Congregation founded 1818, Flegam classical stroetune
1903, comgregation moved out w 3632 Bury New Raad;
closed 1913, The shon-lived Creengate congregation |builc
1824, amalgamated with Strangeways in 1842

Manch : Plate Chapel, Wimislow Reoad 1791, Founded
1662 Replaced chapel of 1700 Bnck wath round-asched
wintdows of varying proportions. Porch 1874 Buelleate with
bell msenbed 'A.R. 1718, Coine away make no delay (see
Gateacre, chapter 21 Intenor Gothiaised Clased 1973 and
now used by photographie club.

Manchesier: Upper Braok Sireer. 1839. First thape] 178910
Mostey Sueet Recognised as the fnst neo-Goung
noncanforzust chapel Aschuest Sa Chardes Barry, Wesy
Frone decsnated by tall nbbed arch with recossed entance.
Syrnmettical side elevation; 7 lancer windows divided by
buntresses, pinnacles nsing at esch comer Intctior nmangle
with three-sided gallery and central pulpit 1 from of broad
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organ case on short east wall, rose window above Ribbed and
arched plaster ceiling. Closed 1921 Naw Centre for Islamue
Swdies, Interior divided.

Marshfield, High Sureet. Gloucestershire, 1752 Founded
1680 Traditional situation at ¢nd of long approach fom
sireet, A beaunful example of Cotswold vernacular, Ashlar
stonc Hipped stone slate roof. Symmctrical, rwe round
arched windows front and rear, ¢central dogr with date over;
sunthal at rear. Small graveyard at rear. [oterior retaing two
side gallerics Closed 1886, now Bntish Legion Hall, Siill
ymmediately recognisable a5 a2 mid 18th century chapel

Mountsprrel, The Creen. Leicestershire Mid 18th cenrury.
Mountsorre] gramte with gable end to road Much aliered.
Closed ¢ 1842, now a chemist's shop.

Newcastle-upon-Tyne, Pandron Bank. 1779, Closed 1836
Unitanan Baptist

North Shields. Northumberland 1832, Closed [846

Oldbury, Unity Place, Birtungham Street. Worcestershire.
1806 First ineetiog house 1708. Red brick with blue brick
detalmg 3 bays by 4, round-arched windows with iron
glazing bars Heavy monided pediment Interior altered 1862
and 1892 hut on classical rather than Gothee Mnes Schoot
added wm simdar style; 'Oidbury Free School 1851 on
pedimnent Later parsonage linked 1wo buldings ‘Making the
establishment very complete for educational and congre-
ganonal purposes’ {Eyre Evans] Demolished 198] — along
with most of the cenure of Oldbury

Ormskirk, Aughton Street. Lancashite 1783 Founded 1662
tn pnivate chapel at Scarisbrick IMall. First chapel 1696 w
Chapel Swreet Closed 1886, dernolished,

Presco1, Atherton Strect Lancashire. Founded and bwlt
1757 Closed 1878, sold to Methodists who rebadt Pulpat
now at Park Lane Chapel, Ashion-io-Makerfield,

Ripley, Butterley Hill jtop). Derbyshire. Founded and built
1811, Closed ¢, 1870, now a pair of houses Ashlar stone; 4
bays, middie 2 and end Tuscan porches set forward, parapet
Se1 back from road.

Rolvenden Layne, Kent Ceneral Bapnst foundavien Became
an Anglican Mission Hall, ¢. 1900 Dermohished

Royston, Henfordshire Chapel opened 1832 in former bam
at rear of 47 Upper King Street The Fordbam {amidy had a
long connecion wath Roysten and lived in front house, they
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were Umitarians (or ovet a century bt the chapel closed alter
death of Henry Fordham i 1894, Tunber-framed with
weather-boarding, 47 x 14 leet Now very decrepit (19814,

Saffron Walden, Hil Sreet Essex. Founded 1711 by Rabert
Cozens, Head Steward 2t Audley End. He adapted adjoining
house on Hali Strect as first chapel. Lacer chapel at rear built
1792, reached up long entry and graveyard. Essex vernacular;
square, stuccoed, double-hipped roof. 3-bay front wich sash
windows. Intenor putied and Cothicsed 1890, Closed 1930.
Now a clinic {or Essex County Council, nothing remains of
interior,

Sheffield: Norton. Founded 1672 at Moror Hall under
pauonage of Comelius Clarke [see Chesterfield, chapter 2)
The estate passed to the Shore [amily who buillt chapel 1794
at Bunting Nack on bowndary of esiate. Estate sold 1843 on
collapse of Shore banking imteresis, chapel closed, pulled
down 1853, Wmdows and door re-used m Holmsend
Wesleyan chapel nearby, Spewzier organ 15 now at Bastngs
chapel [sce chapter 4], Parsopage and school sull stand
opposite, now known as Norton Grange 1744 Chapel had 3
round-arched windows, ipped roof, well-dressed length of
wall opposite parsonage wdicates s Jocation.

Smarden, Smarden Bell. Kemt Eighteenth century
foundation Graveyard survives wuh good memonals,
inchading Hosmer famoily

Sobam, Cambridgeshire Founded and banlt 1810 by Rev john
Gisburne whose thenlogy changed from Wesleyan to Bapust
then Urutarian, iofluenced by Robert Aspland {sec Wicken).
Closed 1870, converted inwo cottapes, nos 5-9 Hall Sireer.
No 3 was parsonage Brick, segoental arches and hipped
roof.

Stainforth, East Street. South Yorkshire, Founded and built
1816, inspired by missioner Richard Wright. Closed 1854,
Derolished,

Stoncy Middleton, The Bank Digbyshire Founded by
Wolliam Bagshawe, ‘Apostle of the Pezk' Closed ¢ 1850,
became a reading-toom; converted to a house 1900.

Sunderland, Bridge Streer Co Durham. 31831, Classical
building 1 white brick Closed 1967, demolished 1970,

Sutton-in-Ashfield, Unwin Road. MNottinghamshire. 1791,
Patronage of Samuel Unwin, leading bosiery manufacturer in
town. Closed 1850, demolished.

Thorne, Orchard Street Yorkshure Founded and budli 1816,
inspired by Richard Wnght Sold to Congregationalists 1903,
re-fronted Demolhshed oud- 1970s.

Walsall, Stafford Swect Stalffosdshire. 1827 Fuesi chapet of
1700 in Cox's Court off High Street Damaged by mob 1710,
1743 and 1751, but rebudde, Brick with stuccoed front, 3 bays
with pilasters and pediment, demolished.

Warcham, South Sueet Dorset. 1830. Founded 1828 Set
back from road i narrow emry Plain classical style,
stuccoed front with promminent portico on 4 lonie pillars
Now a library

Wicken, Cambndgeshire. ¢ 1800, In grounds of fammly house
ol Rev Robert Aspland [1782-1845], 38 High Sweet Links
with Soharn, 2 miles actoss the len Could well be smallest
chapel i the cougiry

Opposite. left, Marshiield. nghi. Wareham This page’
Upper Brook Street, Manchester

Upper Brook Sticet, Manchester; under goilery.




CHAPTER FOUR

The Gothic Age:
1840-1918

Abover Mill Huil, Leeds, ¢. 1900,
70
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In the nineteenth, as in the cighteenth century, Unitarians were
distinguished by their role as civic leaders, and workers for social
good and improvements in health and education. By 1840 they had
also won the battle for civil rights; the Act of 1813 legalised cheir
teligion and in 1828, along with Roman Catholics, they benefitied
by the repeal of the Test and Corporaticn Acts.

During the early nineteenth century the travelling preachers
Richard Wright and Robert Aspland swengthened and founded
congregations, and produced influential periodicals such as The
Monthly Repository and The Christian Reformer. In 1841, Joseph
Barker was cxpelled from the Methodist New Connexion and
quickly formed a {ollowing of about 200 congregations, called
Christian Brethren or ‘Barkeritcs’ in the North and Midlands. He
was supported by Unitanans, including Sir John Bowring, who
gave him a printing press. Older congregations such as Newcastle-
under-Lyme and Bank Street, Bolton, welcomed the newer more
working-class Bretbren, and permanent chapels were built at
Mossley, Mottram and Pudsey. An identifiable Unitarian and Free
Christian Lody was thus fortified by small dissenting groups such
as the Methodist Unitarians, General Baptists, Free Christians and
Christian Brethren. In 1825 Unitarians established for the fixst
time a national organisation, the British and Foreign Unitarian
Association. The ¢onfident, rational Christianity of the dissenting
academies had been muted by the intolerance of the Napoleonic

period, but their efforts continued to bear fruit in the work of Rev.
Charles Wellbeloved at Manchester New College, York.

But a scrious challenge was at hand. In 1816 the Uniiarian
chapel in Jobn Swreer, Wolverhampton, was appropriated by a
trinitarian group and action at law failed 1o secure its return. In
1825 George Hadfield {a Manchester Calvinistic lawyer) published
The Manchester Sociman Coptroversy, maintzining that all
chapels with 2 Presbyterian foundation were righifully the
property of Orthodoxy, rather than the intembent Unitariang. The
chapel at Risley, near Warrington, was taken over, and the ousted
Unitarians were forced to re-build at nearby Crolt. In 1830 the
Hewley trust, founded in 1700 by Darme Sarah Hewley of York for
‘poor and godly mimsters of Christ's Gospel’, was taken out of
Unitarian bands by 2 court case, {inally lost by the Unitarians in
1842. It was now realised that chapels and funds alike would be
lost unless Parliamentary protection could be obtained. The
reformed Parliament of 1832 contained six Unitarian tmembers.
One was Edwin Wilkins Field, M.P. for Warwick, whose father had
beerr minister at the Warwick chapel. He accepted the
respansibility of seeing appropriate legislation through Parliament,
and in 1844 the Dissenters’ Chapels Act was passed, securing
chapels to the congregations who had worshipped in them for the
previous 25 years,

Now that Unitarians were safe in their own premises, reaewed
confidence led 1o new buiidings, renovations and extensions.
Confidence flowed into the movement. The swrength of non-
conformity in general was vevealed by the census of 1851, and )ater
by the unofficial survey of 1881-82. Nonconformist strength io the
House of Comrons, led for much of the time by the Scottish
Presbyterian, Gladsione, made Liberals the goveming force in
politics. Unitarians found acceptance in this scheroe of things —
unlike their predecessors of the ecighteenth century. No longer
ostracised, they incvitably Dbecame assimilated inwo the
Establishment. Children of wealthy Unitarians went to public
schools and to Oxford and Cambridge. Predominant in local
government, Unitarians mixed with the local gentry and aris-
tocracy. As with other nonconformists, increased status brought 2
complacency which had little time for doctrinal niceties.

Unitarianism’s progress was along two ways; on the one hand,
viz the inheritors of eightecnth century ratiopalism following
Priestley, Thomas Belsham |minister and tutor at Hackney
Academy} and advocaies such as Lindsey, Wright and Aspland; on
the other hand, through the less sectanan, liberal Christian
element, based largely on the old meeting-houses. Here the most
influential voice was that of James Martineau, who developed a
pbuosophy of liberal Christianity based on the diciates of
conscience.

How did these developments affect Unitarian bulding? Now
that their premises were safe from onhodox predators, chapels
necded to be appropriate expressions of Unitarian teaching and
status. The story of chapcl architecture in the later nineteenth
century is the story of the Gothic revival.

Above: Mottram-in-Longendale.

Front of Mossley, ard view from
rear of chapel




Above: Hyde Chaprl, Gee Cross.
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The Church of England had adopted a superficial Gothic style for
many of the 'Commissioners’ Churches' of the 1820s, but not
until a deeper understanding of Cothic architecture was
demonsirated by A. W: Pugin and protagonists of the High-Church
Oxford Movement in the late 1830s did a genuine neo-Gothic
architeciure emerge.

Initial enthusiasm for mediaeval styles was not shared by non-
conformists, who abhorred any siyle reminiscent of Cacholicism.
But Unitarians io some parts of the country, notably Liverpool and
Sheffield, had co-operated with Catholics in social work during the
cholera epidemic of 1844, and in mutual efforts to sccure the repeal
of the Test and Corporation Acts. And, of all disseaters, Unitarians
were probably the most open to new ideas.

In August 1840, Dukinfield Chape)! was opened, though the
building was not quite finished {nor would it be till 1893). Tt was a
replacement for the 1708 meeting-house, blown down in a gale in
1839. The congregation, led by the dynamic Rev. Robert Brook
Aspland [son of the mission preacher] chose a neo-Gothic design by
Richard Tautersall of Manchester 'in the style of architecture that
prevailed at the beginning of the fourteenth century’. The interior,

unchanged today, was well adapted to time-honoured Unitarian
practice, with the pulpit in a central place. The sense of Gothic
style is nevertheless all-pervading and successful.

In 1848 the nearby church at Gee Cross, Hyde, was completed in
the most up-io-date Gothic style, 10 all intents and purposes
identical with an Anglican parish church. Gone 1s the cenural
pulpit, the Sunday Schaol galleries and vestiges of eighteenth
century meeting-house mentality. Surrounded by a large grave-
yard, it is clear that the Uniarians of Gee Cross considered them-
selves as ‘established’ as any other branch of Christianity. It was
opened by Rev. Charles Wicksteed, since 1835 minister of Mill
Hill, Leeds, and c¢lose associate of Martineau. In the same year Mill
Rill was rebuilt by the same architects, Bowman and Crowlher, as
bad built Gee Cross.

A spokesman for the congregation wrote at the time: 'Taste
varies with the generations, and the Meeting-House congregation
has never been afraid of expressing its own mind, even at the risk
of the pirying disapproval of its successors’. Despize the defiant
tone of uncertainty, Mill Hill Chapel remains an impressive
expression of mid-nineteenth century Unitarianism. As Pevsner
poinis out, the plan is reminiscent of that of St. Peter's parish
church, Leeds, re-built only six years before. The Mill Hill
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Abuve Dukinficld exterior and
pulpit.

Below: previous chapel a1
Dudapficld, blown down jn o gole in
1339,




Above: Hope Street, Liverpool. Bt
for Martineau in 1849, demolished
1963.

Below: Renshaw Street Mission.
Muonchesier.

congregation evidently wanted to keep up with the Anglicans; the
central position of their chapel was appropriate for their major role
in local government and business affairs.

A year later in 1849 Hope Sireet Chapel, Liverpool, was opened.
Tts minister, James Martineau and his friends John James Tayler at
Upper Brook Street, Manchester, John Hamilton Thom at
Renshaw Street, Manchester, and Charles Wicksteed, previously at
The Ancient Chapel, Toxteth, were central figures in the adoption
of nea-Gothic architecture by Unitartans. Where new chapels 1o
Cothic style were erected, wnevitably one or other of the 'Quater-
nion’, as they were called, would deliver the opening sermon.
These perorations emphasise the value of earthly beauty in
carvings, stained glass and a generally *ecclesiastical’ atmosphere
to the quality of religious experience. All four men bad siudicd the
new German biblical criticistn; Martineau travelled in Germary
for a year in 1848-9, having previously ensured thai his
congregation at Paradise Strect would abandon their 'spacious and
elegant’ chapel and re-build in Gothic style in Hope Strect. The
pew romantic mood emanating from Germany affected religion
and the arts alike. While the English Gothic revival had ns roots
deep in English mediaeval buildings, encouragement for its vse,
among Unitarians at least, was found in Germany.

The Gothic style had been firnly and ably expressed in Uni-
tarian chapels; but was it & suitable style for a religion concerned
with rational thought, social sexrvice, and non-ritualistic worship!
This was an increasingly irreievant question. Unitarianism had
become acceptable, alopgside orthodox Christianity, in the
development of Victonian society. The contemporary style was
Gothie, and something so up-attuned to Victorian taste and
religious sentiment as utilitarian functionalism was oot to be
found in chapel architecture. In factory, railway and industrial
building — ironically often dominated by Unitarian management
— an austerity of style could be found; but Unitarian religion, for
all 1ts rational roots, had no apparent conmnection with rational
design. Only in the missions, Sunday Schools and other ancillary
buildings is there a tangible expression of the Unitarian belief in
reason and the power of good works. Educating the unlettered —
nol just in the Bible but in literature, science, history and
philosophy — were important aims of Unitarians. Day Schools, set
up on non-sectarian lines, Sunday Schools 1o teach children
working during the week, adult evening schools, libraries,
Mechanics’ Instituics, were often ancillary buildings in the chapel
complex. The high regard for social maturity and personal
development was reflecied in the carchally-designed social halls
and meeting-rooms.

Inspired by the work of Dr. Joseph Tuckerman in Boston, USA,
and by Mary Carpenter in Bristol and India, domestic missions
were founded in the 1830s in the poorer areas of Birmingham,
Manchesier, Liverpool and London. They were often supported
through difficult and impecunious times by the new District
Associations of Unitarian and Liberal Christian congregations {the
East Cheshire Union, for instance, was founded in 1859], who also

helped new congregations, some of which grew out of the
missions.

What was the geographical pattern of chapel-bullding in this
periad! Firstly, older chapels were rebuilt in a larger, more com-
fortable, modern style. Secondly, long-established centres such as
Liverpool, Manchester and Birmingham, saw expansion into both
‘Mission’ areas and the suburbs, whete many leading members of
the congregations now lived. Thirdly, chapels were buili in seaside
towns such as Scarborough, Hastings, Blackpool and
Bournemouth. The custom of retirement by businessmaen and
government officials 1o the seaside strengthened this development.

Not surprisingly, the majority of ambiticus Victorian chapels are
in the North of England, with a number in the Midlands and a
handful in the South-west. Thousands of churches and chapels of
all denominations were built in Victorian and Edwardian England,
manifest evidence of increased wealth and confidence. The
Unitarian contribution to this corpus of architecture was small,
but the quality of many of their chapels was good. Starting with
Dukinfield of 1840, a succession of impressive chapels were built:
Gee Cross, Hyde {1848), Mill Hill, Leeds {1848), Trowbridge
{1855], Todmorden {1869), Brookfield, Gorton (1871), Monton
{1875], High Pavement, Nottiagham {1876), Flowery Field, Hyde
{1878], and Ullet Road, Liverpool {1899}. Other notable chirches,
now demolished, include Hope Streer, Liverpool {1849, Banbury
{1850), Bank Street, Bury (1852}, the Church of the Messiah,
Birmingham {1862), Old Meeting, Birmingham {1385}, Chapel
Lane, Bradford {1868}, and Essex Church, London {1887}.

These chapels were landmarks in their locality — Gee Cross
spire can be seen for many miles from the south-west, making an
unforgettable feature of the lower Peak scenery; Todmorden is
even more impressive in its commanding height above the town,
its soaring steeple balanced by the high classical pediment of
Todmorden Town Hall, designed by the same aichitect, John
Gibson. ‘The best building in Dukinficld’ according to Pevsner,
the chapel dominates the top of the 1own. High Pavement (no
longer 2 Unitarian chapel] speaks eloquently of its status in the
ancient quarter of Nottingham, with the Parish Churzh across the
yoad and the busy law-courts adjacent. Brookficld, Gorton, is
‘strikingly impressive’, says Pevsner. Conigre Chapel, Trowbridge,
is described in the chapel history of 1890 as ‘quite an orpament to
the town’; the complex of school-rooms, chapel and gardens are a
focal point of the Conigre [an area now sadly derelict). The Chuzch
of the Messiah, Birmingbam, had perhaps the most unusual site of
themm all, aswide the canal emrance to Gas Street Basin.
Unremarkable from Broad Strect, the approach by boaz through the
tunnel and under the church was unique.

Few, il any, features of this Gothic revival are unique to
Unitarianism. Steeples, coloured and tracericd windows, chancels,
aisles, arc all indistinguishable from orthodox places of worship.
The Ecclesiologist might ridicule the idea of desigrng tripartite
windows, symbolic of the Trinity, for Sociniams, but such
doctrinal nicetics were not required by most chapel building

Above day-school adjacent 0
Monton Church. Built by
Unitarians, the school was
admmmstered by the Local Authonty
1888-1892 fnow closed).

Below: Flowery Field, Hyde.
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committees. Two characteristics of Unitarian chapels stand out.
The finest of them, cited in chis chapter oul of a number of less
significant buildings, comprise first-class workmanship. Such
guality is not, of course, unique to Umiarian chapels, but the
quality of detail and construction is noticeable. When stained-glass
is chosen, whether by Morris and Co. or Holiday or frorn a contin-
ental workshop, it is often the best Masonry, as at Tadmorden,
Flowery Field, Mill Hdl, Leeds, or Uller Road, Liverpool, is
remarkably accurate and scositively worked Fittings, as at
Brookfield, Mill Hill ar Ullet Road are well-lesygned and made,

A very small number of post-1850 Unitarian chapels are not
built in the Gothie style. Astley, near Manchester, and Shelf, near
Halifax, are small and plain with no Gothic feature. Hastings has a
classical facade and details on a modest scale. [dle {Yorks) and the
impressive Mossley [Lanes! arc uuerly remote fromm Gothicism.
Upper Chagpel, Sheffickd, rebuilt in 1848, follows the classical style
of the 1700 chapel.

Two firms of architects werz responsible for some of the finest
Unitarian chapel designs. Bowman and Crowther of Manchester,
following the example of A. W. Pugin and George Gilbert Scott,
creatcd chapels and churches of convincing solidity and
accomplished detail.

The Waorthington family firm of architccts was morc important.
Unitarians themselves, they were descended from a line of
Presbyterian and Unitarian mimsters {sec the memorials at Stour-
bridge!. The family lived in the heartland of Manchester suburbia
at Alderley Edge. Thomas Worchington was a follower of A. W.
Pupin and legrmed his craft with Bowman and Crowther. He built,
among others, Flowery Field Chapel, Hyde {1878!, Brookfield,
Gorton |1871), Monton {1875}, Manchester College, Oxford | 1533
and Ullet Road, Liverpool [1899). This last was designed in
association with his son, Percy, who was responsible lor the
splendid sacial hall and ancillary rooms. Percy also designed the
Arlosh Hali at Manchester Coilege [1913) and was in fact the more
accomplished architect.

Nat only were new Gothic chapels being built, older chapels
were bring adapted o the new style (it was cheaper 10 achieve 2
‘correct’ religions atmospherce by converting an old tmterior than to
build new|. Two eighiecenth century ‘preaching boxes' which
received a complete face-lilt were Upper Chapel, Sheffield, and
Kidderminster. Meeting-houses wure often re-built from the
wiblows upwards, with arched windows and an open-beamed 100t
replacing the old rectangular windows and flat ceiling. End walls
were breached and chancel extensions built. New facades of
Gothic design were udded, creating vestibules and stairs. The
interior bad 1o be suitably adorned; box pews were taken out and
bench pews of varying quality, mostly pizch pine, were put in their
place. Stained glass, often memorials, replaced plain. A font was
added {previously unnecessary, as Presbyterian baptisms were
either held in the family home or a small portable metal bow! was
used|

Tl:e chancel with its East window and choir stalls, was a better

sctting for the pulpit and communion table; they were removed
from the long wall and placed as in an Anglican church. The
chance]l might be decorated with wood-carving, stained glass, tiles,
and embroidery. 1t was now the focus of the chapel. The chancel
arch mught be painted with the scroli and words so redolent of
nonconformist worship: “Worship the Lord in the beauty of
holiness’, “The Lord gur God is One God', ‘Rejoice and be Glad’,
‘Strength and Besuty are in His Sanctuary’. Often the only
evidence of the existence of an earlier chapel arc the memorials
fixed 1o the walls, their classical austerity a mute reproach to the
surrounding clutier.

At the end of the century standards of design improved with the
growth of the Arts and Craft moverent, inspiced by the reaching of
Ruskin and William Morris. A staincd-glass window by Burne-
Jones from the workshop of Morris and Co. became the hall-mark
of the large, successful Uaitazian Church. The movement
flourished in most of the large ciries of Britain, but was especially
associated with Unitarians in Birmingham and Liverpool. William
Kerwick, ironmongery manufacturer, Mayor of Birmingham and
leading Unitarian in the city, was Chairman of the Board of the
Birmingham Guild, a quasi-commercial veoture whercby crafis-
men and women, traized at Birmingham Municipal School of Ar,
supplivd work in a variety of disciplines for churches snd private
houses. Virually notbing remains in Bimuigham Unitarian
churches, apart from some very fine lettening on nscribed
memorials from a later date at Five Ways Meeting. Murals in the
school of Old Meeting, Bristol Road, were destroyed in the blitz.
However, the leadng Birmingham crafismen Bernard Slelgh and
Benjamin Creswick, plus the potter, Harold Rathbone, decorated
the chapel interior at Liscard, Wallasey {1899}, a compieie example
of the period.

In Liverpool, the Rathbone family were long-standing patrons of
the ans; Edmund was a member of the Centiiry Guild {as was
Ronald P. Jonus, the leading Unitarian architect of the early 20th
century); Harold Rathbone ran the delli Robbia Pottery of
Birkenhead; Richard taught metalwork at the University of
Liverpool. All these skills came into play in the bwlding of the
ambitious Ullet Road Chapel, Sefton Park, where finc examplcs of
Arts and Crafis work can be seen. R.P. Jongs, whose [irst work was
with the Warthingtons at UJllet Road, later worked mainly in the
south of England, and emphasised the quality of workmanship in
his writing and in his architecture.

There was adomment — there must also be comfort. It was
James Martineau's acid comments on the stulfy congestion and
‘aretic’ conditions in Parsdise Street Chapel, Liverposnl, that led to
a swift re-building in 1849, incorporating grand Gathile style and a
new ‘commodious and economical way of heating largs buildings'.
Eighteenth century worshippers usually had no anificial heat or
light; the installation of gas light was often the first siep in 8
scheme of moderisation.

Window ¢ THRS by Burpe-Jones

{Morns and G ) in Manchester
Cadlege Chapel, Oxford.
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Altrincham Unitarian Chapel, Silvan Grove, off
Dunham Road. Cheshire. 1872

Congregation founded 1814 in Shaw's Lane.
Architect Thomas Worthington. Brick, stone
‘Barly English’ windows. Steep-pitched roof
with apsidal end. Interior, three windowed apse
with stained glass; north Aisle with stone pillars
in typical Worthington contrast with white
walls, Adjacent meeting-hall and carciaker's
cottage in brick and black-and-white Cheshire-
style gabling; echoed by parsonage [1899) across
road; attractive group.

Astley, Unitarian Christian Chapel, Manchester
Roed. Lancashire. 1865.

Congregation founded 1857, breakaway from
Parish Church. Plain, brick, adiz¢cent to road. No
hint of Gothic. Schoolroom 1858 attached.
Interior has two (Gothic] memorials 10 Rev.
Richard Cowling 1876, and fames Grundy 1895.

Bedfield Unitarian Meeting House, Suflolk,
1895.

Congregation founded 1892 chrough wark of
Postal Mission and Rev. Alfred Amey, who
pushed a mobile organ around the Suffolk lanes
and held open air services at Bedfield, Ashfield
and Monk Soham.

Small, corrugated iron, set in village street
among larm workers’ cottages. Interior retains
mission room atmosphere; much timber board-
ing. The chape! 1s also used as village hal) and by
British Legion, etc.

Birmingham

The history of Unitarian chapels in Birm-
ingham is 2 complicated ong, and a brief outline
history of Unitarianism in the city might be
helpful. Before the nineteenth century there
were two Presbyterian/Unpitarian chapels; Cld
Mceting, founded in 1687, and New Meeting,
founded at the Lower Meeting House, Deritend,
in 1672. Old Meeting, partly destzoyed in
'‘Church and King’ riots of 1715, and split by the
secession of Independents to Carrs Lane Chapel
in 1747, was destroyed in the Birmingham riots
of 1791, Rebuilt 1795, it was again demolished
as part of the New Street Station extensions.
The 1885 building was regarded by R. P. Jones as
8o

a [rare) good example of a Gothic Chureh. It was
a substantial building with three large lancet
windows and a 1all assymetrical tower and spire;
architect J. A. Cossins. Bombed in 1940; the
congregation did not long survive this event.

New Meeting moved from Deritend to Moot
Street in 1732; this chapel was Joseph Priestley’s
charge and was destroyed in the riots of 1791,
Rebuilt in classical styie in 1802; this chapel
still stands as the Roman Catbolic Church of $¢.
Micheel. Stuccoed five-bay front, round-arched
windows divided by paired Ionic pilasters, three-
bay pediment. Interior retains three-sided
gallery with rear organ and pews. 1862 Church
of the Messiah built over the canal tunnel
leading from Gas Street Basin by a prosperous
and confident congregation — members were
the vanguard of Birmingham Civic
development, including the Chamberlain
family. Pink sandstone with limestone details
and assymetcical tower and spire. Large
decorated window Rectangular interior with
rear galiery. Demolished 1978, site now a
garden. Architect [. |. Baternan. See Chapter 5
lor modern chapel.

Onpe late nineteenth century Unitarian chapel
survives in Birmingham, at Waverley Road
Church, Small Heath, 1898, Built pantly from
proceeds of the sale of Church of the Saviour,
Edward Street, founded by George Dawson,
Baptist founder of the 'Free Christians’, whose
articles of faith were, and are, the guiding
principles of this church — see memorial plaque
now in vestibule of Sikh tcmple. In 1846
Dawson led his congregation from their Baptist
chapel 10 Hurst Strect Mission for moming
services, and to Newhall Hill Chapel for evening
services. A building society with £10 shares was
lormed by the congregation, and in 1847 Edward
Street Chapel opened. Sold 1897 to Methodists,
congregations joined with group formed at Litle
Creen Lane Board School on initiative of Mid-
tand Christian Union and together built Waver-
ley Road Church.

Church was built first, then connecting
cloister, Dawson Hall {1918] and ancilliary
rooms. Brick, stone detailing. Gabled roofs of
church and hall stand on ¢ither side of garden
and cloister. Interior of church spacious; high
arcaded nave, aisles, clerestory lights; now
cleared of pews. Architcets, |. A. Grew and 8. H.
Eachus. {1980, sold to the Ramgaria Gurdwara
Sikh Temple.] Unitarians have converted the
Dawson Hall into chapel.

Blackpeol, South Shore Unitarian Church,
Thames Road and Lytham Road. Lancashire.
1903.

Congregation founded 1894 as off-shoot from
MNorth Shore Church, first services held in
Masonic Hall.

Brick, stone detajling in modified lancet style.
Simple interior, timber beams with decorative
iron braces.

Bolton, Bank $treet Unitarian Chapel, 1856.

Pirst Minister, Rev. Richard Goodwin, ejected
in 1662, first chapel built 1696, on the same site,
as was school and parsonage. Towards mid-nine-
teenth century 'the old building began 1o show
signs of decay’. Also, c¢. 1855, congregation
enlarged by Christian Brethren who had adopted
Unitarian jdeas [see p 1!}. Present chapel faces
street with steps. Archirect George Woodhouse.
Stone facade with lancet windows and pin-
nacles. Original 1854 Sunday School was in
basement {large brick Sunday School premises
of 1874 to north of chapel now demclished).
Interior dark and cluttered — not unpleasant,
but architecturally undistinguished. Stained
glass: rose window of 1867 in memory Harwood
family. Memorials (o cloth merchant Robert
Heywood, main donor of new chapel and Mayor
of Boiton (1786-1848) and his business partoer,
Charles Darbishire. Bell, now in vestibule,
given 1695 by Rev. Robert Seddon, M.A.

Bolton, Deane Road, Unity Church. Lancashire.
1893.

Congregation founded 1862 from Bank Street
as an extra Sunday School: first met 1868 in a
beerhouse in Comumnission Strcet. Red brick,
front and side gables, perpendicular windows.
Sunday School below, chapel above stairs. Day
school of 1870 at rear. ]. ). Bradshaw, FRILB A,
a member of the chapel and pariner in Bradshaw
and Gass, architects of hany town halls, public
libraries, etc., bought the land and presumably
designed the chapel.

Bournemouth Unitarian Church, Westhill
Road Dorset. 1891.

Congregation founded 1882. Red brick, oma-
mented stone detailing; pleasant arrangement of
porch, hexagonal 1gwer, and chapel. Interior an
clongated octagon with ogee mouldings and free
Gothic tracery. Rich woodwork including open
roof, altar screen and pews. Meeiing room below
chapel.
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Bradford, Broadway Avenue Church. Yarkshire.
1906.

Corrugated iron ‘temporary’ building. Envir-
onment of streets and stone housing still intact.

Bristol, Clifton Ubitarian and Free Christian
Church, Oakficld Road. Avon. 1864.

Stone, saddle-back tewer with rall lancets and
plainer 1l1-matched chapel in Decorated style.
Dark, churchy interior.

Chatham Unitarian Church of the Goed Com-
panions, corner of Haromond Hill and New
Road. Kent. 1889.

Congregation originally General Baptist
dating fom 1686. Present building replaces
chapel of 1802 on same site. Brick with stone
detailing. Chapel with pretty Venetian porch,
ros¢ window and hall form pleasant group.
Decorative brick wall encloses older graveyard,
pow garden. Stcep views down to Medway

estuary.

Cheltenham, Bayshill Upitarian Church.
Gloucestershire, 1844,

Congregation founded 1832 by Mr. Furker,
tradesman ui Bath. Architect R. Abraham. Plain
brick box with ‘Nonman’ ashlar facade; large
four-light window, plain glass. [nterior: central
dark stained Gothic organ case, pulpit (o right.
Omate 'stepped’ beams. Recently partitioned

Coseley Old Meeting Housc, Ol Mceting Road.
Staffordshire. 1875.

Founded c. 1662, [irst Minister, ‘gjected’
Assistant Vicar of Sedgley. First meeting house
1717, a ‘primitive structure with two siout
timbers upholding the roof’. This date is
recorded on two bricks set in the wall
descending to the healing chamber, which
suggests that the present chapel is built on the
foundations of the old. The chapel was built
with the proceeds of the sale of mineral rights to
the Bilston lron Company in 1874,

Stone, gabled front with Decorated window
above c¢cntral door; two pinnacles. Plain
interior, altar screen now rcmoved, rear organ
gallery on two iron columns. Behind the chapel
an older building now rendered, with industrial
tron round-arched windows as at Stourbridge.
Was this originally the Sunday School of 1799!

Cullomnpton Unitarian Chapel, Pound Squarc.
Devon. 1913,
82

Congregation originates from 1662 ejection.
Two previcus chapels, 1698 and a cob building
of 1815 which collapsed. Nice exarnple of late
neo-Gothic, more or less as built. Architect R.
M. Challice. Interior, bare brick walls, stone
quoins. Original iron electric light brackets;
stained glass window ‘The Good Shepherd rom
Wood Grezen Unitarian chapel. Furnimire made
by members of the congregation. Two good
memarials from previous chapel.

Denton Unitarian Chapel, Wilton Street.
Lancashire. 1879.

Congregation founded 1875, on initiative of
Robert Stuart Redferc and Robert Kenyon of
Mottram zad Oldham; trial services held in Co-
op. Hall. First Minister, Lawrence Scott
{1879-1930). Red brick, sirnple lancet windows,
butuesses, Large Russell Scott Day Schools of
1882 adjoining rear.

Doncaster Free Christian Church, Hallgate.
Yorkshire. 1912,

Founded 1692. First chapel was on the same
site, then the castern edge of town; built 1744
Simple, brick, two round-arched windows, paa-
tiled roof. Present building, approached threugh
archway from Hallgate, is cxternally
undistinguished.

Interior rectangular with three-sided gallery,
organ chamber beyond chancel arch, barrel-
vaulted ceiling. Light timber panelling.
extensive range of ancillary rooms tQ rear.

Dukinfield Qld Chapel, Chapel Hill.
Lancashire. 1840.

Qrigina) congregation connected with Deaton
chapel of ¢ase {in Stockport Parish). Among first
ministers, John Angier of Denton, and Samuel
Angier of Dukinfield, who was licensed to
preach in a barn in 1686; Sir Robert Dukinfigld
gave land for a chapel in 1707; [irst service was
thanksgiving for the baule of Qudenarde {July
11th 1708). 1839, chapel collapsed ip a storm —
after the congregation had decided to re-build.
Led by their minister, Robert Brook Aspland
{1837-58], they chose as architect Richard
Tauersall of Manchester. In 1839 he also
designed St. Pavl's Church, Stalybridge, and a
large cotton mill at Colborne near Wigan,

The chapel was built in stone to a cruciform
plan in the Lancet stylc, with a facade of three
lancets above doorway, similar to that still
visible on the wransept gables. It was extended
forward in 1893 when the {acadc was given a

large 'Geometrical' window llanked by a pair of
turrets and pinnacles. An early use of the Gothic
style in a4 Unitarian chapel.

Interior virrually unaltered; lofty nave with
side aisles. lron columns, emphasisiog
cruciform plan, support three-sided gallery.
Pulpit with canopy and organ screen of dark
stained wood give a rich ‘antique’ aura. Pulpit
entered from  vestry with preacher’s seat
incorporated in door. Roof consiruction
concealed above plaster rib vaulting with iron
bosses not unlike ventilators in pre-Gothic
chapel ceilings. Many memorials including
Astley and Armitage families. Stained glass.

‘The best building in Dukinfield® (Pevsner).
Chapel stands at highest point of town, adding
10 impression of height. Large rear graveyard
{including Astley memorial 1825) merges with
municipal cemetery with distant views of the
Peak District. Manse of 1865 next door. Early
Sunday Scheo! 1810 io nearby Picklord Lane;
enlarged 1820, 1839 and 1882, also used as day
school from 1879; an cxtensive group of
buildings reflecting the importance of education
to the Unitarians ang of their standing in this
19th century cotton town.

Hastings, Unitanian Free Christian Church,
South Terrace. Sussex. 1868.
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Founded 1858. Pedimented classical facade
forming part of temmace. Plain, small, rendered
brick. Interior, four blank arches cither side;
matching round-arched windows back and
front, stained glass in ceatre. Back gallery
supported by 1wo cast-iron Corinthian pillars.
Central carved wood pulpit with cast-ron
accessorics. Rush bottom chairs. Snetzler organ
acquired from Lewes chapel, who got it from
Banbury chapel, who got it from Norton
{Sheffield). Architect George Beck, builder G.
Clarke jones.

Horwich Unitarian Free Chuwch, Church Street.
Lancashirc. 1896.

Congregation founded 1890 with help of N.E.
Lancs. Mission. ‘Accrington’ red brick. Modest
Gorthic facade with ‘French Renaissance’ side
porch; school-room below.

Hyde Chapel, Stockpori Road, Gee Cross.
Cheshire. 1848,

Qriginal chape) 1708, second chapel 1767, on
same site. Architects, Bowman and Crowther of
Manchester [Pugin was asked bur rcfused the
cornmission); they were 2 Pprogressive and
fashionable firm who desigoned Anglican
churches and secular buildings in this area. This
is the {irst nonconformist church o be built on
the model of an Anglican parish church set in its
churchyard.

Stone church in ‘Early Eoglish™ siyle; long
nave with clerestory, nave and chance]. West
tower with tall broach spire {145t} It cost
£7,500; major patrons, the Ashton family [see
Flowery Field Church).

Interior: chancel with large East window
contains finely carved ahar table and sione font
with massive conical hanging cover, also
memorials from old chapel. Pulpit by chancel
arch. Organ at back of church with adjoining
choir stalls. Six pointed arches cach side divide
nave from aisles. Clerestory windows. Hammer-
beam roof with carved stone corbels. Much
stained glass of later 19th cenury. Pews and all
woodwork of oak.

Very large verdant churchyard with many
gravesiones. Original chapel stood on east side.
Tower and spire are 2 proroinent feature in the
town and can be seen for many miles around set
against Pennine scenery.

Southwest of church, in Enfield Street, red
brick schools 1889 (Henry Enficld Dawson
minister 1867-1918).
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Hyde, Flowery Field Church, Newton Street.
Cheshire. 1878.

Congregation founded by cotton manufac-
turer Thomas Ashton senior, 1831 [he had al-
ready established a school for his work-people in
1810): ". . . the devetopmem of his trade and
mmanufacturing industry made Flowery Field the

populous place it mow is ..’ The original
school and chapel ‘came to be regarded as 100
plain’ an¢ Thomas Ashton junior offered to
build a2 new one. Architect Thomas
Worthington.

Stone, Tudor perpendicular style. Substantial
square battlernented south cast 1ower with stair-
turrer. Interior displays surapuous use of cak.
Cruciform plan, with wide nave, rear gallery.
Chancel with choirstalls flanked by side-axches
to vestry and organ lofi. Polygonal apse.
Impressive roof of carved oak. Stained glass in
chancel, remainder plain glass in large mullion
side windows making interior light and
spaciovs; cresis in cepte of each window.
Attractive vestibule area with tower base and
staircase, typical Worthington design of
whitewash, restrained wood and iron work.

‘Neither labour nor expense has beco spared
in its erection... The congregation . ..

composed (o a large extent of the employees at
Ashton mills and other works in the oeigh-
bouthood. A considerable proportion of the
work has been carried out by the workpeople at
the mills' {North Cheshire Herald, 1876). The
church is the focal point of the Flowery Field
Estate with cotton mill, school and cotrages.

Leeds, Mill Hill Chape!, City Square. Yorkshire.
1848.

Congregation founded 1662. First chapcl
1674, Rev. Joseph Priestley minister 1767-73.

Stone, 'Decorated’ Gothic. With Gee Cross,
Hyde, the first Gothic style nonconformist
chapel. Bowman and Crowther of Manchester
were architects for both chapels. Plan and style
seem to have been partly inspired by rebuilding
of Leeds Parish Church of St. Peter in 184]1.
Long, buttressed seven-bay facade to City
Square. Central projecting gabled vesubule
surmounted by Jarge window; good stong
carving on parapet and gable, but pinnacles
removed ¢ 1960, Nave and side aisles, wide
chancel, stained glass by Morris and Co., also in
side aisle. Carved stone heads at side arch-
springs. High hammer-beam roof with stone
corbels carved as delightful angels. Magnificent
Caen stone carved pulpit in orthodox Anglican
position to left of chancel arch. Carved stone
altar screen with mosaics of saints. Gothic pews

Opposite: Flowery Field. Hyde Above: Leeds.

with fleur-de-lys [inials. Memorials, especially
good one to Captain Samuel Walker {d. 1809) in
vestibule, Interior now divided by screen below
gallery, but effeet still impressive.

Environment drastically changed with
adjacent development of shopping centre;
graveyarg flattened, extensive Sunday School
buildings demolished. Statue of Priestley in City
Square faces chapel. {By Alfred Drury .}

Leigh Unitarian Church, Twist Lane.
Lancashire. 1897.

Congregation founded 1887, Typical small
but well-built ¢hapel in red brick. Meeting hall
at side. Large cruciform-design window in gable.

Liverpool.

A bricf survey of carly chapels may be useful.
Apart from the Ancient Chapel of Toxteth {see
chapter 1}, there were two Presbytenan
‘Ejcction’ chapels, 2t Castle Hey [buile 1688)
and Kaye Sireet (built 1707). Casde Hey {'Old
Meeting'| moved in 1727 to Benn's Garden
{South Castle Street), in 1811 1o Renshaw Street
[graveyard now Roscoe Garden), and in 1899 to
Uller Road, Sefton Park. Kaye Street
congregation moved to Paradise Street in 1791,
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and to Hope Street — an ambitions Gothic
church built 1849 in the ministry of )James
Martineau — demolished 1963. Tn 1763 part of
Benn's Garden congregation left 1o form the
new Octagon Chapel in Temple Court, where a
liturgical service — an ipnovation in
nonconforrmst practice — was introduced; it
closed in 1776 and became St. Catherine's
Anglican Church.

Liverpool: Ullet Road Unitarian Church, Sefton
Park. Lancashire. 1899.

Architects Thomas and Percy Worthingion.
Exterior, red brick with monumenial nave
butiressed by porch, transepts, side-zisles and
apse, ‘Decorated” Gothic detail. Facade with
fine rose window above full width porch, topped
by stawe of Christ and bell-cote (no bells).
Church is joined to matching hall (1902) by
claisicr.

lnterior of church faced in red Cheshire sand
stone {added as an after-thought — originally
design was in glazed brick}. Wide nave, narrow
arcaded side-aisles; high simple vanled roof,
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Ullet Road. Liverpool.

clerestory windows, canopied pulpit. Polygonal
apse with large stained glass window by Martis
and Co. Altar table with carving of Last Supper.
Carved choir stalls. Splendid Art Nouveau
electic light pendams with eight larnps. Beaten
copper West doors.

Better than the church are the cloister,
library, vestry and hall, added after completion
of church and donated by Sur John Brunner and
Sir Henry Tate. They were designed by Percy
Waorthington, son of Thomas, assisted by Ropaid
P. Jones. Spacious cloister with stone pillars,
black-and-white timbered roof; contains many
good moemorials from Renshaw Street Chapel —
Roscoes, Rathbones, etc. Library with Tudor
canopy fireplace and wealth of decorative deail;
murals by Gerald Moira, 'The Pursuit of Truth’
— high-tide Symbolist painting, which should
be better known. Vestry has murals by Moira,
subject “The Cardinal Virtugs'. Spacious
complex ol domestic offices, as wusual in
Unitarian chapels, planned with care. Finally,

the Hall; no expense was spared and it iz a
splendid room. Wood-panelled walls and stone
arches give warmth and solidity; simple black-
and-white timbered roof with carved collar-
beams give brightness and 2 lively homeliness.
Ingle-nook fireplace surmounted by coats-of-
arms of Tate and Brunner. Two bay-windows at
front and side. Lantern light in roof. Fine metal-
work details throughout — door furniture, fire
irons, lights, outside railings, etc. A fine essay of
the Arts and Crafis movement.

Londoxn.

Bethnal Green, Mansford Street Church and
Mission. Purchased from the Congregationalists
in 1889 to housc the mission founded 1832
{mission building 1837} at Spicer Street (now
Buxton Street], Spictalfields — the first Unitarian
Mission in Londen.

Grand Romanesque facade with pediment and
rose window, yellow stock brick. Rectangular
auditoriurn with coved ceiling; arcading on east
wall rises from Corinthian pilasters. Pulpit and
organ added this century, gift of R. P. Jones. Rear
gallery. Basernent room with stage. Memonial 10
Charles Corkran, missioner at Spicer Street
1848-79. Three storey manse attached. The
style of this chapel — not unusual Jor the
Congregationalists — is quite unlike Unitarian
chapels of the penod.

Hampstead, Rosslyn Chapel, 1862.

Congregation founded in 1687; first minister
was probably chaplain to the Honeywood family
fcity merchants, lived in adjoiping Carlile
House]. Previous chapels, all on same site, built
n 1692 and 1828. This last, a plain brick box,
survives as school-roomn and parsonage. Present
chapel of Bath and Kentish Rag-stone. Architect,
John Jobnson, with extensions of 1886 by
Thomas Worthingion. 1862 building was simple
gabled nave with small central spire, porch and
vestry to west I[n 1886 east aisle, chancel,
flanking wvestry and commitiee room added,
creating a more irregular appearance.

Interior, wide nave [pews clearcd 1966}, plain
boarded roof vault. Scveral good stained glass
windows; south side, 1867 unknown artist,
1esembles work of Hardman; west aisle, 1887 by
Henry Holiday, 1886 by Wilson and Hammond,
1888 and 1899 by Morris and Co. (Bumne-Jones},
1889 by Lavers and Westlake; north side, 1887

by Mayer and Co. of Munich; chancel, 1886 by
Wilson and Hammond. Callery windows are
from Essex Church [demolished 1973), in
memoriam Sir John Brunner. Carved oak choir
stalls with brass decoration now at rear of chapel
were designed by R, P. jones 1904 and also came
from Essex Church, as did the oak font designed
by Jones in 1908. Anoiher smalier stone font is 2
nice example of genuine lificenth century work.
Good memorials; marble reliefl of James
Martinean by H. R. Hope-Pinker |was in Lictle
Portland Streetr Chapel, demolished 1910); Axt
Nouveau metalwork of 1901 by Wragge to Rev.
Brooke Herlord; marble and lapis lazuli Celiic-
style of 1916 to Rev. Stopiord Brooke; metal-
waork Celtic style of 1900 by Kathieen Shaw o
Isaac Solly Lister; marble and inlaid work of
1926 to Helen Allmgham; bronze panel with
lettering by William Morris to Dr. Thornas and
Mary Sadler. Four marble panels by Flaxman.
Parliament clock by William Billinghwst of
Loodon c. 1792, Spacious grounds include
carlier chapel and cottages.

Stratford Urnutarian Christian Church, West

Ham Lane, 1869.
Architect T. Charleild Clarke, AR.LB.A.
182995 — a prominent Unitarian. Con-

gregation founded 1857 in Bow, at Breeze's
Lecture Hall, Stratford Broadway [over
chemist’s shop] yellow brick, madest gabled
facade with stubby central lialianaic tower.
[nierior plain with round arched windows.
Stone font in memory of Edith Jane Noel 1935.
Hal} and meeting rooms 1885; hall has Mormis-
type decorative wood panelling a1 one end.
Upper storey ‘Club-room’ and 'Guild Room’
designed and given by R. P. Jones 1910; nice biue
tiling on stairs.

Loughborough Unitarian and Free Christian
Church, Victoria Street, 1864,

Congregation originated in 1672; chapel of
1744 off Churchgate survived till this cenury.
|[Robert Bakewell, agriculturalist, 1725-95, was
member. )

Stone, steep pitched roof, gable end with
entrance and circular window; side tower.
Architect John Morris of Nottingham. Church
znd school were built with the proceeds from
sale of Mountsorrel Chapel {sold wo Bapiists
1867, now chemist's shop).
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Lye Umtarian Chapel, Stourbridge Road.
Worcestershire. 1806 and 1861,

Lye waste was open commen occupied by
‘rude and barbarous' mud huts built by nail
makers. From 1790 Rev james Scott of Cradley
preached in licenced houses, then with a legacy
from his aunt acquired a thin strip of land
adjoining the Birmingham 1o Stourbridge
Tumpike, building the meeting-house in 1806.
Brick with iron framed round arched windows,
now middle of the group of buildings.

Present c¢hapel built to west of 1806 chapel,
begun 1857, ‘... a small but beautiful and
carefully arranged Early English Church . . .
from the designs of Francis Smalman Smitb of
Stourbridge. Whilst it was in course of erection,
the villagers, reverencing the memory of M
Scott determined to add a clock to the building
and they subscribed in sums varying from a
penny upwards'.

Chapel hugs the pavement with 4 round
arched windows with Cothic openings and
sieeply pitched slate roof pierced by small
dormers. Tallish tower over entry porch, red
brick with blue band courses and yellow top,
now minus spire and weathervane. Clock
renewed 1953 to commemorate coronation of
Queen Elizabeth T. Interior simple, colourful
and atrractive. Hammerbeam toof with corbels
of leaves and Aowers, plus one skull, picked out
in vivid colours. Two memorials to Rev James
Scott, one in Gothic niche io chapel, otber on
slate tsblet in porch. Hall contains porraits of
all past ministers. Gothic school addition to
Last.
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Manchesier.

The city's expansion has engulfed several
erstwhile villages, where a Unitarian chapel was
often a part of the community. This is an area of
early Presbyterian strength, but no carly
buildings survive {but see Plate, chapter 3).

Chotlten-cum-Hardy Unitarian Church,
Wilbraham Road, 1900.

Congregation founded 1890 as a mission effort
by the Manchester Dismict Association of
Unirarian and Free Christizan Churches. Pictur-
esque, half-tirnbered; gabled facade with bay
window over full-width porch. Steeply pitched
toof with small spire. Set in wooded grounds,
approached through Art Nouveau gates.

Interior plain, design inconsistent with
exterior, Organ dated 1856.

Brookfield Church, Hyde Road, Gorton, 1871.
Congregation founded 1694; original chapel of
1703 was at the rear of present chapel, on other
side of che brook. Brookfield was built at tbhe
expense of Richard Peacock, M.P. for Gorton
and locomotive builder [his pariner, Charles
Beyer, built Gortop Parish Church at the same
time). Architect Thomas Worthingion. Very
large stone church of ‘Anglican’ Early English
design, orientated to cast. Gabled nave with
clerestory, aisles chancel and morth transept.
Almost free-standing north tower with high
broached steeple — a landmark along Hyde
Road; gargoyles, and peal of eight bells.
[rnpressive interior; white painted walls with
stone arches and pink granite columns {rypical
Worthington tonal contrast). Barrel roof.
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Cpposite: Lye. Above: Chorlton-cum-Hardy.

Atcractive mural of the Heavenly Host above
chancel arch; twelve neat roundel wall paintings
below clerestory, depicting Unitarians in history
and 'great minds’ of the past {subjects suggested
by Alexander Gordon). Two mosaics of St. Paul
and the Good Shepherd flank chancel window
{stained glass]. Carved marble and wood reredos
of four saints. Solid stone font centre back.
Simple geometric sigined glass in Jarge west
window. Memorial to members of the
Worthington family from old chapel; jolly
tarreted memorial to Rev. George Henry Wells,
d. 1838.

Extensive grounds surround chapel, small
lodge north-east comer; interesting graves; two
memorials to Richard Peacock — bronze relief
on church wal) has bust of Peacock flanked by
Vulcan and angel ferected by his workforce), and
Gothic marble mausoleurn west of chuxch,
1875. Large hall and Sunday School of 1863
further to west.

Mexborough Free Christian Church, College
Road. Yorkshire. 1913. Congregation originated
1912, breakaway from Congregational chapel.
Red buick gabled, dual-purpose hall and chapel
plus meeting rooms. Unchurchlike appcarance.

Monton Church, Moawon Green, Eccles.
Lancashire. 1875.

Congregation founded 1662; earlier chapels of
1698 {destroyed by mob 1714} and 1802. Like
Brookficld, completely Anglican in  design;

architect also Thomas Worthington. On
imposing raised site above the Bridgwatax
Canal, open country behind and swrrounded by
mature trees and parkland. Arched gateway
surmounted by canopied figure in memoriam
Henry Leigh, 1895. Stome, loog nave with
cleresiory, transepts and five-sided apse. South-
west tower with steeple incorporating richly
carved doorway.

Interior, typical Worthington contrast
between light walis, stone arches and dark
woodwork. Windows were originally clear glass;
clerestory stained glass installed 1900 in
memory Mary Ann CGrimshaw jd. 1893), depicts
the Arts; transept glass 1881 donated Martha
Leigh of Greenbank {d. 1886} depicts Christ
blessing the children and Christ and his flock in
a technique evolved by [. G. Sowetby of
Gateshead Stained Glass Company; apse glass of
Old and New Testament figures. High hammer-
beam roof, wooden gargoyles hold iron tie-rods.
Superb organ-loft and case in dark wood at rear
{organ ipstalled 1883). Good canopied choir
stalls in apse; {inc iron standard and hanging
lamps. Pair Jacobean chairs, possibly from old
chapel. Memorials 1o Leigh and Grimshaw
families {Leighs owned silk mill in Patricrofi|.

Large graveyard with good tombstones, many
pre-1875. North-west of chapel, School {1888,
loca} authority day-school till 1982.

Mossley Christian Unitarian Church, Stamford
Road. Lancashire. 1852.

Congregation founded 1841 by Christian
Brethren led by Joseph Barker [see chapter 3).
Trust Deed of 1853 describes congregation s
*... persons of 1the Christian name who by
some are called Christian Brethren and by
others Unitarians’ and describes the chapel as a
‘... large plain building capable of holding 800
persons with schoolroom beneath, and beneath

that again a class-room and 2 cottage, . . . built
on the side of a hill, and from the back looks like
a factory’,

Solid stone, set in Pennine community. Single
storey gabled fromt; central five-light window
flanked by doors with enormous arched lintels.
Plaque above records ‘Christian Church and
Sunday School Buile 1852".

[ncerior: vast single square space, no gatlery.
Beautifully curved pews with gradated angle at
the sides. Carved pine and maple central pulpit
and dais front. Raised dais across full widdh of
chapel with choir stalls and central original
organ by M. Holt of Leeds. The whole
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impressive interior is cusiom-made for a
performance of the ‘Messiah’. Industrial-type
iron roof supports. Plain round-arched windows
with pastel glass, giving spectacular views of
River Tarpe, cotton mills and hills around.

Motiram Unitarian Church, Hyde Road.
Cheshire. 1846.

Christian Brethren foundation of 1841. Plain,
rectangular stone ‘meeting house’ of six bays.
Iron-framed front windows with diamond panes
Shallow pitch roof; no hint of Gothic. Sunday
School on ground flocr, chapel above. Large
square interior recendy divided; half retaios
original iron and wood benches — 'Sunday-
School’ appearance. Central plaque records
*Mottramn Christian Sunday School for children
of all denominations built by subscription AD
1846'. Much building work done by the
congregation, resulting in construction cost of
only £700.

Newchurch, Bethlehem Unitarian Church,
Waterfoot, Rossendale. Lancashire. 1865.

Methodist Unitarian foundation of 1806. Like
Providence Chapel, Rochdale, and Todmorden,
the earlier Newchurch Chapel was built for
Joseph Cooke and John Ashworth, the leading
preachers of Methodist Unitarianism. & library
embracing all subjects was an important part of
the chapel from the start, remaining a local
amenity until Carnegie Library opened in 1930.

Stone; large gabled with two transepts; Early
English Gothic. Single space interior with
prominent roof trusses. Pulpit in memory of
John McLachlan ¢. 1925, Memorials,

Large Hillside graveyard with Gothic Sunday
School adjoining dated 1874, built oo site of first
chapel (1809).

Northamptoen Unitarian Church, Kettering
Road, 1897.

Congregation seceded 1827 from Doddridge’s
Castle Hil) Congregational Chapel; accupied ex-
Weslcyan chapel in King Street. Present chapel
donated by Sir Philip and Lady Manfield.

Architect Charles Dorman, who had receatly
designed the Manfield shoe factory. Red brick
with stone detailing, assymerrical steeple, Large
and exiensive meeting-rooms adjoin. Interior,
single space with wide choir and chancel, rear
gallery. Criginal light pendants. Now isclated
on a traffic island.

9%

Oxlord, Manchester College, Mansficld Road,
1893.

In 1889 Manchester College moved to Oxford
from London; previously it had been in
Manchester and York. Architect Thomas
Worthington. The buildings are arranged round
two quadrangles. Library donated by Sir Henry
Tate. The chapel has Geometrical windows,
harnmer-beamn roof, fine carved oak screen and
canopicd choix stalls. “The whole set of Bume-
Jones windows in Manchester College Chapel of
1893-8 i5 in fact a pure joy.' [Pevsner]. They
depict the six days of creation wiih inscription
by Diderot ‘Elargissez Diew’. Arlosh Hall by
Percy Worthington has good timber roof and oak
panelling {1913).

Padibam, Nazareth Unitarian Chapel, Church
Stureet. Lancashire. 1874, Founded 1806.

In 181% Richard Wright described 2 visit: 'In
this manufacturing village there is a society of
Methodist Unitarians who meet together and
instruct and edify one another; My. Ashworth
and others occasionally visit and preach among
them; they meet in a pretty large room, but it is
too small . . . The people are all poor'. First
chapel of 1823 still survives in West Street —
domestic appcarance flourished, though always
poor. By 1859 the building was ‘too small and
inconvenient, besides being situated in a back
street’. Relocated on t(wo-acre site on Knight
Hill.

Grit stone, geomelrial Gothic; gabled nave,
chancel, transepts, porch and north-east tower
with spirc and pionacles. Interior high, pitch
pine roof, small galleries in transepts [removed
1984). Schoolrooms underneath. Architect
Virgil Anderton, member of congregation ‘M.
Cornelius Anderton, as the contractor for the
masons’ work, did his work at merely a nominal
price. Mr. E)i Whitehead undertock s share at
a low rate. The three stone crosses on the roof
were worked and givep by masons engaged on
the building, viz. Joseph Anderton, Fergus
Anderton and Andrew Wilkinson. A large part of
the excavating was done by the people them-
selves after work hours.’ Centenary memorial
schoo! built at rear, 1905, in similar style.

Offshoots were established in Accrington,
Burnley (2), Colpe and Nelson but since closed.

Pudsey Unitarian Church, Church Lane. Yorks.
1861.
Christian Brethren foundation; in 1846 Joseph

Barker preached in Pudsey to 1,400 people in the
open air. Congregation formed 1853. Stone,
modcst. Steeply pitched roof with front gable,
side butiress with piopacle, now removed.
Interior, blue and white peinted wood, stained
glass in apse. Schoolrooms behind.

Richmond Unitarian Free Church, Qrmond
Road Surrey. 1896.

In 1884 a society was founded ‘to discuss
religious and kindred subjects’. In 1888 at a
meeting in the Schoolhouse, Petersham,
attended by the Earl of Dysart, Countess Russell
and members of her family, and E. Wilkes
Smith, Headmaster of Russell School, Peter-
sharn and first secretary of Richmond congreg-
ation, it was decided 1o build a church. Scon
after, Channing Hall in Friars Lane was built.
{James Ramsay MacDonald was a lay preacher
there.] Present church, brick, stone deuailing,
gabled roof, side porch. Interior better than
exterior; fine wood roof and panelling; shallow
apsc with windows by Burne-Jones. Raised dais
at front. No pews but original wooden chairs,
Beaten copper memorial 1o Countess Russell,
1898. Modern brick extension at rear, architect
Kenneth Tayler. Pleasant gardens.

Rotherham, Church of Qur Father, Moorgate.
Yorkshire. 1880. Founded 1662 when John
Shawe and Luke Clayton seceded from the
Parisb Church.

First chapel of 1706 still stands opposite in
Downs Row. Stone, originally with mullioned
and rransomed windows, hipped roof. Altered
1841 during long ministry of Jacob Brettel, when
it was twned, windows round arched and parch
added. Chapel became schoolreom, now a work-
shop, Small graveyard adjoins. On the brow
above confluence of rivers Don and Roiher.

Present church pink sandsione, Early English
style Front gable has richly detailed central
doorway by Wharncliffe Fireclay Co. [fchn
Armitage, proprietor, buried at Underbank
Chapel, Stannicgton). North-west tower and
spire riscs to 100 feet. Schoolroom undemecath.

Little-altered interior includes brass lectern by
Guest and Chrimes of Rotherham; organ by
albert Keates of Sheffictd c¢. 1900; Batbstone
font. Rear gallery with vestibule under. High,
steeply pitched hammerbeam roof. Stained glass
lancet side windows include ‘The Gaod Shep-
herd’ commemorating 25th year of William
Blazeby’s minisiry, 1885 Memorials.

Old chapel. Rotherham (1706).

Architects Flockton and Gibbs of Sheffield [see
Upper Chapel], much of the craftsmanship
being done by members of the congregation.
Cost £3,620.

Scarborough Unitarian Church, Westborough.
Yarkshire. 1877.

Seaside resort foundation of 1873, Red brick,
stone dewiling, side tower with 2-stage spirc.
Round arched windows in Gothic mapner. Plain
interior.

Sheffield: Unity Chusch, Crookesmoor Road.
Yorkshire. 1915.

Congregation founded 1859 as Sunday School
extension of Upper Chapel by Rev. Brooke
Herford; met in joiner’s shop. First chapel in
Addy Street, Upperthorpe, 1861, in lancet style.
Architect John Frith, who also rebuilt Upper
Chapel in 1848. Latterly a cinema, demolished
1971. In 1915 congregation moved up the hill
apd up-market.

Bright ted brick with stonc detailing, gabled
front with central window and projecting porch.
Built op steeply sloping site with meeting bhall
and games room on separatg floors beneath. Rear
clevation includes caretaker’s house. Architect
J. R. Wigfull; builder D. O'Neill.

Interior has tansepts and low side aisles;
through arch, large chancel with choir sialls;
organ brought from Addy Strect. Curved ceiling.
Good stained glass includes chancel window
depicting 'Security, Truth, Mercy, Peace” with
central figure of Justicc by Holiday; Charles
Woollen memorial window 1898 and maiching
war memorial window in Morris scyle. Beaten
copper memorials in chancel.

Below are extensive hall, meeting-rooms,
kitchen and cloakrooms with original fittings.
Surrounded by gardens. The last chapel built en
the grand scale.
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Peppechill, before 1936

Shelf, Pepperhill Unitarian Chureb. Yorkshire.
1862, extensively rebuilt 1936 after collapse of
rool.

Congregation established 1858 as 2 mission
from Halifax.

Critstone; gabled building of 5 bays plus
entrance. Round-arched windows originally
with iron tracery, replaced by Art Deco "Rising
Sun' pattern in 1930's. Stope slab roof replaced
by Welsh slatc 1936. 'Pepper Hill Unitarian
Sunday Schoot AD 1861 still inscribed over
entrance,

Simple interior. Coved ceiling; central organ;
dado panelling, chairs. Few nice mcmorials.
Chapel set in upland farming community. At
1,000 feet, the highest Unitarian chapel in
Britain.

Southpert Unitarian Church, Portland Street.
Lancashire. 1867.

Copgregation founded 1862; [iwst met in
Town Hall. Chapel was built as pant of plans of
Southport Improvement Society, inauguraicd c.
1852 to develop the town as a seaside resort.
Architeets Cuffley, Bridglord and Horion;
butlders Bowden, Edwards and Foster of
Manchester. Cost, £1,895. Trustees of 1867
included alkalime [soap) manufactiurer,
commercial traveller, solicitor, photographic
artist, architeci, dentist, physician, mctal
broker, ship owner and leather salcsman.

Stone, plain gabled front matched by adjacent
hall. Forecourt with carriage turn. Plain interior,
open timber roof, semi-circular apse with
‘Norman Transitional” arch, trancated altar rai).
Green and white glass in side windows, mice
stained glass in side bay in memory Charles
Wellbeloved (minister 1883-1903). Momonals.
Coloured glass screen ar rear, no gallery.
Original harmonium of 1867; organ 1887.

02

Stalybridge Unitarian Church, Forrester Drive.
Cheshire. 1870.

Congregation founded 1865, result of mission
by East Cheshire Union of Unitarian and Free
Christian Churches. Surroundings bave been
transformed by demolition and redevelopment
of suburban housing.

Stone, pgabled facade, flanking cturrets
fextended 1888 to incorporate gallery). Interior
unexceptional, good stained glass; 1907, Morris
& Co., in memory Joseph Greenwood [as is
font), 1925, 1934 in memory John Jackson
1834-1904, chancel window in memory Joseph
Prestwich Rosling {minister 1928-1947}, signed
'EW 1955°. Chancel renewed 1950s with altar
table painted with panels depicting Science,
Revelation, Technology and Enlightenment,
signed 'Young 1953

Stockton-on-Tees Unitarian Chureh,
Wellington Street. Durham. 1873,

Congregation founded 1688; meetings held in
Bolton Housc Yard, Thistle Green — in same¢
room where John Wesley founded Methodist
congregation in 1770. First chapel in High Street
1699 (see frontispiece). Growing congregation
and needs of Sunday School resulted in present
chapel. Architect . P. Pritchedt of Darlington —
architect of Huddersficld station.

Stock brick, red brick detailing; gabled nave,
side-aisles and lancet windows. Schoolroom
behind. Intexior: high nave, clerestory supported
on 2 x 5 iron columns, pulpit on central dais,
Memorials from old chapel (0 James Crowe,
1825 {Improver of Tees Navigation, built New
Cut in 1809}, H. E. Wright, 1857 {now partially
hidden).

‘In 1835 an organ was placed in the chapel. It
contained two barrels and twelve tunes each,
and this for some years was made to satisfy the
musical aspirations of the congregation .. .
Redevelopment round chapel.

Todmorden Unitarian Church, Fielden Square.
Yorkshire. 1865.

Methodist Unitarian foundation; became part
of 'Rochdale Circuit’ with Padiham, Newchurch
and Rechdale led by Rev. Joseph Cooke. Chapel
built 1824, remained in use as Sunday School
till recently {sold 1981). John Fielden, M.P. for
Todmorden, mill-owner and advocate of ‘Ten-
Hours Bill', heard Richard Wright preach in
Todmorden in 1818, became closely connected
with chapel. Present church built as a memonial
to him by his sops, Samuel, John and )oshua.

Above: Southport. Right and below Todmorden.

Architect John Gibson of Westminster {pupil of
Charles Barry) also built Todmorden Town Hall
and Fielden residence The style is "Decorated
Gothic’, boill o Anglican pattern. Millstone,
very sharply and accurately cut. Nave, aisles,
transepts, bell-tower and spire over entrance,
rising to 196 feet.

[nterior, long nave, marble floor and pillars;
transepts form a mortuary chapel o south,
organ chamber and vestry 1o north. Both
wransepts have groined roofs of red and white
Manslield stone. Main roof cak, corbels and
spandrels of carved fruit, flowers, angels, etc.
Original fittings inzluding lights (converted 1o
electricicy). Superk font in coloured marble.
Woodwork by Messrs. Clay of Audenshaw,
marble work by Fields of London. Thrce
matching memoria’s to the Ficlden brothers in
north aisle. Stained glass by M. Capronnier of
Brussels results in under-lit intenor; circular
apertures in spandrels of clerestory arches give
extra light. Porch has polished granite memorial
to the three Fielden brothers, set in floor under
steeple.

Todmorden is one of the most impressive and
accomplished Victorian chapels. The setting is
cxceptional, sweep hiliside and mature
woodland; it is the natural religious focus of
Todmorden and could be mistaken for the parish
church. Extensive grounds and graveyard with
winding walks up the billside. Carriage drive
has small Jodge at entrance gate.



Torquay Umiarian Church, Montpellier Road.
Devon. 1912,

Congregation met intermittently from 1850s
in halls and coffec-rooms. Henry Lupton of
Leeds raised funds to buy site and build. Grey
Devon granite with sandstone detailing, crisply
cut. Architects, Bridgeman and Bridgeman.
Graup of church and hall, short central tower;
‘modem’ perpendicular style. Interior less good;
perpendicular siyle xoof and green windows.
Wide arcaded apse with central maple pulpit.

Original Jight pendants.

Trowbridge, Conigre Chapel. Wiltshire. 1857
and 1865.

Congregation established 1655; Anabaptist
origins among clothiers in necarby Southwick.
First Conigre chapel of 1703/4, off-sheot from
Southwick; ‘The old Meeting House was built
in 1 style which indicated that the worshippers
were opulent as wcll as numerous in its early
days. The roof consisted of several arches,
curiously constructed, and supported by two
large pillars. There were three gallerics, a
baptisiry and a vestry; beneath the pews aré
many vaults, in which, as well as in the
cemetery adioining, are the remains of maoy of
the most influentizl 2nd intellectual families of
the town . .. The Sunday School was estab-
lished and new Sunday School rooms built in
1838. In 1856 the old chapel entircly disappeared
and the present handsome Cothic building, with
vestries, was erected in its stead.’ {W. Doel
1890). Murch wrote in 1835 that Trowbridge
and Conigre had two buildings but one
congregation. Chapel of 1857 now disused, the
congregation moving in 1972 to scboolrooms
next door. Whole group consained in well-kept
garden in midst of ‘town-planning’ devastation;
away across a roundabout stands the 18th
century parsonage; 1838 Sunday School lies
derelict bevween chapel and bus station.

1857 chapel, architect William Smith; cream
oolitic limestone, Decorated CGothic. Very 1all
gabled facade with large stained glass windows,
corner pinnacles. No tower. Deserted interior en
the grand scale, eerie but still mspiring. Long
high nave, arcaded side aisles and gallerics,
clerestory windows. Chancel wall has central
carved sione pulpit, ogec-headed panels in-
seribed with scriptures, and colourful window
incorporating rose tracery through which a soft
orange iight filters. Rear gallery and organ loft.

Schoolrooms of 1865 now converted nto
o4

chapel and meeting-room; stone with two
matching gabled facades, semi-circular
windows, arcaded doors and windows below.
Memorials in chapel and schoolrooms.

Urmston Free Church, Queen's Road.

Lancashire. 1900.

Congregation originated 1894. Red brick. Free
Gothic with gables and central twrret. Large
two-rnsnual pipe-organ by Alexander Young
Lid. 1910, transferred from Mill Streer Chapel,
Manchester, in 1951.

Wallasey, The Memeorial Church, Manor Road.
Cheshire, 1899.

Dates from 1888 as Liverpool District Mission
venture. Termaporary chapel of 1892 survives 1
Crescent Road — an excellent example of
‘corrugated Gothic’, well-maintzined and row
used by United Reformed Church. Church was
gilt of Mrs. Martha Elamn in memory of her
husband William. Architects, Waring and
Rathbone. Red brick, stane derailing, with
projeciing octagonal tower and adjoiving hall.

Interior 'decorated in a style new, so far as we
are aware, (o this country’ {The Inquirer 1899,
In other words, Art Nouveau. Oak panclied
walls and ceiling; stone arch to chancel which
contzins Della Robbia panels by Harold
Rathbone from his pottery in Birkenhead; the
panels depict a blue and white glazed mother
and child, shepherds, fields and trees with
inscription "And what doth the Lord require of
thee but to do justly and love mercy, and to walk
bonourably with thy God'. Painted communion
table, pulpit and choirstalls by Bernard Sleigh of
Bromsgrove Guild of Arts and Crafts, Original
light fittings by Walier Gilbert.

Wolverhampton, All Souls Unitarian Churzh,
Park Road West. Staffordshire. 1911.
Congregation originated in 1700. First chapel
1701 in John Street; Unitarians lost it in 1817 on
successhd orchodox claim [see Hewley casel.
Chapel built at Snew HUN 1831, sold 1898,
Temporary chapel, Bath Road, 1902. Present
chapel red brick, simple, friary-inspired design.
Tudor Gothic window over entrance. Interior,
wide nave with simple arches to parrow $ide
aisles, Tudar arched roof. Chairs, not pews. One
of the [irst town-centre chapels to move o
suburbia.
Opposite. top: Torquay tleft), Trawbridge fright).

Middle: Ullet Road ¢lairtees and library. Liveipool:
Stalybridge Bottom Wallasey tleft), Cradley inght).




Disused and Demolished
Chapels and Churches

B — Built. F — Founded; — C — Closed: ¢ — Chrea
D — Demolisped: ¥V - Vacated, 2 the congregation
continues 1o meet elsewhere

Ashlord, Hempstead Suweet. Kent, B 1875, D ¢ 1970

Ashton-under-Lyne, Richmond Hdl Unitanan Chusch,
Lancasinre. F 1897, B 1507, C 1984,

Banbury, Horscfaw Oxfordshue F 1672, B 1716, 1830, V
1969 and D. A Gothic buiiding of some quality replacing,
carly mecting house.

Bamard Castle, Newgaee Street. Durham F 1842, B 1870, C
€.1930, D 1957,

Birmingham, Fazeley Stivetr Missmn, F 1844, B 1848
Lawrence Serect, 1877 Lower Fazeley Swueet. Schoolroom
1888 Now a (aciory. Foundanen swone lad by Richard
Chamberlain.

Bimningharo, Hurst Street Mission, F 1840, B 1844, 1870, C
and D Known as 'The People's Hall',

Birmingham, Newhall Hill. F 1834, B 1840, enlarged 1896,
Now a mess-room Jor bus erews. In 1915 cangregation moved
to Gibwon Road, Handsworth, now ‘Bethel United Church of
Jesas Chnist'. [For New Meeting and Otd Meeung see p 76).

Blackpeol, North Shore, Dickson Road. Lancashire. F 1878,
B 1883, Sunday School 1900, C 1975 Early English style
with comer 1ower and spire.

Bolion on Dearne, Priory Road. Yorkshue F and B 1911, C
1972 *Corrugated Cotlue’ now us=d for storage

Braintree, High Garrent and Halsiead, Essex. High Cerrent
buile under patosge of Semiel Ceumaald, who hvel neathy
and gwied t2atlle mills i Bratneree and Halsioed e opened
a school in 1850 sed stanied services in JB=3, The wldmg in
Elizabethan gabled style survives &s a market gaders centre
jrecorded on plague withua!. In 1892 congregation moved w
chapel in Coggeshall Road, Braintree, closing when
patronage ceased.

A chapel also built 1857 in Factery Lane East, Halstead, C
1958, I3 It stood amid Counaunld mills and workers'
COtages.

Bristal, Momeague Streer Mission. F 1839, B 186). D by
bombing WW2

Buraley, Tralslgar Sereet Lancashire, F 1858, 8 1871, C
c 1980, D, Aschirent Vagid Anderon [see Padiham). {Also
nussivn 1n Ruesizerdi Street B 1903).

Bury Chesham, Halstead Street. Lancashire. F and B 1883. B
1974, D,

Buxtan, Detbyshire F 1715, B in Market Mace behind King's
Head Hotel, &apment survives with stooe spiral staircase
hok 1o parssmage 1575 Hartinglor: Road, C 1968, Architect
Thomas Warthington
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Carlisle, Vigloria Viaduct. Cumberlznd B 1583, B 1889, C
1957, Jatterly meeting at Lome Sueet. Chapel survives,
much alwered, as elecuicity showrpoms, Qmginally bad
barogial wrrets and arched windows

Chelmsford, Legg Stree, Essex. F 1877, B 1879, C 1913, Now
‘Oddi¢tlows’ Hall',

Choppingten, Front Suect. Nucthumberiand. F and B 1868,
C 1975, Coped gables, kneelers, round-arvhed wiodows,
rendered walls, Mission roorn wtenor,

Cleator Mill, Cumberiand. ¢.1860. Estabhshed wnder
patrontage of ‘Thomas Ainsworth, Unitanan mill owner,
C 1900,

Coalville, 3ridge Road Luicestershire, T 1905, B 1908,
C 1946

Congleton, Cross Street, Cheshire. B 1667, Fust chazel of
1733 probazly on same sie. B 1883, C 1969, Decarated
Gothte m red sandstone, gabled with belleowe. Adjacen:
Sunday Suhioa! dared 1865, brick. Now Elim Pentecostal

Crewe, Beech Street. F 1862, B 1865, C and D 1977,

Croydon, Dennett Hall Mission, Dennett Road. Surrey.
F 1886, B 1338, C and D 193],

Darlington, Lead Yard Dhrbam F 1852, B 1873, C 1922, D
Darwen, Bolton Road Lancashire, F 1877, B 1879, Cand D,

Dewsbury, Willans Road. Yorkshire. F 1858, B 1866, C 1953,
Mow Bl Sione, gabled. Lancer and rose windows Sunday
Schoo! underneath.

Douglas, [slz of Man, Circular Road. F 1880, B 1884, C.

Elland, Huddersiicld Road. Yorkshire. F 1685, First chapel
1697 in Souihgare. B 1866, C 1931,

Gateshead, Coatsworth Road. Durham F 1898, B 1900,
C 1947, I3 Also varlier foundation, 1846 in Grosvenor Sirect,
and outiying congregauon at Eighton Bank).

Glossop, Tiiallen Swect [erbyshire F 1871, B L8696
OQueasional services st 1983, Stone, gabled, corner vwo-
Stage tower and spure,

Guildiord, Ward Street. Surrcy. F 1874, B 1877, C 1972, Now
a "Refuge’.

Halifax, Northgate End. Yorkshire. F 1672 First Chapel
1696, gallened rovering house, box pews, two-decked pulpmi
B 1872, ¥ 1879, D 1982 Swone, Gothie, 3 bay gabled becade
with pizmacies, Early English and Perpendicular windows,
Contemporary schoobosn  atisched to South. Interior
contiained woodweek froan cwller chapel, pood stalned plass.
Good messornials by Flomean and others.

Heywood, Bniuan Huil. Lancashire. F 1856, B 1860,
V 1965, D.

Hudderslietd, Firzwilliam Street. Yorkshize F 1851, B 1554,
Y 1962, Mow Roman Catholic Tall stone pabled builiing
with corner pinnacies and decorated windows and dearway

Idle, Highfield Road Yorkshire. F 1853, B 189%. Founders
were formerly Primutive Methodists who bult o that style
Stang, peduneoted gakle,

lkeseon, High Steeet. Derbyshure F 1700, B 17)9, 1869. C
<. 1930, Now Jehovah's Witness

Keailworth, Rosermary Hill Warwickshire. F ¢ 1700, B 1705,
1846 with procimis of wstimomal presented to Fdwin
Wilking Fiel! un the passing of e Dissenters' Chapels Act
[Archatect Horaer ek}, C 1891, now the Priory Theatre

Lecds, Domestie Sereee, Hulbeck F 1844, B 1883, € 1929
Large range of mission buildings i stone, multi-gabled, (wo
storeys, Early English style Now a workshop.

Leeds, Joseph Streer, Hunslet. F 1865, B 1868, C and D 1970.

Leicester, Nasheaough Road. F 1866 First chapel of 1875
survives 1 Wellingion Soreen, B 1901, C 1979 MNow Elim
Lazge range of clagel, schoolroom and hok-Hock. Brick with
stong dressings Gertrude van Petzold became Dot wiorman
mitiister in Britam when appomted here in 1901,

Liverpool, Hope Sueer. F 1663 [far carly chapels see p 811, B
1849, C 1962, D 1963, Architects Barry and Brown.
“artineau’s Chapel and High Gothie. Stooe, gabled with
transepts, tall comer wwer and spre

Mill Screet Mission, F 1836, B 1892, C 1978, D, First mission
built under influence of Dt Joseph Tuckerman of Boston,
USA. Rev Joha Johins {1836 1B4T firs1 minister,

Nonhend |amesrc Mission, Bond Steet, F and B 1859,
C 190w,

Hamilton Road Misston. F 1862, B 1871, C 1974, D.
Bootle, Staniey Road. F 1807 R 1895, C and D 1972
Garston Free Chuecl, Bowdor Hoad F 1899, B 1910, C 1920,
Mow Presbyterian. Briek, hall timobered.

London

Acton, Creffield Road F 1902, B 1906, Cc 1944, D

Beli Sureet Missran F 1887, B 1897, C 1963, D.
Bermondscy, Fort Road, F 1382, B 18388, C 1940, D.
Dingley Place Mission. F 1835, B 1877, C 1938, D
Finchley, Ballatds Lane. F 1902, 8 1911, C 194C. Now a
SYTAgogue.

Forest Gate, Upton Lane. F 1888, B 1853, € ¢ 1975, Now a
Sikh Temple.

Highgate, Highgate Hill P 1886, B 1890, C 1961, D.

Mord, Higt ResdConnaught Road, F 1906, B 1969, C 1979,
Kentish Town, (larence Road. F 1854, B 1853, C 1928, D.
Kilburn, Quex Road. F 1893, H 1708, C 1965

Lewisham, High Sireen, F 1E27, B 10U V 1968,
Limehouse, Elsz Street FOJAB4, |1 1E93, 'Duming Hall and
Institue’, C 1940, D,

Peckham, Avorsdale Road, T 1875, B 1882, C 1936, D

Rhyl Street Wimum. || 1352, B 1847, C 1950, D Organ now
in Aslosh Hall, Oxdord.

Il
Halifax.




Stepaey, College Chapel, Srepney Green. F 1867, B 1875, C
19466, gabled Tudor lerade will sureives

Wakhamstow, Trom Hoad, F 1894, B 1807, 19860, 1.
Wood Green, Newnbham Bead 0 IEML w900 C D965,
Styltsh arabesque morily, archiiegt | O Mesanery.

Longton, Srone Rosd Sustioodatier. FISSD B 1570, C 1903,

Maccledigdd, Parvonage Stees, Choser. Chuscian Brethren
congreganon 1845 484, smalgesaied with King Edward
Sirert Chapel Mo 8 lacopey

Manchesier

Blackley Chapel Lane, F 4%, {1 1607, (KB4, C 1966, D.
Bradiord, Mill Sereet F B8 [ 1000, © 1930, D
Collyhurse, Willen Soreen. £, |05 B LETR O 1560,
Heatonmaoor, Kings Dnve, F 1AL K 1900, © 1911

Yelme, Renshane Street Domenas Misswn F LEER B 1883,
C e

Longsight, Plymoorh Geowe. F 1886, R IES1, C 1750,
Sobwiernial pabled Tacwde, pinnacies sl Decuaaned windoww,
schoalroos s 1ee. Beoenuly vasated de BRC didios
Mossadde, Stucwebury Smeen F IET, B 1908, C0M7, D,
Miles Plattlag, Olfwem Rosd F LT B OIBE3, C 1929,
amulgeesated with Collvbam. T

Sale, Atibsson Road, T 1699 111878, Chapel uf 1739 stood in
Crods: Swpeet Ul B9TD. C 1990, D

Middlesborough, Corpriration Roadl. Yorkahire Fapd B 1533
Weal Sisset the fowl church emablished tnothe then new
ewas BOLETE C 1941, D.

Midileion, CHd Resd. Lanzashine. F 1860, B 188 © 1968, 5
1965, Bk, nline detuiling. siap fies perpendicular Gorhic
Asthirest Bdgar Woonl, S i Middmom 1600,

Nelson, Eleanor Sirpel. Laseesabine: F YW, B 1912, C 1931,
Now St John's Arntullasee crotie.

Newark, King's Bosd Wottinghapahine F 1363, B 1884, C
1950 Now 3 CEGE sl cosire

Newcastle, Byloor Mison. Denomark Street. T 1888, I 1891,
£ [9h0, sow & meseleg 1000,

Newton Abbot, Alhany Sutees. Devon. F 1899, B 1) ©
Nirer folmvah’s Wamness,

Nottingharn, High Pavemone, ¥ 8532, B I&)L BHEOS amd
UETS all oo same skte A Spertan) cheseh, with ey
sown mavors and lessding elieche sty a0 [Sah el [h

oemtury  comgogaimns. Bebmil, e graid  slale dusing:

suzceriul mammry of R, A Armomrsnig . Adckscecy 8. Culsnan
al Brimal

Gaothic with peomeses tower sl sphe with gaipovles,
wsles sl imsepis. Sarsdsiooc with Kanmatone spi. ity
|amdbmani o5 sbove Cress Ceninl Radway tunnel
gl

Comad parppiasy seazid ) I0EYE rielW'y coresd ercaded wsies
tlermisery abors Viery ptad stidnmd glass, chance] wimdow by
Hume-fones. I fperes w2 3 s, ClRscs vaoszed by
congrepation (P Now ownmd by Jucal sutlesy s bt ing,
adapted s Renpge oontte

Mottingham, Pease Hill Road ¢ 1840 B 1RGO 1000 D
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Nouiingham, Bentinck Road, Hyson Grove T apdd B 1883 C
1901,

Oldham Lees, Lswashoe FOJ841, 3 1849, C. Became
Connenl DHlwes,

Oxford, "Cluuch of the Divine Lowe’, Percy Sireet. B 1898,
Sumple lemest Gothic with 1 aporep Sous attached.

Poole, HIIT Stsser. Durage. F 1684, B 1705, 1868, C 1968, D.
Reading, Lomalon Hoad Serhahine, FIR76, B1§77, C 1970, 1)

Salley. 51 Machael, Millgate. Yorkshire F 4T3, I Da, | 3,
19, Moy Pesssernall

Sheffield, Shitfand Lass, Atiershife, F 190 as mimzon from
Upper Chagiel, B 1906, C |¥7] Beame 2 mosque, Sesroved
by hre, daelict

South Shields, Daby Tenaee Ihabamm F 1270, B 1874, C
¢ 1980,

Stockport, 5t Fromgate, Cheshie F 1881, fun chape] in Mgh
Street [TLE R IBA2. archnec: Rickaed Tattemall, unpressive
caly Gothle exsmple. ¥ and D 1973

Stroud, Lansdown Hoad Gloucestershire ¥ and B 1878, C
(8% Archimers T, Chanipild Clark, Now 2 ballimees

Swindon, Rrulge Steent, Wiltslzer Pl 1 1881, i chaserh
latez bampghe by Cismch of England Alss B 1867 1o Rillesion
Stzeer, © and D,

Swinton, Swinton Mall Bosd, lamcsdie 10D m
Fondlehory Jal, B 1858, C 1789, D 185 ied sl whiix
toick, lmoe wisdows, seeep gabled mol wath lEntem.
Adijonnemg wehoodroon st guaseyard.

West Bromwich, Ledpe Foud. Stalfordshire. F 1671, b 1875,
V1979, pévw Memeceatal,

Tap feft. Wenf Green. Letr Bladirion,
Righn. Migh Pavemest, Mareaghees:
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CHAPTER FIVE

Destruction, Decay
and Renewal:
1918-1984

At intertor of the Church of the
fvene Unity, Newceastle upon Tyene
{IVEG.
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Among Unitarians, the First World War marked a period of crisis;
change was brought about by the early death of young Unitarians
in the war; by a landslide decline in churchgoing, paralleled by the
swift decline in the fortunes of the Liberal Panty [supported by
many Unitnans); by a sense of reaction and reiease from Victorian
atutudes and values. This reaction, common to other non-
conformists, was marked in Unitarianism, where individual
reason and responsibility are considered paramount. It was man-
ifest in energies put into international relations and the early work
ol the League of Nations, and v an egalitarian approach to
Unitarian congregations in India and Africa. The Domestic
Missions in England began to lose their impetus, though reraining
active in the big cities through the depression of the '20s and ‘30s.
Individual Unitarians played their part in local government and
state education, valuing the democratic and progressive character

of the craerging welfare state. Women ministers, the first of whom
had emerged in the 1870's, now became morc numerous. Despite
the pessimism induced by the war, apd general disillusionment
with Victorian ideals of progress, Unitarians tended to remain
loyal to their maxim of 'Onward and Upward for Ever!'

State-control and its influence on private life was echoed in
religious organisation. No longer was the individual ¢congregation
expected to exist in isolation, minding its own bnsiness and
pursuing its own path. Increased centralisation, even in
Unitarianism, thai most individualistic and unsupervised of
religions, was accepted with the formation of the General
Assembly of Unitarian and Free Christian Churches in 1928 — the
amalgamation of two 19th century organisations, the British and
Foreign Unitarian Association (founded 1825), and the Natioogal
Conference of Unnarian, Liberal Christian, Free Christian,
Presbytenan and other non-subscribing or Kindred Congregations
{founded 1881). Ministerial.training and welfare, annual meetings,
and international liaks were all better organised. Centralisation
could be seen as srength in retrenchment rather than growth at
grass roots. Moreover, it couid be seen as a ‘regrouping’ in order 1o
move forward more secorely later,

For the first time in English history, books appear about chapel
architecture; Ronald P. Jones's Nonconformist Church
Architecture (1914) and Martin Brigg's Punitan Architecture
{1946); the emphasis was still on advice to those conternplating
building a chapel. Not until John Betjeman's First and Last Loves
of 1952 were chapeis considered in a historic context as aesthetic
creations, and thelr religious function and design discussed. The
architectural quality of chapels is analysed in Pevsner's Buildings
of England, 1951-74; further seripus assessment has been done by
Marcus Binney and Kenneth Powell of SAVE, and the British
Council for Archaeology. Chapels of all denominations are being
abandoned, because congregations cannot or will not maintain
them. Religious habits are changing, and ofien congregations prefer
10 start anew rather than try to adapt the buildings they already
have.

Thirteen chapels were destroyed by bombing in the second
world war. At least 15 have been demolished for re-development or
roadworks. 35 new chapels have been built since 1914; four were
for congregations founded in this century: Cambridgz, Lytham St
Annes, Golders Green, and West Kirby, The remainder replaced
chapels destroyed by war or town planning.

Local authoritics are far frorn averse to the development of prime
sites, apd their road-building programmes bave taken precedence
vver the conservation of old buildings. About 56 Unitarian chapels
— over a filth of tae otal — were closed in the 19605 and ‘70s.
This does not necessarily mean that the congregations died our —
they sometimes carried on 1n other premises.

The twenticth century has not been z time when English
Unitananism has needed many new buildings. Growth bas wken
place in other parts of the world, but not in England. Suburban pop-
ulation-growth, briefly seen by nonconformists as a promising area

Tup the Plymouth church of 1832
shorntly afier bomnbing.

Below reburlt tn Notte Sireet in
1958, Architect, Lows de Sorssons.
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of religious growih, did not produce more than 2 handful of
Unutarian chapels [though it did strenglhen previously naral
chapels such as Dean Row |Wilmslow), Kingswood |[Birmingham)],
and Fulwood (Shelficld). At West Kirby and Lytham, both areas of
coastal suburban development, new chapels were erecied when
Unitarians moved out from the older towns.

The architect of the two finest 20th century Unitarian chapels,
at Cambridge and West Xirby {both 1928), was Ronald P. Jones,
who also adapted the Westgate Chapel at Lewes in 1913. Jones was
a pupil of Thomas and Percy Worthington, and received his
architectural education ip the heart of Unitarian church-building
practice, 2t Ullet Raad, Liverpool. He wrote an interesting acooumnt
of work on Ullel Road |published in Transactions of the Uniwarian
Histonical Society]. An admirer of the neo-Georgian style and no
lover of Victorian Gothic, bis own work is an atiractive example of
the former. However, in his boak he gives a balanced assessment of
Gothic chapel architecture, recogmising that many congregations
possess nineteenth century Gothic chapels, and it is desirable that
they should appreciate their good qualitics. His interiors at
Cambridge and West Kirby are sirpilar in their resirained yet rich
design and woodwork. Joncs was an enthusiast for the work of
Wren, and he was not ashamed to use the master's lessons. As he
intimates in his book: ‘In all interior fittings, Wren’s exarnple is a
safe guide; however richly his pulpits are adomed, the tone and
colour are the same throughout, the Jimitations of the malerial
itself curb undue extravagance, and the essential reposc ... is
never broken’. It is sad that R. P. Jones did not design more
Unitarian chapels.

The other churches built between the wars were Golders Green
{1925}, Lytham 5t Anne's {1930}, Halliwell Road, Bolion {1931},
Coventry {1937) and the remarkable Church of the Divine Unity,
Newcastle upon Tyne, completed in 1940. The first three were the

first permanent homes for their new congregations; the last two
had distinguished histories from the ume of the Ejection,

Chapels  destroyed by bombing were Croydon, Brixton,
Islington, Cross Street Manchester, Plymouth, Ponsmouth (1wo),
St Helens, Southampton, Stand {north of Manchester], and Great
Yarmouth. Desiroyed and never re-opened were Old Meeting,
Birmingham ([built 1885) and Filby, Norfolk ({built 1706). Those
rebuilt  vary considerably in the success of their design.
Unashamedly nostalgic is Stand Chapel [1955) an evocation of
American colonial style. The most suceessful designs are those
which take advantage of their site 10 create a satisfactory series of
rooms and outdoor areas with various functions and uses. Such are
Croydon ({1959, architects, David Evelyn Nye and Partners),
Brixton (1962, architect Kenneth Tayler], and Portsmouth {1956,
architect E. A. Down). Tayler's work at Brixton in particular is a
model of its kind; he also designed Islington, the modest Putney
chapel and the pleasant garden extepsions at Richmond, besides
being the architect of the new Essex Hall {1959, bombed in 1940).

¥ the '50s and early '60s were the age of replaceraent afier the
war, the later *60s and '70s were the age of ‘urban renzwal’ — often
a case of population shifting and mraffic reorganisation Here, 100,
neéw chapels vary considerably. Of those in the South, Essex
Church {1977), Kensingtan, is one of the more interesting, in the
MNorth, Rawtenstall is, perhaps, the most adventurous. Five Ways
New Meeting, Birmingham {1973], the replacemnent for the Gothic
Church of the Messiah, is uncompromisingly plain with a well-
planned interior. The twa slate memorials at New Mecting are
examples of the fine twentieth century lettering ta be found in
Unitarian chapels — a facet of the renaissance of that an inspired
by William Moris and later by Edward johnston znd Eric Gill,
Leicester Great Meeting, West Kirby, Croydon and Hampstead
have good examples on their wabls.

Above. two views of Brixron 11962)
Below: memuornul in West Kirly,
designed by R P. Jores




Gazetteer 1918-1984

Birmingham, Unitarian New Meeting, Five
Ways, 1973.

For eartier history ol Birmungham churches
see Chapters 3 and 4.

Architect, Eric M. Hemsoll. Brick, low-lying
with contirous concreie Jintel band. Raised
copper roof over worship area, with clerestory
windows. Central concourse with large marble
memorial to Priestley of 1805. Hall and offices
on onec side, chapel on the other. Two good
memorials in chapel, 10 John Sutton Nettlcfold
1866-1930, first Chatrman of the town planning
Commirttee of Birmingharn City Counci! and
his wife Margaret; and to Ruth Neulelold,
1876-1957, both of incised gilded slate.

Bolton, Halliwell Road Free Church [(Unpitarian),
Lancashire. 1931.

Congregation founded as a mission from Bank
Street Chapel in 1899; first met in converted
cotlages.

Brick with end saddleback ower. Rear
Sunday School at right angles.

Interior is a late and oariginal example of
Gotbic revival, Rectangular with narrow side
aisles. Brick semi-circular arches divide tower,
pave and chancel. Mellow red brick walls and
low-arched clerestory windows with purpose-
made brick tracery. Open black-and-white roof
with carved timber uusses. Raised chancel in-
cludes war memorial lectermn and chair from pre-
vious chapel. Architect Bradshaw and Gass,
builder Tyson of Bolton, brickmaker Higson of
Dobble.

Bradford Unitarian Church, Russell Sweet.
Yorkshire. 1971.

Congregation founded 1672 at Harton Hall.
Moved 1689 to Wibsey Fold; chapel still
survives as a cottage. Stone mullioned and
wansomed window, coped gables and kneelers.
Manse adjoins in close-kpit cottage
environment.

Congregation moved again 10 Toad Lane, now
Chapel Lang, in 1719, 1ebuilding in 1869 in
Cothic siyle. Architect Andrews Son and
Pepper. Gabled with side wings, geometrical
tracery window incorporating large rose.
Demolished 1969 for city centre development.

New chapel shares site with Saciety of
Friends, set in large garden in inner suburban
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area. Stgne, pyramidal slate rool with gutter and
brackets forming marked feature.

Lnterior: central vestibule with worship area
one side, hall and offices on other side. Flexible
worship area with back partition. Round-arched
windows behind dais contain stained glass from
Victorian chapel, 2 memorial to Rev George
Vance Smith. Clerestory windows to sides,
boarded pyramidal ceiling. Architect, Kitson and
Parmcers of Leeds.

Bury Unirarian Church, Bank Soeet
Lancashire. 1974.

First chapel, 1719 in Silver Street; second
1837; third, 1852 in Bank Street (by Bowman
and Crowther, design similar to Mill Hill,
Leeds).

Purple-brown brick, strongly vertical design
with vestigial tower, gently rounded comers,
and narrow full height windows between brick
mullions.

Interior square and high, slim Aoor-to-ceiling
windows, blank front wall with hanging bronze
sculpture of five joyfal figures, top-lit from
tower. Rear organ loft {organ rebuilt from old
chapel]. Burne-Jones windows from old chapel
incorporated at rear. Bell from first chapel,
inscribed 'Haste away, make no delay’. Two
storey wing, lounge and vestry with classroom
and hall over. Architect, Terence Ratcliffe. Cost,
approximately £90,000.

Cambridge Memorial Church, Emmanuel Road,
1928.

Congregation founded 1904, Faces across
green of Christ's Picces. Architect, Ronald P.
Jones. In style of Wren {as in Pembroke College
Chapel). Light brown brick with full-height
stone lonic pilasters flanking entrance and at
each coroer; oval window and pediment with
dentilled comice. Lantern on roof. Meeting hall
in similar style at rear, 1922. Classical interior,
panelled oak walls; coffered barrel-vault ceiling;
semi-circular apse with side luneties and Jonic
pilasters. rear organ loft carved with classical
motifs and swags.

Chairs with embroidered memorial kneelers.
Metalwork, Bumingham Guild of Handicraft.
Cost of building donated by Mr G. W, Brown, ‘a
man of busmness’, in memory of his daughter
Millicent Latin memorial in chapel is based on
18th century memorial at Toxteth, qv. Chapel is
similar 1o West Kirby, also designed by K. P
Jones in the same year.

Top. Five Ways New Meeting. Bitmingham.
Middle: Combridge
Below: Bury.
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Top. Bredford Unitenan Church, RusseM Sicger.
Middle: Combrides
Beluw. Halliwell Road. Bolion.
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Chester, Matthew Henry's Chapel, Nevin Road,
1956.

Congregation dates from 1662, Marthew
Henry was ordained in 1687 and began his
munistry at Chester, where a chapel was built
for him in Crock Lane {Trinity Stree1) in 1700,
{Gallery added 1706 for use of Independents in
the congregation.) Redevelopment led o
dernolition and re-bulding about 2 miles along
the Blacon Road on an extensive housing estate.
Architects, Saxon Smith and Partners, Chester.

Brown and yellow brick East wall of brick
and translucent gold plastic forming grille. Flat
roof with skylights. Central porch, hall on ooe
side, church on the other. Surprising interior
making much vse of items from the old chapel.
Plain brick walls, a foil for pulpit af 1700, choir
stalls, rail Matthew Henry's communion table,
organ, broken pediment clock by William
Thompson of Chesier, memorials. Stained glass
at sides depicting Maithew Henry and
Martinean, at rear with motifs of lily, rose,
wheat and vine [all now it anificially). Font
1972. Folding doors at rear to schoolroom-hall.

Coventry, Great Meeting House, Holyhead
Road. Warwickshire. 1937.

Congregation daics from 1662; vicars of 5t
Michael (now Cathedral), and Holy Trinity werc
founder-ministers. Firgt chapel 1700 in Smith-
ford Sircet, demolished 1935 ‘when the old
chape] became unsuited to the exigencies of our
age’. Rebuilt in inncr suburbs.

Red brick with decorative banding; stubby
tower, pantile roof. Interigr impressive, almost
square, contrasting white walls and dark oak
panciling, staircase. Good rib-arch plaster
ceiling with inser lights Chancel arch with
central pulpir on dais. Font from old chapel.
1935 elecuronic organ — still in use — behind
chance). Tip-up 'cinema’ scats with striking Axt
Nouveau desiygn Tower forms vestibule and
meeting room. Clock inscribed ‘Ellicout
London’. Stained glass depicting subjects relaied
10 wdustry. Hall and offices at rear of extensive
sitc, mostly used as car-park.

Croydon Unitarian Free Chyistian Chuoreh, The
Flvover. Surrey. 1959,

Congregation founded 1870 by newly sub-
urban Unitarians. First {iron) church bought
fiom Bapiists and opened by Martinean Stone
Cothic church opened 1833, destroyed by bomb-
ing 1941, Broad-gabled church, perpendicular
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style with castellated comer turrets.

New site on Frnrends' Road (since renarned).
Architects, David Evelyn Nye and Partners.

Brick and concrete, mceting-house style with
large window divided by mullions. Good usc of
site with ceneral garden surrounded by chapel,
covered walkway and hall. Large vestibule with
stairway and upper landing leads 1o chapel. High
ceiling, strong light fron full-length windows;
back gallery. Focus is on front wall, with mural
incorporating words from the Wisdom of Solo-
mon and stained glass windows by Lawrence
Lee.

Derby, Friargate Unitarian Chapel, Stafford
Strect, 1977,

On site of original chapel of 1698 {demolished
1976). Now incorporated in ground floor of
office block. Interior plain; large coat of arms of
George 1 from old chapel. (For old chapel, see
Chaprer 2).

Great Yarmouth, Old Meeting, Greyfriars Way.
MNorfolk, 1954.

Congregation founded 1642 on gjection of
Vicar, William Bndge; the town had been
strongly Puritan for some timc previously and
an Independent congregation, out of which the
chapel grew, was in existence in 1644. Second
chapel 1845 in Middlegate Swreer. Destroyed by
bombing 1940.

Brown brick, pantile roof, fronting directly
ontg street. Interior plain, pews from Victorian
chapel. Memorial clock to men who died in war
with Japan. Architeet, Clifford H. Dann.

Hull Unitarian Church, Park Sireet, Yorkshire,
1976.

Congregation dates from the Ejection. First
chapel before 1700 in Bowl Alley Lanc; second
1881, dcmolished 1975. Stone, gabled,
assymetrical tower and spire, 1win porches.

Brick, small, plain, gabled, on site of previous
church. Dual-purpose chapel and hall with
kitchen and vesiry.

Lancaster Unitarian Church, Scotiorth Road,
1966,

Congregation founded 1687. First chapel
1690. Second chape! 1786 in St Nicholas Sirget.
Impressive stone classical building with 3
round-arched windows, low pedimen and semi-
circular apse. Demolished 1965,

Rebuilt away from city centre in meeting

house style. Original window in gable, rendered
walls, steep pitched roof with panoles
Architect, Edgar Middleton. Intcrior, lofty
square space with pulpit onc end and stage the
ather. Two stained glass windows from old
chapel. Hzll at right angles to chapel.

London, Brixton Unitarian Church, Effza Road,
1962.

Congregatation (ounded 1836, when Brixton
was developing as a suburb. First church 1839;
Gothic 3-bay gable, centre set forward with
circular window over porch. Destroyed by
bombing 1940.

architect, Kenneth Tayler. Brick with
concrete window surrounds, low-pitched copper
roof. Spacious grounds progressing from garden
[site of old church) 10 porch and chapel, hall,
parsonage and caretaker’'s bungalow, all
auractively arranged with interspersed gardens.
Interior of chapel simple; exposed brickwork,
wood laminated trusses, organ loft at rear,
Original pulpit. Bebind, complex of meeting
rooms, offices and stage.

London, Golders Green Unitarians, Hoop Lane,
1925,

Congregation (cunded 1903 in Weech Road,
Hampstead; chapel and land donated by the four
Misses Field, daughters of Edwin Wilkins Field
MP [see Chapter 4); they also donaled land for
the new chapel.

Architects, G. Reginald Farrer and Sydney R
Turner. Red brick and Poriland stone, pantile
roof. 'Byzanting’ style with semi-circular steps
and entrance arch under pediment. Interior,
single spacc with apse. Large plain windows;
1ear gallery; vauhied celling; "Byzantine' wall
pilasters. Chairs {originally intended 10 have
pews}. Partitioned side opening to hall. Focal
pownt of church is semicircular mural in apse,
the first known painung of Ivon Hitchens, 1919;
pamnted as a war memorial, forest scene with
deer and legend ‘The fruit of nghieousness is
sown in peace. The leaves of the tree are for the
healing of the nations’. {Another version is in
Maidstone Parish Church.] Mcmorial 10 Rev
loyce Daplyn 1931, daughter of first minister,
Rev Edgar Daplyn.

London, Istington, Unity Church, Upper Sircet,
1958,

Congregation has elustrious history dating
back to 167). Malthew Sylvester, ejected vicar

Above: Chestes. Below: Covenlry.
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of Gunnerby, Lincolnshire, fmemi of Baxter, 'A
high genius of nch imagmation’ dccarding 10
Calamy, his assistane, joubed a congregation at
Charterhouse Yard. Succeeded by Richard
Baxter, mimster there for last four yeass iof his
Life. Chapel Baiilt 1692 in Meeting-House Court,
Blackfriars, destroyed in High Church nos
[7000 Mew clapel built 1734 at Doctors
Commons, Little Carter Lane, 'in point of
workmanship 15 scarcely egualled by any
dissenting place of worship in London’. The
architect, named om [oundation stone, was G,
Sampson. Stone poarporated in Unity Church,
Islington, buili in 1861, Declining City
population on Sundays was reason for move 10 a
residensial  suburb.  Architect was  Thomas
Chafeald Clarke, A large stone chumch with
tower and broached spire. Desiroyed 5400 by
bambing.

Architect, Kermeth Tayler. Set back from
street dowm passage. Stock brick with copper
roof  Large dual-purpose hall and church with
concrete trusses; hugh ceiling; shallow ‘chancel”
area partitioncd off hehind stage. Gallery and
minister’s roam at rear cantains portraits of all
min:sters susce foundation. Rear complex of
meeting rooms and offices survived Sombing;
entrance on Florence Street has inscription
‘Preston Hall 1906,

London, Essex Church, Palace Gardens Terace,
Kensinguon, 1977,

Congregation  founded by Rev Theophilus
Edelsey 1774 alves bus resignation from Church
of Epglarsl  the flsst avowedly Unitsian
foundation. Firss pampose built chapel in Pusex
Screet, Strand, 1778, meeting-house with box-
peves and 3-saded gallery.

Fallowing decision ol Brizish snd Forcign
'nliarian Association (o form s Free Christian
{Church in the West End ot London’, church
built mm Kensington [E87. Architeet T. C.
Chatteild-Clarke, who desggned Essex Hall at
the same date

Prain gehled brick esterior, but exceprional
interwor refined carly 20ih century in Arts and
Cratts piple Footaugular with rear gallery and
chancel agme. Panelied dado and ceiling. Carved
pulpit with sounding-tiaerd below chancel arch,
choir stalls and reredos, 21l with marif of winged
cherubim by R. T Jones, PS8 Casved angels
surmounting parelliing Demalished 1976.

New chureh is wl pale brick, assymesmical
turrete flankuyg enirance across drawbrilge,
Archirecia, Maorgan, Branch, Robens Bascmen
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forms accommodanon for minister and
caretaker. Intenor, wide wvestibule with
staircase. Chapel walls rendered in [lowing
forms without comers. Cucunlar top lights
Raised dais with monolithic wood rtable
Mecting rooms behind, patio garden art rear

London, Putney Umtarian Church, Upper
Richmnmd Road, 1968,

Crongrogetion founded 1882 in Wandsworth;
small building on Tousley Hill suill survives,
replaced 1885 by Gothic chapel on East Hill.
Compulsorily purchased 1847 for raad-works,

Architeet, Kenneth Tayler. Snwali, gabled,
yellow brick. Full width parch ser ferward.
Intcrior, plain; grey brick dade and white
plaster. Wood communion table with canopy in
memory of Dorothy Tamant. Omgan from old
chapel.

Lytham St Annes, Ansdell Unitarian Church,
Channiig; Road. Lancashire. 1930

Congregatsion  founded 1905, first chapel,
carrugated iron, 19046

Brick, stone dewiling, mildly Gothic. Short
square 1ower betwesn gebleended chapel and
meeting-rooms ove:looking parden. Interior has
pine pews, chancel with chiolssialls and organ.
Ruof trusses and ceiling in dark oak. Memonal
chalice window o Rev Herbernt Crabuce
1943-34,

Manchester: Cross Street Chapel, 1959,
Congregation originated in 1662 Ejection; first
chiapel 1694, survived uniil bombed in 1940.
The focus of Lancashire Unitarianism — its
importance in the hisiory of Manchester can be
measured by the {act that the chapel feamres in
the 19383 Corparation of Manchester’'s leaflet on
Conservation areas, when the site alone has any
present-day significance. Rebuilt on same site in
the heart of the city's commercial guarter.
Archieer Fo L. Halliday. Bulff brick with
Poriland stong window surrounds. Flat roof, 1all
mullion windows, Egyptian-style pillass form
mullions. Interior, spacious, plam; *. .. 2
digntied conception of a modern ''Mecting
House''| free fram unnecessary or fussy detail
and relyig on good proportion and simple lines
f make their eifect’  ({Kenneth Tayler).
Vestibule comtams memorial o Elizabeth
Gaskell [1B10-65)1, wife of William Gaskell,
minister  1828-1884, Vessry block at rear
survived litz, contune pictures, clock and
memorabilia of old chapel and Sunday schools.

Tege feit: dinidell Unideran Chorch, e buikiag 190
Tog gk Bex Church; interser of Urel chigrl |72
Middie Irnh. A -5 [JU3GE

Madifie rizh rior o Basew Cherch (197X

Opderer: Crctas Bipadd Chaipel, Muabedwsier. Nov butlding

o Laied
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Includes the famous 'Cross Street Chapel
Room’, where the Manchester Literary and
Philosophical Society and the Manchester
Academy [College} were founded. Graveyard
with many good stones, now laid Nat.

Manchester: Dob Lane Chapel, Oldham Road,
Failsworth. 1975.

First chapel buili 1698, evolving from pre-
Ejection MNewton Chapel. Gabled brick, four
bays with round-arched windows. Three-storey
parsonage added 1750 to left. Set back from road
in graveyard. Replaced by building in Early
English style 1879, This collapsed in carly
1970’s. Schoolroom ¢.1900 now adapted as
chapel with simple brick meeting room added 10
front 1975. Gravestones removed. A fine old
meeting house site, ruined by decayed wban
suroundings, and an incongruous group of
chape! buildings.

Newcastle upon Tyoe, Charch of the Divine
Unity, Ellison Place, 1940

Congregation founded 1662 by Rev Richard
Gilpin, physician and ejected vicar of
Greystoke, Cumberland. Soon after, the
Independent  congregation gathered by Rev
William Durant, ejected Lecturer of All Satrus’
Church, joined them. {Durant’s memorial can
be seen on the vestibule wall.) First chapel 1685,
Close Gate lexact sitc and appearance unknown;
built for Dr Cilpinl; second 1727, Hanover
Square {plain meeting-house style); third, the
‘magnificent’ 1854 Church of the Divine Unity,
Bridge Street, architect John Dobson, designer of
many of the dignified strects and squares of 19th
century Newcastle. Demelished 1939

Church of 1940 buili during the long and
fruitful ministry of Herbert Barmes 1919-51.
Architects, Cackeur, Burns, Dick and
MacKellar. Brick, stone detailing — a very large
building. Flat roof with clercstory to chapel;
tower with full-height sl windows.
Monumental stone gateway entrance (o
vestibule between hzll and church. Church
interior almost square, large, with chancel.
Narrow central roof bounded by clercsiory and
vear gallery. Light oak pews. The bright pastel
colours of the decor, impressive beamed ceiling,
rectangular ‘Art-Deco’ design of chancel, and
period window-glazing mmake this interior
umque among Unitarian churches, possibly
among all British churches.

Oldham Unitarian Chapel, King Street, 1971.
Congregation (ounded 1813; firsi chapel 1816.
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Second chapel 1577, both in Lord 5treet. Rebuilt
1971 becanse of town re-development.

Brick, small; narrow windows, flat rool. Sited
on (raffic-laden road.

Plymouth Unitarian Church, Natte Swrcet.
Devon. 1958.

Founded 1662 by Rev George Hughes, ejecied
vicar of St Andrew’s Church. First chapel built
1689. Rebuilt 1832 during successful ministry of
Rev W, | Odgers, founder of numerous chapel
institutions such as library, savings club,
writing classes, Sunday school, ctc, aad
campaigner for improved Public Health
facilities. Stone, 5 Dbay with pediment.
Destroyed by bombing 1941.

Architect, Louis de Soissons and Pariners.

Amcrican Colonial style, square, wood with
rendered panels and pyramidal slate roof
surmounted by slirn spire.

Portsmouth, John Pounds Memorial Church,
High Street, OM Portsmouth, Hamopshire. 1956,

Two congregations joined in 1946;
Presbyterian-Unitarian chapel in High Soeet
{first chapel 1691, second 1718, desiroyed by
bombing 1941), and 5t Thomas Strcet General
Baptist Chapel (first 1693, rebuilt 1715 and
1865, bombed 1941).

Archizect, E. A. Down. Brick, stone detailing.
Facade with sieep gable and symmetdcal
window and door pattern n 2 modern
interpretation of meeting-house design.
Attractive arrangement of chapel, garden and
parsonage, Interior, barrel-vauhed ceiling, semi-
circular apse, mullioned side windows. Pews.
Qrgan from Poole chapel. Garden contains
memorizl 1o John Pounds (1765-1839],
shocmaker, who, though crippled by 2 fali into a
dry dock, taught numerous children to read and
write while at his work,

Rawtenstall Unitarian Church, Bank Sureet.
Lancashire, 1971,

First chapel 1757, an Independent foundadion
by George and Richard Whittaker, inspired by
preaching of George Whitefield in Rossendale.
1818, congregation decided rto become
Unitarian, 1853, second chapel built, alered
and schoolrooms undemeath added 1882,
Demolished 197] when roadworks damaged the
foundations.

Unusual aod  effective design  in  white
artificial stone. Chapel surmounted by larger
cantilevercd upper hall with pyramidal roof. Set

Top left Rawienseall,
Middle: Portsmouth.

Top right: memorial 1o john
Pounds, Portsmouth

Below: Newcastle upan Tyne




on brow and approached by Victorian gates and
steps rising through old graveyard.

Interior, modest chapel, cedar woodwork.
Splendid hall with slatted woed ceiling rising to
pyramid; clear verncal windows here and in
chapel give magnificent views of swrounding
country.

Rochdale Unitarian Church, Clover Sireet.
Lancashire. 1974,

Twa congregations, on¢ Presbyterian, the
other Methodist Unitarian, amalgamated 1890.
The first founded by ejected vicar and curate of
Rochdale Parish Church; built meeting house
1672, again in 1717 and in 1857, both in
Blackwater Street [in 1857 first sermon was
preached by Martineau). Demolished 1974
Stone, gabled, small kel rrrer, two aisles,
geometrical tracery.

The second, Providence Chapel, built 1807 lor
Joseph Cooke, replaced by Clover Streer Chapel
in 1818. On amalgamation this became the
Sunday School, demolished 1972 10 make way
for present church. Simple, gabled, round-
arched windows in 1wo storeys. On the old road
over Rooley Moor towards Rossendale are
remains of 'Preaching Stations’ used by
Methodist Unitarians, eg Fairview, Kitbooth
and Knacks Farm.

MNew chapel is of red brick with prominent
stone five-sided apse. Shallow pitch roof, plain
windows. Interior, dual-purpose hall with rear
stage, Burne-Jones windows from Blackwater
Street Chapel set in rectangular frames in apsc.
School and meeting-rooms in 1wo-storey wing
using sloping site.

St Helens Unitarian and Free Christian Church,
Corporation Suezet. Lancashire. 1950.

Congregation founded 1901; first chapel 1904,
destroyed by bombing 154]

Axchitect, G. H. Webber, Liverpool. Brick,
small. Dual-purpose hall and chapel, extended
1956.

Salford, Pendleton Unitarian Free Chuxch, Cross
Lane. Lancashire, 1976.

Founded 1861 as mission. First Church 1874,
demolished 1976 for re-development. Red brick
with lancets, semi-circular chancel. Architect,
Thomas Worthington.

Large complex of buildings in brown
brickwork with castellated appearance.
Octagonal chapel with copper roof and spire,
school and meeting roorns and large windowless
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hall with raked roof. Set in area of new housing
¥4 mile south of previous chapel.

Interior yellow brick with narrow lights.
Lattice sieel trusses rise from octagonal corners
10 central lamern. Interlocking chairs. Pleasant
hotel-like lpunge opens into chapel. Large stage
in ball. Architect, Ray Cowling, chosen because
he had never designed a church before!

Southampton Unitarian Church, London Road.
Hampshire. 1956.

Congregation founded 1846 by Rev Edmund
Kell of Birmingham, archacelogist and anti-
slavery campaigner. First chapel 1860, an ornatc
design in free Lancet style. Deswoyed by
bombing 1940. Present chapel is built on its
foundations (se¢ lower stone courses apd rear
rooms).

Brick, large window on facade. Interior, plain,
spacious; stained gless w apse. Edmund Kell
Memorial Hall ac rear. Chapel 1s about to be
rebuilt on rear site.

Southend-on-Sea Unitarian Meccting House.
Essex. 1977,

Congregation founded 1897, firsi chapel 1898.
Corrugated iron with bargeboard and three
LurTets.

Stand Unitarian Chapel, Ringley Road, Stand
Close, Whitefield, Lancashire. 1955.

Congregation originates from period of
Eiection, when Stand was a remote area where 2
number of Puritan families Jived. First chapel
1693 on site of present chapel; exact appearance
unknown bui possibly on Hale/Dear Row
pattern; eased from Trustces of Stand Grammar
School {minister was schoolmaster, and schoel
appears to have taken place in chapel on
weekdays). Rebwili 1818, meeting-house style
with pedimented porch and belleote, a design
not unlike the present building. Bell in old
chapel inscribed ‘Henry Penn made me, 1708'.
Destroyed by bombing 1940.

axchitect, J. 8. A. Young of Young and Purves
{his grave is in the churchyard}. Brick and
painted wood, American colonial style with tall
lantern. Stone sct in wall below lantern
inscribed ‘Condinwm AD [693 Renovatum AD
1818 Deletum AD 1940 Resuitutum AD 1952

Interior, long rectangular chapel in neo
Georgian style. Shallow chancel. Pews of light
oak, also pulpn and rear glazed partition from
vestibule. Round arched side windows with
interlaced tracery; chancel window ol stained

glass in Ttmemoriam ‘Archibald and Helen
Woolley Winterbottom', and side front window
"The Lesser Brethren' 1954, both by William
Morris Studios. Painted window in vestibule in
memory of Emma and Henry Penninglon,
realistic study of children and parents €.1955.

Complex of meseting-tooms on lower rear
tevel, replacing old Sunday School on opposite
side of road ({demolished 1975). Modem
parsonage on site of old onc of 1788. Large
graveyard, stones; vault of Joseph Hanson 'The
Weavers’ Friend, d. 1811, aged 37. Lych gate of
1901.

West Kirby Free Church, Brookfield Cardens.
Cheshire. 1928,

Congregation founded 1906.

Architect, R. P. Jones [see Cambridge). Rustic
brick and stucco. Gabled chapel and matching
hall with arched link and brick steps; good iron
bannisters, lamps, drain pipes, eic. Chapel side
walls have brick pilasiers with wooden heads
forming eaves.

Interior beautifully designed — the best of R.
P_ Jones. Parana pine panelled walls 1o pilaster
height; sem-cigctdar chancel with Tuscan
pillars and two Juncties. Shallow barrel-vauic
ceiling, plain round-hecaded windows, Original
heating and lighting fixtures. Chairs. Font in
memory of Harold Coventry 1934. Very good
raemorial tablet ta chapel members who died
before chapel was built, 1928. Whole chapel is 2
subtle geomeincal arrangement of sem-circles
and repeated modules of space. Good window
littings.

Hall and kitchen 1932 also with good original
fiings. Surrounded by plessant gardeas;
adjacent parsonage 1965.

Stand Unitarian Chapel, Whiiefield,
Lefr. Pendleton.

Disused Chapels

Accrington, Oxiord Street Lancashire. F 1859, B 1868,
rebuilt 1966 Prefabroated box, now Elim

Birkenhead, Clive Road Ulesbuye T IESL, B 185] at Chiming
Cross, and 1903 a1 Bessborough Rosd. Typical marni-of-che-
vegmiry Tudor Gmibes Chapal. Hebuilt 1856 ke telngsrgd iin
sapne i), plam gabled yellow bridge. Now Eli=
Birmoingham, Billesley. F 1899, B 1899 m Denns Road,
Museley, moveid 1928 to Yardley Wood Tl Frelabricated
Tsiiding wics hall timbered gable and simal] pench.

Colne, Laresstiirs. F 1878 B 1879 = Stanley Road, 1970 in

Fyron Raowl T 1979, Prelabrivaied huibbng.
Gainsborough, Livculosiire. F 188, B 1701 i Beaumont
Srreey, 1923 Tr Sprme, O 1974 Called brick with full

width porel and vouemian window Grave of Rev Jeremuah
Gal), d. 1796, survives tn forecourt, Now a clab.

London, Leytonsione. I 1912, B 193] in Lea Bridge Road,
Knott Green. © 1960, now an elecmical shop

Manchester, Wythenshawe., F 1935, B 1936 and 1959
Rrowrniey Raad Gabled building. [tially successful atempt
1w found cusch on overspill estace O 1976 MNow a West
Indaan Cruscli,

Yeovil, Somersen. F 1660, B 1704, 1809 in Vicarage Street,
1928 at Kingston, 1969 in Coidaoft. Previous chapel
dumglished for ring road. Plain brick.
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CHAPTER SIX

Unitarianism

in Wales:

The Background
to Belief

Atwen Liwynrgminees Dlniariss
Cisape!. Poviipun, the O Chagl,

frmroadire! 172
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In preparing this chapter, we owe 2 debt of gratitude 10 Rev Dr
Elwyn Davies, whose book on the history of Welsh Unitarianism
They Thought for Themsalves {1982] has been the main source of
informanon.

The names in brackets following some proper names are the
bardic names of the individuals concerned. They are often an easier
method of 1dentification.

The mast distinctive feature of Unitarianism in Wales, in contras
10 that of the rest of Britain, is the Welsh language. I3 almos:
universal use in the chapels of Cardiganshire and Carmarthesshiie
{called "the Black Spot’ by onhodox critics| is an integral part of
close-knit communities with a rich history, difficult for the
English-speaker to penetrate. In South-East Wales English is more
often used.

The Orthodex Established Church in Wales was the church of
the landowner and squire, often English-speaking. The stauiig
growth of nonconformity in Wales sprang from the alienation ol
the Welsh people from 1heir landlords, and, ss ¢lsewhere, from a
rapid mndustrialisation with its attendant immigration into the
towns and valleys of South Wales.

Unitanan beliefs, as in England, developed within the Pres-
byterian and Independent congregations formed during the 17th

ceomury, and especially after the Ejection of 1662. For example, in
Swansca threc houses of dissenters were )icensed for religious
services in 1672 and from these congregations arasc a General
Baptist and a Preshyterian church; 1he present Swansea Unitarian
chapel stands on the site of the first Presbytersan chapel of 1698,
Rev Samucl Jones |1628-1697), cjected in 1662, founded the impor-
tant academy of Brynllywarch, and established the Presbyterian
Cbapel at Bridgead, which in the cowse of the 18th century
adopted Unitarian belicfs.

Weish Unitarianism owes ils strongest roots to the love of
learning and the founding of a number of academies, some of very
modest size, in the nural communities of mid and South Walces.
The liberal academy founded by Rev Samuel Jones at Bryallywarch
in mid-Glamorgan was later transferred to Carmarthen, and be-
came the most important training centre for Unitarian ministers,
although it was open to orthodox Independents as well. A pupil of
Samuc] Jones was James Qwen of Oswestry, who was in turn the
teacher of one of the most influential of the carly liberal tutors at
Carmarthen - Thomas Perrot. The Unitarian David Davis (Dafis
Castell Hywel) 1745-1827 kept an academy on his farm at Casiell
Hywel, near Llwynrhydowen, where he prepared students for
Carmarthen College and the English universities. A classics
scholar and renowned poet in the Welsh language, he wanslated
Gray’s Elegy into disiinguished Welsh, David Evans of Cribyn
established a number of small schools and academies in South
Wales around 1800. William Thomas (Gwlym Marles! kept an
academny at Llandysul in the 1860s and '70s.

Ministers trained in these academies came from rural com-
munities and often returned 1o them. Thomas Evans | Tomos Glyn
Cuothi) 1764-1833, a farm scrvant and weaver at Brechia, Carmar-
thenshire, was taught by Dafis Castell Hywel and later established
what js considered to be the first Unitarian church in Wales at
Cwm Cotbi near Gwernogle, north of Carmarthen, in 1792, He
later moved t¢ Abcrdare and rranslated a number of English
Unitarian books 1o Welsh. Jenkin Jones 1700-1742 jgreat-uncle
of \he American architect Frank Lloyd Wright} was a pupil of
Thomas Perrot. He built his own chapel at Llwynrhydowen in
1726, afier eviction from his Independent church because of
unorthodox Armiman views {universal salvation as opposed to
salvation of the elect}. Rebuilt in 1733, it i5 now a museum of
Welsh Unitarianisza. In 1742 a sister church was built at nearby
Alltyblaca. An occasinnal preacher at these 1wo churches ¢.1800,
Dr Charles Lloyd, inspired the building of itwo more nearby
chapels at Pantydefaid and Capel-y-Groes. A minister here, Rev
John Jarnes, lodged on the farm at Lloyd Jack of David Jenkins Rees
who, by his enthusiasm and generosity, founded a school at Ystrad
and the Unitarian Chapel at Rhydygwin. The old chapel a
Llwynrhydowen continued 10 provide points of growth; the
dynamic preacher and social reformer William Thomas (Gwilym
Marles) 1834-79, great-uncle of Dylan Thomas, was minisier here
after training 2t Carmarthen and Glasgow University. He also
founded Graig Chapel in the market 1own of Llandysul.

Bridpeead, Glamorgan (1795).

lmterior of Rhydygwin, Fe



Minetecoth ceniury engraving of
Highland Place, Aburdare 1860},

Interior of Capel-y-Groes, Llanwnen
{16904,

By thc latc 18th century contaces were being forged with
Unitarians outside Wales. Bdward Williams (Iolo Morganwg)
1747-1826, monumental mason, poet and bardic antiquary,
possessed, according to Richard Wright, ‘great zeal for the
promotion of rational religion’. He translated several English
Unitarian works into Welsh and travelled on foot to London many
times 10 meet Lindsey, Pricstley and Belsham; he attended the
apening of Essex Church in 1774, The three Rees brothers, sons of
Rev Josiah Rees of Gellionen, 1744-1804, who published the [irst
Welsh magazine, Yr Furgrawn, were respectively Thomas Rees,
translator of the Racovian Catechism and author of The Beauties of
Wales; Owen Rees, founder of Longmans publishing company; and
Sir Josiah Rees, British Cansul in Smyma. Rev Dr Richard Price of
Bridgend became Minister in London at Hackney and Newington
Green, and was a champion of civil liberties as well as the pioncer
of the principles of life assurance. In 1811 and 1816-19 G.Lyons,
George Harris and Richard Wright travelled through Wales on
preaching wissions. Their records of these joumeys provide
valuable insights inlo Welsh Unicarianism and its chapels.

The ideas of the French Revolution found a sympathetic ear
among Unuarians in Wales, as elsewhere. Tomos Glyn Cotbi was
jailed in 1801 for his political views. Later in the century the
radical minister Thomas Emalyn Thomas of Cribyn supponed the
Children of Rebecca by preparing a petition for the extension of the
franchisc. Gwilym Marles, champion of 2 oppressed tenantry, fell
foul of the landlords and was evieted from Llwynrhydowen Chapel
in 1876 lor supporting frec clections.

In 1802 the Welsh Unitarian Society was founded on the
initiative of lolo Morganwg. At the same time a number of General
Baptist chapels in South Wales became Unitarian, During the 19th
century rapid industrialisation in the Valleys Jed to the building of

chapels in the area of Abcrdare, Merthyr Tydlil, Pontypridd, and
Glanrhondda. Welsh nonconformist chapels — including
Unitarian ones — have characteristics rather different from English
chapels None of the Upitarian chapels rise io the soaring
splendour of the Baptist or Methodist Zions and Bethels. Most of
them were built in the 19th century, but their style is generally
traditional {the meeting housc tradition is still evident as late as
1900 at Capel Uan). The earlier chapels of the meeting house
period, stone and often now rendered in a sombre grey, have the
characteristic ¢nod doors with cenrral pulpit oo the long wall and
galleries to the sides and/or rear. Some are now ‘tumed’ and
galleries rernoved [as at Bridgend).

Alter the mid-19th century most chapels present a gable end to
the road with a central enurance, rouad-arched windows to sides
and above. Only rarely was the Gothic style adopted, usnally in the
larger more sophisticated towns such as Swansea {1847) and
Merthyr Tydfil {1901), where Gothic detail is in full flight. Cardff
has 2 character 21l its own. Gothic was never used in the village
chapels; designs were copied from one location o another.

Internally the later chapels are a plain reclangte with gallery over
the eénrance on iron columns. The ceatral pulpic is on the shen
wall oppgsite the entrance with a shallow rooulded and paiated
arch behind, of which quite 2 feature is made. The large pulpit dais
is reached by a pair or single Bight of sieps with decorative
balustrading. In front is an enclosure for the altar table.

Since many chapels are in remote areas, the only artificial light
had (0 be an oil lamp mounted on ihe pulpit. Electricity has
reached some of the chapels, buwi the ¢il lamps remain — an
attractive [eature. Nearly all the interiors are impressive in the
meticulous preservation of aditiona! arrangements and furniture.

Teoj (rallionen 118011 Abaove
imieaior ) Pastydeiand, Preagwyn
e Aelow Absrysiwyed,
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Aberdare, Highland Place Unitarian Church,
Monk Street. Glamorgan. 1880. Founded same
year.

An English-speaking church, the result of
increased population i this coalfield area
Unitarian landlord encouraged the building of a
group of chapels — Methodist, Baptisi, Catholic
as well as Unitanan,

Stone, high gable-end with Gothic window
above porch. Architect H. ). Paull of Carduf.
Towards the top of the town, oo a steep hill.

Abcerdare, Teecyoon Old Mceeting House, Alma
Street. Glamaorgan. 1862. Founded 1751
wogether with Cefn Coed as a result of
breakaways from Cwmyglo and Ynysgau
ladependent churches on the other side of the
mountain. Bas had a succession of distin-
guished radical ministers,

North wall has inset headsione from grave of
Thomus Evans {Tomos Glyn Cothi}, minister
1811-33, radical, Unitarian, and Ffriend of
Priestley and Lindsey. Another ministes, [abhn
Jomes, kept school and was founder of the Welsh
Inguirier, Yr Ymofynnydd.

Rendered sione, gabled facade with arched
doorway and first-floor windows.

Aberystwyth, New Siest Mecting House.
Cardiganshire. First mer 1595 an library of
(. Eyre Evans. Chapel was built as an estate
office ¢ 1810 later & Quaker Mecung House
mow shared with Quakers). Dedicated as a
Unitarian Chnstian Chach, 1906 Very small;
classical facade, elegant arrangement of doors,
windaws and pediment,

Alleyblaca  Unitarian  Chapel, Llanybyther.
Cardiganshire. 1837.

Founded 1740, 1the second foundation in "the
Black Spot' after Llwynrhydowen, and by the
samc minister, Jenkin Jones. 1D Jacob Davies, a
national Dpure was mimster 1957-74. The
original bulding is reputed to bave been
converted into cottages.

Grey rendered, simple arrangement of arched
windows and two duors. Long graveyard in
front, many graves.

Bridgend, Old Meceting House, Park Streec.

Glamorgan. 1795.
Founded 1672 by Rev Samuel Jones, ejected
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from his living at Llangyawyd, mid-Glamorgan.
His fust dissemting congregation was  at
Cildewdy from which sprang churches at Beutws
and Bridgend. Now remted 1o Elim Pentccostal
Church; occasional services only.

Traditional mecting-house design, blue-grey
rendering, slate hipped roof. Mice armangement
of sash and circular |now blocked] windows.
Central date-stone. Plain interior, turned, side
galleries now removed. Paved graveyard with a
few good gravestones stacked at sides

Capel Wan, Panteg Unitarian Chapel, Newcastle
Emlyn. Carmarthen. 1900. Congregation
founded 1697. Earlier chapel built 1764.

One of ten Baptist chapels which decided not
to accept the Calvanistic Baptist Confession of
Faith at the Baptist Assembly of 1799 at Salem
Meidnm addressed by Walliam Richards of
King's Lynn.

Stone, tradinional meeting-housce stylc.

Cardif, West Grove Unitarian Church, 1887,

Congregation  founded 1880, In spuv ol
presence of old dissenting causes in 17th and
18th centuries, and scattered Unitarians later,
there was no Unitarian church in Cardiff until a
congregation started meering in the Great
Western Coffee Tavern in 1ESD.

Gabled building in debased Queen Anne style
with Italizanate staircase rower and ill-matched
vestihule along street fromtage. Interior, large
single space. Dark red-brown brick walls, stone
derailing, as owside Original furniture and
tirtings. Central pulpit on dais with rising sun
decoration and text, set in arch.

Cardiff, St Fagans, Penthiw Unitarian Chapel,
formerly at Drefach, Llandysul and re-erected in
St Pagans Folk Park {Natiopal Museum of
Wales). 1777.

Simple whitewashed stone; two doors, three
windows. Interior complete, three-sided gallery
reached up stone steps. Box-pews include
Squire's and elders’, pulpit. Open roof of five
trusses supporung coffin bearer — a fine
example of 18th century joinery. Services are
conducied here i the summer,

Carmarthen, Parc-y-Velvet Chapel, Maunsel
Strect, 1549,

Until 1963, the chapel of Carmarthen College
fcollege merged with Aberystwydh).

Small, plain, gabled; odd mixture of lancer

windows and [onic side-pilasiers. Central
dedication stone, usual on Welsh chapels.

Cefn Coed , Hen Dy Cwidd, Old Chapet Road,
Merthyr Tydfil, Glamorgan. 1853.

Founded 1747 together with Trecynon chapel,
Aberdare, as breakaway fom Independent
churches at Cwmyglo and Merthyr. Site was a
remote foresi-clearing. Rev Owen Evans
|minisier 1835-65] lounded Yr Ymofymnydd, the
Welsh Unitarian periodical, cxamined in
Hebrew at Carmarthen College and kept a
Grammar Schoo! at Cefo Coed.

High gable-end on steep hillside, rendercd.
Romanesque windows with classical pediment.
Usual clear Jeutering identifying chapel on
facade.

Ceilan, Caeronnen Unitarian Chapel, Lampeter,
Cardiganshire. 1846.

Congregation originated ¢.1654 in a church
‘gathered” by Rees Powel. Congregation
worshipped in 2 converted harn {remnants of
gallery survive] at Caemnnen  farm woril
removal 1o Cellan village

Small, sturdy meeting-house, rendered stone.
Sash windows. Name and date in plaster in
gable. Plain, traditiomal interior. Clock inscribed
‘Rhodd. Mrs Davies Trebanne. D, Joncs
Lampeter'. Graveyard and manse adjoining.

Ciliau Aeron Unitarian Chapel, Lampeier,
Carliganshire. 1899.

Congegation  founded ¢.1650; same carly
history #5 Caeronnen Ciliau mcans rctreat,
1cterming 10 early secret meetings.

Rebuilt in stone in Gothic style on
embankment above road Interior with nave and
chancel, pulpit by chancel arch, backed by nice
oil lamnp. Hammerbeam roof. Memorials on
inside and outside walle

—

Alsgyr left: Capel Penchiw. formeyly ai Daefack,
.

[ fametprd, ra-garched ai tlee Weleh Folk Mugews, S0
Fagan 8, CardSll {2777). Righe Cantdly Lnieeiss Okl
West Grove, Befow: Catroonen Uninariar Chepel.

Callan, Lampeter.




Capel-y Lroes, Llanwnen.

Cribyn Unitarian Chapel, Lampeter.
Cardiganshire. 1852,

Founded 1790 as off-shoot of Caeronnen by
Dafis Castell Hywel. Original chapel of mud and
straw thatch.

Modest meeting-house, stone, rendered front.
Slate dedication stone on side wall; original
datestone of }790. Traditional arrangement
inside. Large graveyard, many stones. School
conducted by David Evans [1886-1928),
reputedly the last minister to keep an academy,
in cottages alongside chapel.

Cwmsychbant, Capel-y-Cwm, Llanybyther.
Cardiganshire. 1906.

The most recent Unitarian chapel built in
Cardiganshire. First meetings held in *Ty Cwrdd
Storws’ [The Stores Meering-House) 1905.

Beautifully kept simple rendered chapel,
schoolroom bebind. Large graveyard with many
stones. Design similar to Cwrinewydd.

Cwrtnewydd, Capel y Bryn, Llanybyther.
Cardiganshire. 1882.

Congregation originated in the 1830s, when a
school-house was built and used by Unitarian
ministers from Llwynrbydowen and Pancydefaid
for services A successful link with Alltyblaca
enabled mew chapel to be built on hill above
village.
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Rhydyvgwin, Felinfoch.

Opposite lefi: Capely-Cun, Cwmsychbant, Llanybythe.
Oppaosite nght, Brondeifi, Lampeter

Pink stone; gabled facade, arched windows
front and side, central porch. Interior beautifully
painted in pastel colours. Central pulpit on dais,
painted arch above, rear gallery. Nice wooden
ceiling bosses. Fine graveyard with stone war
merporial.

Felinfach, Rhydygwin Ubpitarian Chapel,
Lampeter. Cardiganshire. 1848.

Congregation originated in 1802 at Lloyd Jack
Farm, Vale of Aeron, home of David Jenkins
Rees. Outbuildings in which services were held
can stil] be seen. Rees gave hospitality 10 Rev
John James, minister of Pantydefaid and Capel-
y-Groes, apd services were held at Lloyd Jack
until Mr Rees built 2 schoo! in the village of
Ystrad in 1808. Opposition caused thc
congregation to be evicted. The Earl of
Carrington then offered a site on his estate for
the present chapel.

A most attractive building, rendered and
painted with hung slates on side wall and
pleasant arrangement of doors and windows.
Cottage adjoining. Intimate interior perfectly
preserved; 3 sided pine gallery, pews and pulpit.
Clock; oil Jamps. Graveyard with good
memorials.

Gellionen Unitarian Chapel, Pontardawe,
Swansea. 1801.

Congregation was one of five dissenting
causes founded by Rev Robert Thomas after his
ejection ia 1662 from Cadoxion Church. Two of
the five {Blaengwrach and Gellionen) became
Unitarian by the end of the 18th century, during
the long minisiry of Rev Josiah Recs [see
Introduction). His fellow minister at
Blzengwrath, Rev Thomas Morgan (1737-1813),
practised medicine and is reputed to have
administered cow-pox serum to hundreds of
children in the valleys, long before |epner’s
cxperiments to cure smallpox.) Buried in Rees
family grave [see inrroduction) in Gellionen
graveyard.,

Chapel is rendered stone, meeting-house
style, occupies the top of Cellionen mountain,
swrrounded by a large graveyard. Interior has
memorial to Thomas Morgan, reputedly carved
by lolo Morganwg.

Lampeter, Brondeifi Unitarian Chapel.
Cardiganshire. 1904,

Founded 1874; first chapel 1876, but structure
was fauity and had 1o be demolished. Rebuilt on
same site.

Dark grey stone, light sandstone detailing;
Gothic style with small spire at side. Graveyard
with nice stones.

Llandysul, Graig Unitarian Chapel.
Cardiganshire. 1884,

Founded 1868 by Gwilym Marles when he
was living and teaching in Landysul and

minister at Llwynrhydowen.

Dark stone, Gothic, with swbby entance
tower and schoolroom at rightangles. Sct in
town backwater of passages and narrow lanes.

Liapwnen, Capel-y-Groes Unitarian Chapel,
Lampeter, Cardiganshire. 1890.

Founded 1802 at the same time as Pantyde-
faid, result of preaching of Rev Charles Lloyd at
Alityblaca. David Jenkins Rees and Jolo
Morganwg also involved in foundation;
dedication stone carved by Jolo, recently found
under the pulpit, now mounted on right-band
outside wall.

Rendercd stone, gabled facade and interior
similar to Cwrimewydd. Beautifully cared for;
interior colourfully decorated. Large graveyard
includes grave of John Jenkins the jockey,
d.1804.

Llwynrhydowen Unitarian Chapel, Llandysul.
Cardiganshire. 1879.

The precursor of all the Unitarian chapels of
South-Wes1t Wales, founded 1726 by jenkin
lones. Jones, an Independent, was denied access
1o his church at Pantycrenddyn and had to build
his own chapel in 1733 — the first Amminian
church in Wales.

There Iollowed a2 number of distinguished
ministers, including David Davis of Castell
Hywell, who kept an Academy at his farm, and
William Thornas [Gwilym Marles|, great-uncle
of Dylan Thomas, champion of the poor and
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oppressed tenantry at a time of great hardship
When members of the church did not vote in the
1868 clection according to the wishes of the
landlord, the congregation were evicted and
Gwilym Marles held services in the open air,
His grave is in front of the chapel. A new chapel
built on the Pontsian Road; stone, gabled,
recessed centre arch with 3 windows above
porch. Interior similar 10 Cwrtnewyidd.

Old Chapel is now a muscum of Welsh
Urntarianism, tall stone meeting-house with
cropped gable and fine arrangement of doors and
windows. Probably 1726. Graveyard.

Wooden chapel (Ty Cwrdd] used by evicied
congregation can be seen oo B4338 Newcastle-
Emiyn Road. Castell Hywel, now a holiday
farm, is oo New Quay Road about two miles
from Old Chapel. Blacnralltddu, bome of Frank
Lloyd Wright's ancestors, lies off A475 betwecn
Castell Hywel and Llwynrhydowen.

Nottage General Baptist and Unitanan Chapel,
Porthcaw!, Glaroorgan. 1877.

Founded 1789; Baptist minisier Evan Lloyd
atiended Assembly of Salem Meidrym in 1799
and rcfused (o assent to Baptist Confession of
Faith; became minister at Nortage and Wick
1806. These two chapels were served by him
and three mimsters of his [amily unti) 1928 [see
plague inside chapel).

Small plain chapel squeczed into narrow lanes
of Nottage village. Plain traditional interior.

Pantydefaid Unitarian Chapel, Prengwyn,
Llandysul. Cardiganshire. 1816.

Founded 1802 with CTapel-y-Groes by Rev
Charles Lloyd, land given by son of Jenkin Jones.
graveyard and bigger chapel needed by 1836. Rev
Thomas Thomas, minister 1847-95  kept
secondary school al Pomsian specialising in
classics and seamanship. Numerous graves
ysome with English wordingl include mariners.

Rendered stone with pymamulal roof. Four
Romanesque windows, centre 1wo  above
entrance. Intenor; central pulpit, cast iron
gallery and painted pine cciling. Stained glass,
Marhle memorials; plagque w Jenkin Lloyd Jones
of Chicagn 1843-1914.

Crigiand dedication stone above door carved
by lolo Morganwg, now missig. The wording
“Ta us there is only One God the Father” was
carved by lolo in the belief that words on a
chapel wall woulll preach more to the passing
people than a thousand sermons.
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Swansea Unitarian Church, High Streer, 1847,
Derives from the early history of Puritanism
in the own; an Independent 'gathered’ church
of Ambrose Mostyvn . 1646, Three houses
licensed for worsh:p 1672; that of Daniel Higgs
of Rhosilli who budt a chapel ¢ 1689; later used
by Baptists. Presbyterians built new chapel,
1698, on st of present Unitarian chapel.

Sct back from street behind graveyvard. Stone,
with arched portico and two pinbacles, large
Gorthic window above arcading. Interior has iron
columans; ensign displayed near pulpit records
support for William of Orange on his landing in
1688.

Talgarreg, Bwlch-y-Fadfa, Llandysul.
Cardiganshire. 1906.
Founded 1812,
Llwynrhydowern.
First meeting-bousec now cottages. Chapel
wdentical in design  with Grzig Chapel,
Llandysul, built 22 years carlier.

breakaway from

Trebanos, Graig Unilarian Chapel, Pontardawe,
Swansea, 1894.
Founded 1862 at boutom of Gellionen
Mountain, to case access for Unitarian worship.
Stune, gabled facade with arched windows
and finial stands high above the road.

Trecynon, Old Mceeting House, sce Aberdare.

Treorchy, Glanrhondda Unitarian Church, 100z
tiigh Sureet. Glamorgan. 1895.

Founded 1893 from Abvrdare.

Rendered stope facade wiath 3 arched windows
and centre porch on steep site by roadside;
caretaker’'s housc undermeath. Plain intenor,
appealing in its austerity. Central pulpit,
boarded ceiling with wooden bosses. Recently
vacated.

Wick Unitarian Chapel, Bridgend, Glamorgan.
1792

General Baptist foundation linked in its
passage to Unitarianism with Notige, qv.

Very maodest, typical Baptist meering-house
on the edge of Wick Green. Two long lancet
windows ¢ither side of door, lcan-to moeting-
room. Interior uaspoily, with 3 sided gallery,
pews. [arge interesting graveyard with remains
of baptistry. One of the most delightful of the
Welsb chapels.

Disustd or demolished Chapels

Teammient Uniiarian cames = Wiles have bees masy; e
toZowisg ddings srilect sigmibizan, presence b e el

Bettws, Bridgend, Glenssgssn Epcnes foundsien,
¢ 1880. Chispe| slrusted s teem known a5 The City', now
demotished

Blaciigwrach, Gle==sgan. Fasmlaion same as Calllmss o
IETE New mundsiions only. Bomessly ivmmic om

mrustez wide aheve Vale of Mrath, smongst shorp end pu
tiesdy widli virtam 1o Brecon Besoons,

Clydach Vale, Clydach Road. Glamorgas. B 1893,

Cwmbach Uniarian Clupel, Beddge Soecr,  Aberdase,
Clamurgan, F 1857, I 1E79, Oecadanal servises.

Cwmwrdu, Fieckds Foest, Carnastheroboe B 1832 Npw 2
Unitarian el Cenise.

Cwim Cochi: Orginal chapel of Tomms Gl Cathy,
Cwigrmogir e Brechfs, Carmamibemshire. § §™0 Mow a
Brap o sinres

Dowlals, White Street. Glanunges B 1881,

Menhyr Tydfil, 8¢ Thomas Suers Chepel. Glessoigan B
1901, Rephicnd Twyniiedyn Chepel, desolished early
1W7s Aurasbve Godlie style, pood stained gloos by use mi g
cominunity cente lae (TS,

Mountain Ash, Napicr Sureer. Glamorgan 1l %11,
Onatnfawr, Llandeilo, Canmanfenshine I (8%, C 1986

Pontypridd, Un:zaran Cruspel, Morges Sisern. Gluworgan. B
1906, C 198G Camhie, senile 1o S=dtses,

Rhydyparc, St Cleass, Cammmasiberahing, B 185, C ¢ 1000

5t Clears, Capsnarshenshire, 18th ceniury, B 1827 O Ly
19th century.

Abuve Jefe: Pamyds faid, Reght: memonil w
Liwynihydowen.
Helow: Wichk, Bottorm. Norage

| _—
'Hl!lfrl,lf_f ]
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CHAPTER SEVEN

Unitarianism
in Scotland
by Andrew Hill

Abnwg S1 Mk @ Chueci,
falinhesrph [[BTS) Arciutrey, Dmed
Aiyoe
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Scotland has a distinct heritage all of its own. In education,
jurisprugence, family law, property ownership and hanking, and
above all religion, Scotland is substantially different from the rest
of the United Kingdom.

The religious heritage of Scotland is predominantly Refermed.
The reformation of religion went further in Scotland than it did in
England, precluding the second stage reformation which brought
forth the English Nonconfonmist rzadition in which many older
English Unitarian congregations bave their ongins. So ‘moederate’
in places, during the 18th centory, was the Church of Scotland {the
poet Robert Burns was theologically Unitarian|, that English

Rational Disscrters felt guite at home in the Kirk. Bul 1the 'New
Light' thinking was cvenmally eclipsed by an upsurge of
evangelical relipion and renews] emplhasis upon the Westminster
Confessionn of Faith [the doctrinal mandard of the Scotutish
Church).

Against this background Scottish Unitarianism, now
represented by four congregations ar Aberdeen, Dundee, Edinburgh
and Glasgow, made its appewrance. Two strands of influence were
impertant
1 A native tesponse 10 the tyrannous God of Scoriish Calvinism

icsulting o a2 aumber of small Univeraalist saceties in the

Central Lowlands during the Jare 18th and carly 19th centurics.

St Mark’s Unitarian Church, Edinburgh licgan as one of thesc

socictics in 1776; and the present Dundee church is a rnemorial

to Heory Williamson, a Universalist who refounded the

Unitarian church there in 1880
2 Contact with Lnglish Unitarians William Christie, a

correspondent of Jaseph Priestley, started the first Scottish

Unitarian congregation at Montrose in 1781, Chrisiie

cventually followed Pricsticy to the United S1ates and officiated

at his mentor's graveside. Christie was alsa responsible for
encouraging Thomas Fyshe Palmer, an Engliab ex-Anglican

Unirarian, 1o come to Scotland where Falmer began the earlier

Dundee congregation in 1785. Palmer was later degorted o an

Aunstraliun convict settlement for alleged sediton.

The Clasgow Unitarian Church is & response to bmh these
strands of influence. LIniversalist societies were numerous m the
west, and many English Unitarians came to study at Glasgow
College |now the University] renowned for its theological
moderatism, when the English universities were closed 1o
nonconformists. The congiepation dates from 1791, The Aberdeen
cangregation, the most northerly Unitarian congregation in
Britain, is a tribute to the energy of Glasgow minister George
Harris, in propagating Unitarianism in a wide varieiy of centres.
The Aberdeen Church was founded in 1833,

‘The four Scottish churches are all very differemt in cluracter
They all belong 10 the Scoutish Unitarian Association which sois
both as o district association for che British Unitanan Genesal
AssemnBly, and &% & nailonal associatioh represening Unbtasian
mterests 1w Scatland.

Abbve: Abeidean (1900). Brdow
mieror o Dunder [1985)
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Aberdeen Unitarian Church, Skene Street, 1906.

Founded 1833. First chapel 1840 in George
Street. Solidly built of grey granite. Two squal
towers either side of pedimented and pilastered
facade; Kirk upstairs, ball below. Arched
window at top with niches, superfluous balcony
below. Interior: barrel-arched ceiling. Chancel
arch encloses central pulpit in front of Jarge
mural of Parable of the Sower by John Aitken.
Henry Williamson memorial windew from
Dundee.

Dundee, Williamson Memorial Unitarian
Christian Church, Dudhope Sireet, 1969.

Congregation founded by Thomas Fyshe
Palmer, minister 1785-88, transporied 1793 for
criticism of the Government over parliarnentary
reform. Second, Cothic building 1870 in
Constitution Road, during record 60 year
ministry of Rev Henry Willismson after whom
present chapel named. Demolished for inner
ring road. Exterior z stark glass and concrete
box. Interior more sympathetic and colourful;
traditional worship layour, fixed benches; organ
largely built by William Millar jminister
1967-72). Meeting room underneath.

Edinburgh, St Mark's Church, Castle Terrace,
1835.

Congregation originated 1776; breakaway
group from Reformed Presbytery formed round
first minister, Rev James Purves a1 Broughton,
East Edinburgh (near Register House}. After
several moves and support from Wilham Vidler,
Richard Wright and the successfuly ministry of
Rev Southwood Smith ({1812-16), moved o
chapel at Young Street in the New Town, 1823.

Barogue sione facade with decorative parapet,
round-arched windows divided by pilasters,
doorcase with broken pediment. Sct in terrace
which it predates. Hall at rear.

Interior has barrel-arched ceiling and side
galleries, both supported on cast iron classical
columns. Spectacular high pulpit with omate
soonding-board, now sadly discarded and
replaced with a moedern apestry hanging.

Two front windows have glass donated by
John Puliar of Perth. Chapel originally held 700;
reseated to hold 400. Architect David Bryce
{later designed Edinburgh Royal Infirmary, The
Mound Bank of Scotland, and Fertes College).

Chapel was undermined by Edinburgh and
Glasgow Railway in 1845, recciving £1,000
126

compensation; in 18934 reccived £3,000
wayleave for railway tunnel (hall built with
proceeds).

Glasgow Unilarian Church, 72 Berkeley Street.

Congregation dates from 1791; first chapel
1812 in Union Street. St Vincent Sureet Chapel
opened 1856; siriking classical design in the
heart of the city. Limestone pure fonic Greek
temple; interior illuminated by skylight, with
large draped female figures holding lights,
mounted on elaborate corbels. Procenivim arch
enclosed plaiform for pulpit and fine Spetzler
organ |now in Glasgow University]. (Pews
removed and platfoom insented 1854.)

Chapel demolished 1982 for government
offices. An excellent classical building and a sad
loss. Congregation now moved 1o former Haig
Whisky oflices in Berkeley Street.

The lallowing congregatines built chapels, chough most were
short-hived:
Girvan, Wilson Street. Ayrshn 8 1850 Closed 1863.

Glasgow, Ross Strect. B 1876 € 1947, Recently demolished.
Founded (571 by John Page-Hopps as East-end mussiwn for
Vincent Street, Romanesque with prominent rose window
gable

Kirkaldy, Hunter Street Iife. B 1899, C 1920 and now par of
Post Qdhwce. Sione, simple pediment

Kilmamock, Clerk's Lane. Ayrsiace B 1775, C 1907, Square
stone mlldimg with hipped roof — quite ambitiows. Built as
an Anti-Burghes Meeilng Houss; 1886 leh Evangelical Unicn
ang became Free Chitstan Church,

Maoirose, Ml Strect. Apgus B 1781 C 1794, Early
foundatton associated with Thomas Fyshe-Palmer and
William Christie,

Paisley, Goorge Street Renfrew B 1817, C 1900,

Perth, Morth William Streer. B 1876, C ¢ 1880, Three-storey,
stone, domestic appeatancs.

Port Glasgow, Cillespie's Wynd. Renfrew. 5 1822.Cc.) B49.

Stenhouseroudy, St Pawl’s Universalist Church, Man Stzect
Stirlingshire. B 1875, C 1929, Became Free Masons’ Lodge,
survweing tull 1965,

Tillicouliry, Old Secession Church, Mill Sereet.
Clackmannan. B 1841, € c.1858. A simple gabled building
supvives @1 Mill Street opposite Middleron Mill, mow 2
Masons' Lodge.

Oppoicie: interior uf Glesgow {inigsian Church,
Vircem: Srreer (acs demolishicd),

faterser ul Vigerat Sivset, Clasgow before alteration.
showliig he clasaical casing for the Seetzler organ inow
m Clasgow University).

Glosgow Unitarian Church, Vincent Streel.
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CHAPTER EIGHT

The Non-
Subscribing
Presbyterian Church
of Ireland

by John McLachlan

Interior of First Presbyierian
Chuzch, Roscinary Suees, Belfast,
1783, Archiieet, Roger Mulholland,
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The Plantation of Ulster took place from the year 1605 onwards
and brought 10 the North of Ircland many Scottish and English
settlers. Not a few were Presbyterians, opposed to episcopacy and a
Hrurgy. During the reign of Charles I, the Government deprived
some of their pulpits, and only in 1641, with the comicg of a
Scottish army vnder General Munro to put down rebellion, did
Presbyterianism gain a firm foothold oa Irish soil.

The first presbytery was set up on 10th June 1842 at
Carrickfergus. This kind of Presbyterianism was based directly
upon the Bible as the word of God and not the Confession of the
Westminster divines of 1547. In Dublin and the South an English
type, freer both in doctrine 2nd discipline established itsclf 2nd its
existence there influenced the North in the direction of a milder
and mellower faith. In Belfast the first minister of the first
roecting-house |{note the typical word for a church), erccted
probably in 1668, was an Englishman, the Rev William Keyes, and
his patren, Letina Hickes, Countess of Donegal, was an English
Presbyterian.

John Abernethy has been called 'the father of Non Subscription
in lreland’. Educated at Glasgow University, where he came under
the influence of liberal-minded teachers, Abemethy and his fellow
students cherished the Reformation principle of the liberty of the

Christian rman and the right of private judgement. Soon after his
sertlement at Anirim, he founded an association of ministers for
the discussion of theological problems. It met ar Belfast and
becarne known as ‘The Belfast Society’. Its members included
some of the mest intelligent, cultured and distinguished
Presbyterian ministers in Ulster. They determined o take the
Scriptures, interpreted vationally and fairly, as their sole Rule of
Fajth. They were opposed (0 man-made creeds, specifically the
Westminster Confession, and their opinions were dubbed ‘New
Light’, as opposed to 'Old Light’, epithets that became famous.
Early in 1720, Samuel Haliday was installed 2s minister of the First
Presbyterian Church, Belfast, bot refused 1o subscribe to 2ny man-
made confession. Ocher menabers of the Belfast Socziety likewise
refused subscription 1o creeds. The Non-subscription controversy
which ensued resulted in 1725 in the exclusion of the Presbytery of
Amrim, in which the Non-subscribers were gathered, from che
Syned of Ulster.

Almost one hundred years later, when liberal ideas had further
affected theology and softened the asperities of the old Calvinism,
anather event oceurred which compelled some ministers and their
congregations unwillingly 10 separate from the Ulster Synod. This
was the attempt of the Rev Henry Cooke and others to fix the yoke
of subscription once more on the backs of Presbyterians chiefly in
County Down. Led by Rev Dr Henry Montgomery, a new wave of
Non-subscribers drew up a Remonstrance {17 ministers and 11 lay
elders) and their body was excluded from che General Synod. The
Remonstrams comprised thrce presbyterics: Armagh, Bangor and
Templepatrick, which evenrually becarue associated with the
Presbytery of Anwim and with Non-subscribers in the South of
Ireland who were organised in the Synod of Munsier. Finally, al)
these united in 1910 as 'The Non-Subscribing Presbyterian Church
of Ireland’, wpon the basis of the Bible interpreted 'under the
guidance of the spiric and teaching of Jesus Christ’ 2nd io the beliel
that unity in religion is to be sought, not in uniformity of creed,
but in s common standard of righteousness after the pattern and
coramandment of Jesus. The 'sacred right of private judgement and
the importance of free wnquiry in matcers of religion’ were both
upheld in the Constirution of the Church drawn up in 1910 Hence
n general Non-subscribers have been in the forefront of religious
thought in Ireland from that time onwards.

in 1928, a( the formation of the General Assembly of Unitarian
and Free Christian Churcbes, the NSPCI was invited 10 become an
affiliated member. It rematns, however, completely independent of
the General Assembly in its governrent.

Though small in size — there are only 33 churches served by an
even smaller nuinber of ministers and lay-elders — the NSPCI
oceupies an honoured place within the community. Congregations
are markedly ‘church-roinded’, generous and loyal. Their meetnng
houses are often plain and largely unadorned, but possess a simple
dignity which impresses and is conducive 10 sound preaching and
$incere worship. Most are plain halls with sash-windows lighting
qQuite dignified interiors, mot seldom containing box-pews and a tall
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palpin against a long wall. Towards the end of the eighteenth
century, & number weTe two-storeyed with galleries and entrances
wreated 1 classical style, sometimes with columms or pilasiers
surmounted by &n emtablature and pediment.

The First Presbyterian Church, Belfaste [1783] by Roger
Mulholland {1740-1818) is elliptical in plan, with a fuze swerving
oak balcony front, oak bex-pews and a zich effect centring on the
tall pulpit opposite to the two entrance aisles.

The Daimmnurry First Presbyterian Church (1779), on the other
hand, is a magnificent barn-church, entered by two doors on the
long side of the recrangle, ser between three semi-circular headed
windows. Clough, Killinchy, smd Banbridge Non-subscribing
churches wic good examples of the classical mode, whilst Newry
and All Souls, Belfast, are examples of the Gothic style.

All 1hese Non-Subscribing chapels are well cared for. In the
event of a congregation ceasing to care for a chapel, due to closure
Archlizer, Bogey Meholloed or inability,the presbytery assiymes responsiblity.
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Gazetteer: Ireland

Ballee Presbyterian Meeting House. County
Down. 1890.

Congregation founded 1697. Meeting house
built 1721 and renovated in 1890 and 1912. The
L-shaped building stands in its own linle ‘csiate’
with grounds, graveyard, and a substantial
manse amid the fields,

Ballycarry Presbyterian Old Meeting House.
Coumiry Antrim. 1710.

Originating in 1646, probably the oldest
Presbyterian causc in Ulster, Plain rectangular
preaching-room.

Ballyclare Old Presbyterian Meeting House,
Main Street. County Ancwrim. 1871.

Probably founded 1652. Low-lying rectangular
worship-house with simple pointed Cothic
windows, neat small garden at froot.

Ballyhalbert, Ballyhernlin Meeting House,
Newtownards. County Dowa. 1835. Plain.

Banbridge, First Presbyterian Non-Subscribing
Congregation, Downshire Road. County Down.
1844.

Founded 1716, Ilmposmg classical style;
facade and porch with pediment and Ionic
columns.

Belfast, First Presbyterian Church, Roscmary
Street, 1783

Congregation dates from 1644; the mother-
church of Presbyterianism in the City.
Architect, Roger Mulholland [1740-1818) who
was influenced by Gibbs. Elliptical shape; fine
curving gallery supported on classical columns.
Original oak pews; carved pulpit. Many good
memorials. ‘The finest example of Georgian
work in Bellast’ {John Betjeman). In 1789 john
Wesley preached here, described it as ‘the
completest place of worship 1 have ever seen’.
Severe bomb-damage of the 1970's has been
yepaired and the whole restored. Good stained

glass.

Belfast, Second Presbyterian Coogregation, All
Souls’ Church, Elmwood Avenue, 1896,
{Formerly Rosernary Street, demolished ¢.1965).

First building 1708. Amalgamarted with York
Street Non-Subscribing Presbyterian
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Congregation (B 1891 in 1942,

The Gothic church with tower, chancel and
altar front are unigue in Irish Non-Subscribing
church architecture; built during ministry of E.
I. Fripp Adjacent hall.

Belfast, Mountpottinger Unitarian Church,
1875.

Founded 1862. Stone, Gothic style; adjoining
Sunday School and hall.

Cairncastle Qld Meeting House, Ballygally,
Lamne, County Antrim. 1875,

Congregation founded 1646. Plain oblong
worship-hall, in fine position overlooking
Antrim coast.

Clough Non-Subscribing Presbyterian Church,
County Down. )837.

Congregation founded 1829. Classical style;
portico with two Corinthian columns of
Moume granite, four pilasters and catablature.
Interior, plain, pleasing design. Chapetl faces the
Maourne mountains. Graveyard and caretaker's
housc.

Comber Non-Subscribing Presbyterian Church,
Mill Sireet. County Down. 1838. Imposing,
stands in is own ‘estate’; nearby Sunday
School, also within the grounds.

Cork, The Old Presbytcrian Church, Prince's
Streer. 1715.

Founded 1670. First entry in minute-book is
1717. Georgian style. Entry between two shops,
original gates and flagged approach. Intericr oak
panclled, square room. Box-pews seat 60. Organ
of 1817. Originally approached by boat through
Cuncomb Marsh.

In 1980 fiwe damaged the gallerics, now
repaired. Occasional services.

Crumlin Fixst Presbyterian Church. County
Antrirn. 1837.

Congregation originated 1672, First toceting
house 1715, Sione, octagonal with large twao
storey pedimented porch. Imposing elliptical
interior; similar 1o First Presbyterian Church,
Belfast. Gallery. Wine-glass pulpit with winding
stairs on either side. Stands back from the road
in its own ficld and graveyard. Has elegance and
a simple grace.

Ballyclare

Downpatrick Firsi Presbyterian Church, Stream
Swreer. County Down. 1710.

Founded 1650. Ceorgian meeting-house,
cruciform in plan, claimed t¢ be earliest
example of iis kind in Ireland. ‘Squire’s gallery'
adjeins pulpit. Has set of 4 collecting ‘spoons’ of
capper with long oak handles, all inscribed and
dated 1754. Restored 1965. Schoolroom over
three old cottages.

Dromore First Presbyterian Church  [Non-
Subscribing), Rampart Street. County Down.
1811. Founded 1610.

Plain meeting-house in exiensive yard with
separate school and hall, built in 1961,

Banbridge

Dblin, Unitarian Church, 112 5t Stephen’s
Creen [West), 1863,

Congregation founded 1649. Earlier building
in Eustace Street, 1728, Gothic church upstairs,
hail below. Built for narrow site between alféady
existing 18th century buildings — now
demolished and replaced by modern high-nise
neighbours. Architects, Lyn and Lanyon of
Belfast. Fine stained glass; main window is an
early example of Irish stained glass revival and
bears the mark of 'An Tur Glionne' {Tower of
Glass), the first Irish company making stained
glass. Designed by Sarah Purser, 1916-17. Also
Flemish and French glass of the 1860s. Good
organ. Chapel library with bocks from carlier
meeting house. Fine communion plate ¢.1680
bequeathed by Dr Thomas Harrison, Chaplain
to Oliver Cromwell.
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Dunmurry First Presbyierian (Non-Subscribing)
Church, Glebe Road. County Antrirn, 1779

Congregation founded 1676, First church
1714. Exccllent example of a bam-church; two
entrances set between three seroi-circular
headed windows. Possibly by Roger Mulholland.
Box pews and ‘wine-glass’ pulpit with stairs
either side. Many memorials, Remarkable for 56
year ministry of Dr Henry Montgomery
{1809-65) New hall of 1975.

Glenarm, Old Mecting House, Ballymena.
County Antrim. 1762, :
Plain, rtectangular, two-storey windows.

Close 1o Glenarm Castle estate.

Holywood

Greyabbey, First Presbyterian (Non-Subscribing)
Newtownards, County Down. 1862.
Congregation founded 1733. Typical ‘bam’
meeting house.

Holywood, First Presbyterian {Non-Subscribing)
Unitarian Church, High Street. County Down.
1849,

First mecting house 1615. Fine classical front
facing main road; grounds contain memorial to
C. J. Mcalister, minister and founder of Jocal
grammar school.

Killinchy, Non-Subscribing DPresbyterian
Mewry.

Church. County Down. 1846.

First meeting-house 1670; second, 1714;
congregation lost possession when they joined
the Remonstrant Synod.

Finc, restrained classical facade. Interior
plain, rear gatlery. Set in large graveyard.

Larne, Old Presbyterian Church, Meeting House
Strect and Ballymena Road. County Anuim.
1828.

Congregation founded 1625, Plain square
meeting house in graveyard; separate school
rooms, recently rebuilt.

Moira, First Presbyterian Church, Craigavan,
County Armagh 1738.

Congregation founded 1693.

Meeting-house type in extensive graveyard. The Old Meeting House, Lame.

= e
oy i,
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Moneyrea, Non-Subscribing Presbyicrian
Church, Newtownards. County Down. 1770.

Congregation founded 1719. Meeting house,
school and interesting small session-house.
Parnell met the elders of the congregation in the
early 1880s in support of their minister's
candhdacy as z Land Leaguer, Rev. Harold
Rylett. Plain, oblong, single-storey. Restored
1963.

Newry, First Presbyterian Non-Subscribing
Church, John Mitchel Place. Couny Down.
1853,

Congregation founded 1630. First building
1688. Remains of old pulpit jrom which john
Wesley preached) and fine sun-dial of 1757 are in
Meeting House Creen bunal ground, High
Street.

Eclectic Gothic, with stegple.  Architect,
William J. Barr, who designed Ulster Hall and
Albert Memonial, Bellast. Organ of 1806,
ariginally 3-manual from Second Church jnow
Alt Souis’] Belfast, which was firgt congregation
of dissenters in lreland 10 have an organ. Legend
has it that it was built by John Snetzler, but this
is unlikely. More probably a Dublin organ of late
18th ceotury. Restored 1979,

Newtownards, First Presbyterian Congregation,
Victona Avenue. County Down, 1924,

Founded 1642, first building 1724 Small, neat
brick; late neo-Gathic.

Rademon, Non-Subscribing Presbyterian
Chwrch {First Kilmore), Kilmore, Crossgar.
County Down. 1787,

Congreganon founded 1713, first building
1715. Fine meeting-hcuse in  commanding
position; large gravevard with small school-
roorn opposite. Clock on froat of gallery dated
1789.

Raloe Remaonstrant Charch, Lame. County

Antrirn, 1838.
Original meeting-house; small, squarc, neat.

Ravara, Non-Subscribing Presbyterian Church,
Moncyrca. County Dowr. 1838.

Small, charming meeting-house; brass plaque
in vestibule records foundation in 1838.
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Templepatrick, Old Presbyterian Church.
Coun:y Anirim. 1881,

Congregation founded 1646. First building
1670. Semi-Gothic, stands behind estate wall,
not far from old Presbyterian burial ground.

Warrenpoint, First Presbyterian Church
{Remomsetrant), Burren Road. County Down.
1820.

First building 1707, in Carhngford. Very
sbmple but with unusual central curved porch;
set in large graveyard.

Disused churches

Antrim, Old Presbipiesas Meeting House, Main Street, 1892,
Congregation dated firm 1645; fust chapel 1699, Played
Imponamt rele w 1E2h cenwury when John Abermethy was
mimster (170030 and founder of the Belfast Soziety —
tanmunner of Non-bubseription in Ulster
sl rectangalar meeting bouse, four large windows cach
e, Craveyand Clossd 1980

Ballymena, High Street. Antrim. 1845

Ballymoney, Charles Streer. Antrim 1811, Former meeting-
house is now the Corporation: Offices Very plam rendered
walls, finr long windows cach sidi, hipped siate roof; later
parch ang front facade,

Carrickfergus, jaymount Bank. Antrizn 1836.
Classical fromt. Scld and now pant of Carrickfergus
Techmica. School.

Clonmel "Tipperary|, Nelson Streer, 1782.

Warrenpoint.

Moneyred,

137



N

Chester Congleton Ma.nsﬁsﬁ
* Crowe * m“’“‘f‘ o Sulionind e Newark
. Hanley
anterich % *
antwich 'y « e o Lo Belper y : Netingfam Bosion 3
Newcastle 5 Duffield e gpston *
Broad O3k &  # Whitchurch UB::I'“
Vem » Finden
Looghborough Feet % Kings Lym
» . . Filby
. » Stafiord < e Mounisorel Long Sungn Horwith .
" L L]
Shrewsbury P — 73."“\‘"0'11 - . Wisheth Hapton 6L Yarmoun
e Waball ntne:slml
Coseley ®
DUg'H . W'esl .Blnmwn:h 3 arkley
kbury ® © 3% :
Suvvitge * ¢ % | BIRMINGHAN . Sotom Diss
Bowder, , ° %G, Coventry* . w
' Wieks
Kitdetminstet -'?;%' Kerims 5*‘-‘““:‘“ ket Suq,.st Edmunds » Bedfield
L] L ]
Wars . .
) Ciiow Aeron 7 Rhydygwin 3 Cellan * Noester : Nesdampion = Cambridge harsfingarn
§ (ribyn S Cwanewydd B Llanwnen Rovsta
0, ¢ e 7 Klityblaca 8 Cwmsychbant @ Lwnrhydowen oystat -
ge, o8 LaMDETE  yn ety Fadla 1) Prengwyn V2 Capel lfen Evastam o \ babury . Safhon Waldan Ipswich
[l
12
I'IC‘ 8 o Cwmwrdu Bltes o Wion i Gt .Halztead
Llandysul HE]
" * OREIET Chetterham e .
. . Brainires Colghester
* Gloucesler
[ Carmarthen
5t Clears ‘. Pontadzwe Cein Cﬂsﬁ » Dowlais Gfard ChBlI'I'ISfOI'.d
Stroud e
Botnguiath o WIS & Merthiy y Crcencester S1 Afans
Swgnsam ® " » Mountain Ash »
) - - -
: Treorely o Clydach Vale Swingon oo s g Southend
- .. : oy ’
Notiage .Benws Portyprds Frenclay + res e,
o Buggent  Cardfl ’ Reating Ll e
- * o M - S Chatham o
¥
Bath o padtasmA” * Newbury - Canterbury
- Gessels Green - '
Trowbndge® . - Maidstone S Dezl =
- Devess o Guidford ren
Ashaick . » Godalming Headearn o e 0o
* Shepton Mallel Warmunsier Horley Cranoronk ™ ® Biddenden
. Tenterden . i i
Bridgewales ® . ’ Londen: 5 miles 1o one inch
» Barnsapie * A Ralvonden
- Billingshurst o . o Wood Green
& Taunton Cuckdiels ® et Horthaam
cfie » Gol 3
Bridwel Wrnuristes ."'eo"';' + Sathamptan « Ditghling Hasings iders.ﬁreen. Finchley l
- hd . ok Ringw Do Brohion tewes § L/ S « Highgste » rfa tharmeiire
Crediton * Qilomplon eakerte ¥ | s A 98. # Newingion Green
o » Honiton podie B > Kikburn o binging * Leyton
. Colyion odle  Bournemo- Kentish Town  Hackney o forest G
Exeler § 'J'J"ﬁ:l-'d . o Bridpant Wareham . # N. %g Riyl Swezie  LPe o SU:: mm:igghm! Green
Mazetontampstead % /éa‘ Dorchester Brvgort e AN Yencingion @ gy 5t @ Clekenwel o s ® Limehouse
, . tepney
Iavmtccﬁ Newtton Abbor * Breatocd Dlackiniars o Bermondsey
» ) » » .
Totes * Southern England ¢ Richmond  pytney Borough Deptlord  Wokwith
fameuth  Qevonport Torquay % and Wales * BION® periiam (hrcham
LY - .
138 Piymouh Scale: 20 miles to ane inch Craydon
- L ]

J




Limavady
L)

prthern Ireland
cate: 20 miles to one inch

Clormel
Cosk

Ballymaney
. Glenamn
Cairncastle ,
Balymana Larne =
L]
Raton »
Baltyclare
ARIiM o w Ea“m"'y */ Carsicidergus
Temphepatrick™
Bellast Habpwiod o,
Crumiin o Wlas o Newtawnards
Dunmurry ,  Comber, o Drey Abbey
Moneyrea® 1
Maira = Ravara . « Balyhatben
Kilfinchry
Banbridge  Dromore Redemon
¢ Dowspatrick,
Clough” Baliee.
Newry

« Warrenpeum

Qubhin
L]

Aberdeen

Manirose
.

Dundee
.

Perth

Tilicaultry
. mslgv

Stenhousemuir =

. Clasgiw
P oGlasgow T
» Paisiey

»
Kimarnack

Darlingtan Sluck.lun
. L] *
Barmard Caste Middieshrough .
Whitky
& Kendat Statboiough
Welhum & Malton
L ]
s Lancaster Yark
Douglas 9 .
, Blatkpool Patihan » + Bradiond Cawood
® . Presion . . = Seln
s o . ** leeds
.t » " N LI o Thorne
« Stairforth
» » Manchester e » Doncaster
olivepogl & " " ’..'.' .".“ : .
R e s o Sheffieid * Beisbarough
. - - - L"
e . v .. Oestarid o Lireshn
Marrclesfiel Mansfieks o Kidslead
* Chester - . B . Newark
Congleion Derby * . .
¥« 1 Noungtem Boston

Alrwitk
a
fhorpeth
.
Choppinglon «

Cateshead .'.
Sunderland®

Northern England and Scotland
Scabe: 30 miles to one inch

* Durham

141



st Xirby

Wallasey @

L
Birkenhead

142

Bootle
& g Hamilton Ad.

LIWERPDOL

& ®Hopg 5t
M1l St f

# Tpngth
# JRet R,

Gaacre

»
Garston

Chestet

Calne
[ ]
® Natson
Padibam
L 4 ®
@ Burnay
. Presion
Blackburn o Aceringian
|
Rawengzl Tﬂd‘"m;
Barwen L]
) ® Newchurch
Chorley
]
Ruvingten Rochdak
L ] Horich Walmsley *
. ! ¢ B.ury ®  ywod & .
& 3
Bulsn . ¢ Aingworth Min
Stand Mldﬂulun \
Hindiey " - P
] erton '
Park Lane L4 Swintgn Batket o U
. Astley . Coltyhurst @ .
. o Menton [ " mstey
Leigh * o :ﬁnwéassnf w_r"*,.“m
XSt
51 Helens ° # Gorters .
¢ Gt Urmston & Hossde e * Oenon® hﬂ‘: )
e Frescol ¢ ChorftoncH e Pian # Heatommoe & Glossop
Sale .

erhe:shawe ® Steckpui

® Wasiington @ Alttincham
@ Hale Bamns
o Styl
# Dean Row
& Kruisiond
$ Aostock Mactdwsfichd s.uxtun
@ Congleton

South Pennines
Seale: § miles 10 the inch

@ Idle
Pudsey
Badiord ¥ L] .uws
Shelf @ o
Hafifax
Dewshury
Flaed ¢ Wakefizld
¢ )
& Hugdersfield
Lydgate
| ]
Iiuﬂ‘hnusa it Houghipn  #
Boltan-onDearne o
Mextorough @
® Doncaster
® Rotherhom
Stanningion
Crookesmpg: @ Awerchfie
Futwoog @ Upper Chaget
L ] SHEFHELD
Bradwel‘:l * soon
G Huckiow
[}
Stoney Middleton
[
fAshlord o
* Chesterfiekd
® Ragg

143






146

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Nearly ! Utitarissn chagels have at some time or other [and ofien several
tibes | produced & biszory of their own congregation and its buildisgs A
semprehensive colbeomom of these individual himiomses tan be consulned a2
Dr Williams' Library, Gesilon Squase, Lisalon, or at the John Hylmds
Unwrrslty of Mancheszer Libeary They bave not been separately mtirsisod
here, but bave of eonrse heen nvaluable i the preparation of this book.

MNonconformist Congregutions in Cremt Fritain: A List of Historfes in Dt
Williams® Library, published by Dy Willtarns” Trust, 1973.

Articles

Trensactions of the Unitadan Flistorial Socimy. [Many weeful articles |
The Inguirez, the cewspaper of the Uhiariazs, also has many usefal
wrticies.

Inkm Betjernan, Tomcosdosisiae Architecture’, Architectural Review, 1940
H. Goeodwin Amald, ‘Barly Mesring Houses', Transactions of the Anciest
Monuiment Saciery, New Sees, Val 8, 1940,

Christopher Stell, “Auchiteets of Dissent, some Nonconformzin pasrons and
their architects’, 30%h Ammudd Lecrure of D Wiliams® Trusit, 1976
Kenneth §. Taylor, 'Nowes on Recent Charels Building in England’, News
Digest of the Jatermationol Associaring for Religions Freedom No. 44, 1960.

Genesal Historles

. Lordon Bolam, leremy Goring, H. L. &hor acd Roger Thomas, The
Emghsy Preshytaniine 1968,

1 Elwm Duivies, They Thought for Themselves — o bref Jook at the
hisigry of [iniarssaim in Wales . .., 1982

G. Eyir Evans, Midiand Chunches A Hisory of the Congregations on the
Rell of the Atidlend Cheietlan Undan, 1899, Record of the Froviroad
Assembly of Lancasiumn and Chesfure, 1896,

Alexandes Gornion, Heads of Emghich Unitanan History, 1855 srpminted
1970, Fresdom Afer Ejpction, 1917,

Rosemary anel fereony Coruig, The Ulndlarens, 1984,

R. Travers Hesfood asd € D, Priestley Evains, Histodcal Sketch of the
Narth eeed Eest Lancaskore OUnitaran Missine, 1909,

Ann Hali, Walkung Together, 1934,

. % Hel, The Unitaran Contniaetion to Social Progress in England,
14938,

11 MclLachlan, Faglish Education ander the Test Acts, 1931,

leom Mureh. A History of Presbyteran and Genend Bapeiot Churchies in
the Wesd of England, 1R35.

B. Mighingale, Lancashue Noaconformity . .. T8HILE3.

B. S%apt, A Respectable Soclery. Bridport 15931835, 1974 jAx exceptlon
1o 1k male ominting mwlividad chapels, bue a unigusly valunble study of 2
complere pwn commusity of the period |

L. & %hpon, Pomeers of Soodtish Undtardeurmn, 1963,

Adam Taylor, Hutory of Eoplid Gerese! Dapists, 2 vols, 1818,

(. Lyon Tumner, Originad Feconls of Nonconfonmity, 3 vols, 1911-14,
Michacel Watts, The Dusenrers, 1978

E R Wickham, Church and Peaple i an fadusieial City. |Shetiield), 1969,
Walies Walson, The Moy of Diisnvisg Chamels jn longon, 4 vols,
150454 ;

R 00 wowedsll, Midlend Unitafanism and its Seery. Alsa las unpublished
srvey of closed chapels ¢ 1965.

Fichasd Wrighs, Missimoary Lafe and Labours, 1824.

Architecturzl Hisrories

john H. G. Amcher fed!, An and Architecture mn Victopan Manchester,

Manchester University Press, 1985,

ﬁ;a:r_:d Ranton, Discovering Chopels and Meeting Houses, Shire Books,
Th.

John Beticuzan, Firet and Leg Loves, 1952

Marvus Binney, Who Cares!, 1977

Martin Briggs, Puritan Arcinisciuss, |04,

Kenneth Clark, The Gothie Rawrvad, 1928,

Alan_Crawfuni {edl, By Hlamr and Haed the Adrand Crefis Movement

iz Ripmunghamn. Birmingham Museums sesd Arc Gallsry, 1964

I 8 Cuil Clasgcal Chuwches in Ulster, 1Uiser Archivectusal Heritage

Sociery, 1980

AL Drummond, The Church Architecture of Pretcsidrtism, 1934

Charles Namgrove [ed], The Unitarian Chapels of Yorkabine, ¢ 1910

R. P fones, Nonocomformise Chuzeh Architeense, 1914,

K. Lindley, Nonconformist Chapels ind Meetng Housss, 1969, Gimves and

Ciravevanls, 1972,

Nikolius Fevaner, Ruilidings of Englusd, 44 vols, 1951-74.

K. Puowell, The Fall of Tion, (580

R. Richards, Ol Chestye Churches, 1946

D Thum, Liverpos! Chirchies ami Choels, 1654

An Ithistmted Hamabook of the Prestyterian, [ritasian end other Liberal

Chfsgian Chisredes tn the Midlandy . . . | 1W4

The forthooming petlication on tbe Monconfonmas buildimgs of Engand

Em‘:hruk intephien Srell (HMSO| was not pablished b mmme to be wsed ot this

T T

e

iR B
T i ! iE

Sunday fohow! a2 Lvdpare.
Wesl Yorkaiies, J¥11
Archirest, Fdgpar Wood




agna

A (1 {)

o

O o a
HDDH

S
1A
i A

Chewbent , Atherton

HjS|=jupsjuin
g g b nd Nortrich
Knutsford
O |ad
1 0n Jlalene |
Ri K

0,000

Fulwood Sheffield

Pen-y-bont {Bridgend)

QOld Lhwynechydowen

Z X

AR

ogd o O

o ABA

Aberystrwyth

Rhyd-y-gwin , Felinfach

N\

qolnp

Pearhiw

oanogon

E]I:]HDEI

Q
N0000 ﬂﬂ I
ooop] [Bnubpd .
Tamworth Eannington Chesterfield
0 OO 0 0 OO0
0 ¢ 0 | [0pd) e |Upd
Tenterden " Rin Swood Horsham Ditchling
) & (o) (00°
Old NewingtonGreen  Gul(iford CWLJU e HSh&Pm alleE []
" —
B D ﬂ D[]D SN
] N0 nB0u
Bury St.Edmunds Framlingham Ipswich

148

Wiarmingher

&)

a0n0
0 a

Bridport

AH0A

O0Qa
GrqD

Maidstone

HDOD

Old Dob Lane, Failsworth

TFHH} S
N U] oo
Pantydefaid Hendy Cwrdd, CetnCoed  Caelronaen

O 0
N0N

Alityblaca

-|:I>D
"‘l:[[:]
o:[)[:l

B D
D D

o

t. Albans

&
1

149



150

INDEX

Chapels which appear in the Gazetteors are
pripted @ nabss,

Aberdare Hie 1t s
Abesdven
Alervsiwyrh
Absrmethy, John
Alzaaars R
@0, 1
=7
12,16

L&

39, 60, T
W,
Boln, 2y

Pepral #f Test ared Cosgisation 1538 P72
Adkez Bev. Jobin 13
Asiez, Nev, Gourgr K
Adnoeoril 25 20,27

kL

87

dd

gk
di-
[
116
&a

Hi

I
41, i
T,
Andrres Son aed Pep JLH
Angier, Age John wr

Acmietreh, TH

Ao, Bev Sam El
Anries LR
k2]

132

Iy

i, vl

A wh 1
Arrontrong, e R A, e

At Maurrey
Arts and Cralis Mowvemment 31, 70, 86, W4, 100
Ashifant
Ashlord-n-ide-Water
Ashiog family
Aabnan, Laike 1S

Adbivan, Thomn A
Aditban m-Mikeslatld. see Pork Lang

Anhiar usdir Lae 6
Aifirsch 2]
Adlrevati Johin L
Anpi e Julin i
Aapirriall, Edwared

lges, Rivzert

Ailtfey
At Ledy Nancy 11
£
12 13, 15,28, 24,26, 27, T
g
Avseed e dsffick! 39w an wE
ag, f i
8
Bayive I iR
Balivearry ]

Bedlvelare 132 133

Buliviuibent 132
Bellymena 137
Ballvmunay jar
Bapdrinke

Swzary

Hapuues

Bapiim Mow Conneeuon

Baglismgnas

Batbgdd, Mijis 5
Ba . Tk T, 8, 91
Beismrd Cadh &8
Fames, Bov Bl 116
Bamey Rev, Teoms 26
Burragple 44
Bamm, Wiljar= | 136
Dy, B harles 53, 67
Bty diird B 7
Bgxsin_ |. |. -
Buxtt 50, 54, 66
Butile &6
Baxzer, liew Rivhan! [ L
Butk, Canape B
Bl i &
Buaiied, Thire! Faslof 13

as
T3 130 14
i

B Traeed Mosiign, L [
Belpwi 18, &t 3450
Belutaim, Rev Ther a4, 71
Bermcmlnts. Lividsin 67, 97
mied 6. 22, 25, do 695D

RIS P

141

Belgnign. jidy 1]
Erwdiri 20, 50, 54, 8
Sorer, Charley all
Brddgrdim {o
] Aimnngien ird
B shurst 25, 50, 53 58057
Eil ot W 2,87
Biancy, Masus {11}
Eirientes] ra
Hirminghum & 340, 55 @6 5. 76, TR,

M, |

u, Rev, Bargaret Rl
u family

w i 1

Fumler

B
18 1Y, qe
Brahibay sl Guiss Bl 1o

Bi
33, 66

ex High Carrert aned Halsread 28
diardopw 44
Wieds; Troary sl 16
21

w22

166

o e

15 d? 18

Bivdywarer a3 34
Bridpornt 1350, 84 w658
Artaclt Hall Gt
Hraggs, Martn 10,10
Arnghroa A B A2, 6 5B
Ansi (TR AR - R

Bieitlsh ared Foresgn Unitanas Assscaton
O | ]
Anwten 11,35, 198, 107
frurst, Joha kL3
uy Avenue, Hagdfond &!
frarer l3mily kL3
i, By Stopiond &Y

‘e Giorton

104
11, 86, 87
fhn 49
126
s

Furmc s, S Edwand Coley G

Buraley
H. i
Bury 13,75, Jr 105
Aury Chexfon 26
By Fr. Adfmarads 4,22 24,28
[ FA 96
Pt Msison v sl g 08
Cackert, Bures, Dick and MacKellar 10
Caffyn, Marthre 30,032
e TR 132
Catne 45
Cambrdge 11 M. 102 104105
Lo rbury 13
Cagml ffan, Pantep 11718
Cagal v Byn. Cuntnewydid 120
Capely Cwm Llanybyther 120
Capel ¥ Ginrm. Ularnwngn 115, 116, 2!
Capranner stained glass 23
Cardale, Paut 30
Carchiff 118
Carlisly o5
Cammarthen 115, 118
Capearer, Rev. Benjamin A3
Carperaer, Riw Lam 58, 01
peny, lary 5859 74
Carprsien, Rev Bhulip Peassall 42
Carr, Jobin 51 da
Carnckiergus 124 135
Cumiegion, Bl of L0
Caarw] Miywspl 115,132
Carl Cond. derhyr Tydh! e
Cirliari e
Cerrtigy Guils i
Cgruwis of 188 71
Chalbior B- M 82
Chamberlale Sy I
Charaiing, Wilkain Elleiy ¢
Chantrey, Sir Francis a0
Chatles I 18
Chatteild Clarke, T. C. 37,98, 108

151



5
A

2 BE
2]
A0, B2

1057

22 28 50,59
g4, it

1i6

26
29
Chanimnecumn- Hardv &%
Chasmn See Atherion
Chituis Bsheen 9 R 50, 64, FD R
Ho, W,
o
25
Chreecy ifal Kl Rt _I6
Clreech of Erglarel 1216, 15, 1%, 31,
&3 8%, T2, 114
Cilwan Aeron, Lampeus He
Clrencestes R
Clare, ®amtr 2
Clarkee, Do 28, a8
Clunke;, fmcph k]
Clarke, Bichaed Hali [t
al
10, 53, 54
Clay od Madwmithiaw
Clayten, Rev. Luke 9]
Claarar Miff ?6
Chnu Brstol =
Clovks t.'..'\-
Clonme! 138
Claugy 131 15
Olwdach Wole iF ]
Losenlie ElA
Crope, Hutiir &6
. ! 24
Lplergyr, Surts L H
Cellinges, Rey =
e, Moo GF
Lol i, ' |
il
-
it
B3a
9%
10,17, " 8T
Rev banry 1
£ meph 31,90, 03 112

Crnksan, Charles
(¥

i

Coumcsa ol g § Cedrrmeaion 1]
il Samucl L
MR G-

old 113

Lursl "'E LE k2
Eurwlmg, & I|.'.'.i L 1Y
. HoleTr W

w, Mew ot ({1}

L.pbyn uo
Crof b, 7]
Crompton, Abreham B

152

Cromwell, Qfever 59, 133
Crowe, [ames 91
Cravdon 96, 103, 106
Crumiiz 132,135
Celtlin. Nikdglord and Herton b
G EpaE A
i b, Al sdare JAY
Ot Col 118,123

Comivehbast, see Capel-y-Cwm
Cwmwiiy 123
Cwithrwsadd et Gyl ¥ Bryn

I W

e LIk

Dk dgas wr
Dlaghp, Res |orpce 07
Dariileds, Cheries &
Dare, Laetrge fev
Darfingion L0
Darwen 26
Darwie, Charies 3740
TR, R 42
Ddii, R 11§

Deti, Dl [Dalis Castel Hywell 115, 120-121
Cawabh, Ginge i)

Deal dd, &9
N Bow, Wilmslow 20, 28 23 25 20, 24,

38, 102
D dipen of Indulgenee 17
Drdog 1 R R
Dt fidden Fratery Fr
dsamn 82
Flaaby 24, 46, 1%
Ja Sorarans, Lapts 110
[levites ad
[Aevanpust 52, &4
Dewadiur, s
Dungle e Vosor Mission, Loadid 67,97
Thamwy famaly 35, 65

Dins 10, 54, 56
Ddtmneg Acddemies 9,19, 34,39, 42, 44,

4%, &1, 10
u T ] M
Aveiding & 125
Digh Lang, Failsiearh 1ab
Ebetsil], By
Inobedl, Bes L]

Liobsen, lohn
Dodmar, Elicz
Padac, Rev Jusbre

Crobein, Tk oW
[Dedilrilpe, Rer Fhiip 17, 3
Dol B ™

Sorpestee Sireed Misson, Leeds

Pomgiar, XM
9. 52, 34, 5960

Dlover
I nrhun 12
103, 1111
1] i
Thrwsry, v, My Enficid &4
Drmbcs ater, Bl 44
Drawivie 133
Duig, Allred A5
12133
@ a0
56
7223058283
52
2, 13,
Dunkeslep F B il
Lrunrrriry 130, 13d
Dhrant, Fee. Willam 25, 110

Durkamn [:33

Drysarg, Fa 51
Eschiss, 5. H 30
El]
75
124125, 126
Edwart ¥1 18
Flam, Marshs e Willtam L]
Elba, Gamige 32
Elkiad 3
Ellmuss of Larbun, clockmaket 106
Ermeraen, Halph Waldo 9
Esaiix G Londor, see Kensington
Esary Hall, Landoen 103
Ennrd, Fev. Llavd 115,124
paans, Rev Caogs Fyre 45, 65 118
EIH

Evans, Rev, Joseph and Saosaanah
Evans, Owen 149
Evans, Thomas [Tomas Glyn Cothil

115,116, JiE

gvesharn 7 an
Frepshed, Wikliam 19, 5h A0
Lxeter 4@, 3G
Falmicuth ot
Farres and Turner 7
L, few Samuael 36

=)

Fiekl b 1 W e 54 WP 63, %L
Farsd Tl Sbisdas e
y &5 97

Fisldh ol London o3
Fighdhm lamilp 11,92
Frifry 10z
Fime b o
Fandfim 4
Faber ev. lamts 29-40
Flabar, furmes of Yotk 44
g 4. 166
Planissen, john 87, 96
Flaer @
A, 9l

B3

11, 75,78, &4

a3

G

Foowan Cadir 2l b
Prambnphao 8, 17,1830

Frajeiland, A,

Finpfy
Frih
19,23, 2%

Wip ]

Tyshie Falmer, Thomas 52, 1k, lus
Geingborangh 11
Galeay. lakn <3
Cab L Japiies misd W itham -5
Carlick, Bl 3
ar

Carston, I.l'\.lpwnf

rabeetiy

M, |
Gasiell Hollned

Caes]

Gaserd Rev Wilkiam 108
Caracpe 31
Gyl .7
Clmadbaad Syl Glass Company B
Gattord, Flisabeh o
Cav Flioabed aq
- af, Hiht 10, 727375, 144
o] LF RPN -

fierad fucernbly o Unlusian and Free

Comgus -]
Gooling. | M L]
Giluin, fobo 75,43
Calbeii, Walrer LA}
Gl Rey 12 114, 113
LA 126
Liisbazme, Rev. John ]
35

71

54,125, 126127

Clasgow Lunversity 133
Glenarm 134
Gilossop Vi
44

7O 5% 80

P [ B g

G..-:r:wr.\, 'i.u L2
aardnn. B, Mcxa det LF)
ey lareils 15

arton, s ines
Lo b Bevaval
Greeat Houghion
Coreal Hucilow
Comal l:lm. xwdhy

Gorg, Bartue!
Careivén lmzily Gl
Lo
50
(&)
L=1]
k3]
96
Culian wwl [ vmpstone &
Heacipay, 1 . 4d
Hadtlild, Geoge Tl
Mulg Bosst 13,24, 31
Eaey, [bomas a7
Haiskey, Rev Samuet 119
Fhabiea 12, %6
Hadliray, !‘I 1I)3

. Lrverpool i-' 3
9,87, 10
O

113

44, 46

26

LRI

k1

133

61

&1

J 68 75,78, 8584
v Loty I
r II 5 Willam A Y
= EHR L
52,

Moy, Aldanfariter 98

Frw: Ml 104

v Mdiinrw 45, 105

Hemry, Bav Flalip 45
Haviaid, R ] .0
Hewley, Lord mud Lady 417
Heyvomsd [
Heywinad, Rev, Oliver 25, 3%
Frey'wimsd, Robrzi 3]
Hich, Leziel, Cosmes 51 Donegal s
Higet, Damml of Rhadd i1 i3
iiphgar U] G797

Fligson ol Tobble, brnckmaker
17,80, 21, 25

Pl b ley

Hindley 1332
Thichens, lvon g
Huslghinson, ke Jonathan L)
Holden, By Laurence 42
Holday, Hirey 40, 78, B W
Helr, M prgeimaker sy
Flalywed HE
Haneyapod famudy 87
MWasiirn &
Hug Stecet, Livarprad 74,7597
Hupe-Fizie (1K, 37
Heormaey, I, 41
o, Jerem 15
lHarksm 25 37 A0, 54
dsraiick Ra
Hurirrer: [amily [
Huesgsenm, Rev. John iy
Hheisyrqtiefd o
Hiugthies, Bev. George i
Hull 52, 1o
Hulvter, Brnsbow Sueer, Manche ster Q8
f wr
40 Gh
1 Rtreet MUlE Bierhiugham ]
¢ see e Dross aand Plowery Tueld
He e, buiider 56
Idfe 78 97
Herd [
{lheston o7
fimumzrer 21, 32:35, 4950
trelwpradenis 016, 175 11
Inkpun, clod bimker
Ik tiiganieg
Ipvveech 9.10.20,21, 23,2
fslingean 14y, 10308
lvery, Thomas 48 54, 62
a9
s 1x
11
£
§'
1<
oy
148, B2
108 L2
lufe's, Rov o I
|oinn, Ramald Pairm ¢ Sl L Bh BT
1k i

s, Kow, Samued

Rates, Albert

i Lew. Fodwand
Kinapf
Kenilwarth
Fenrick, William

Kenumpuoy 1, 52,75, B7, 103, 108305, 114
Koniim Tisey 97
Kerrvarn, Bolier B2
Kesps Bey William 116
Kiidedermingter L0, 51,53 54,60, 78
Kilbum a7
Killinehy 131, 134238
Ellarnock 124
Mg Ljma L
Fouagpiond, Rev Sampson

Kingnesod

Airealdy

Kramaod Abbey

Kitsen and Partnen

Knutsford 20,22, 23,25, 29,34, 3¢
Lot pé e izl
Lancawar 105
Loy 134-135
Lasel], William 15
Lasston, Hew Joseph 31
Lasdis slamed glass Br
Leagee o Mitons 100
Leawoed a7
Loz, Lawrenay 4]
Lotk 44, 70,72, ¥5, 78, YW RN 0T

lascagter 20, 22, 25, 34-35, 97\
Lewcesier, Willlam 1K
Leiden ]
55
Leig®, Benry and Marcha By
Lewsa 15,44, 28, 52, 302
Lawiihenn ar
Leyipiiiims 113
Labwriis 71, L0
Limehouse e
Lracoly 19,35, 54
Linchay, Rev Thedphitus 9, | b, 103
Lignan fisbsie Sally 87
Litide Foortlered Xercar, landan 54,67, 87
Ll o, 2, 74,75, 79, 65
Lreempoas Infirmary 1%
Llandyaw! Hs 12
Llanwnis, see Copes y Groes
Lioyd, Rev, Caarles 45,111,132
Lloyid, Evan 122
Lioyd Wigha, Frank il8, 112

l.l-'P'\l'ln"!-ﬂowr 11 6 gk E2

Lomg tamuly
Longsight, Marchester

Lostg Futron
Larigeon
Loughbarough 19, 87
ol
3 54, RB
! RE- e
Lprand Laoyomw 113

11,407, 102, W8 567

Lytham ¥ Anse 8

MrAlissér, Rew O | HEES

IR o e DA 4
AFE .'\uﬂlﬂ Fapdets Raii sy 7]
M Fean, Ellkee a
FeluiBan, bakn )]
Masbirane T A0
Al 4

Blashesan Vor Wadividual chapels, see ame
67,75, £E8 95

OEEITE 53

153




Manchestar Coflege, Ocfond
Manehester, Cross Steet 49,
remary & Philosapkloal &

Maschailes Bes Callege 10, 42, 43, 10
Mancheicr s O 71
90

T¢ Q.37
Marat, Jean Paul 52
Maeshfeld 53,68
51, 5%

9,11, 55, 62,71, 75,

79, 86, 87,97, 106, 112
Plather, Rev Richard 15
Muartarws, clockmaker 58
Mawrve, Rev. Michael 3N
Maw acd U5 of Brosciey &1
May, Georgs 30
Mayer 2l U, &7
Mercer, Ene 21

I4F 119,123
50,51, 54, 64,70
2,81, 7C, 90, 92, 112

Menhrr Tydfrl
Matkoediem
Mestaadior Linjtayans

Mt b i
Mbikili'e ofu 28
Mill HiT Chapel, see Lecds

Mudeizton o8
Middieten, Edgar oy
Miles Piatitag, Manchester o8
Ml Sereet Mission, Lverpool oF
Millar, Rev. Willam 126
Miln= Bev. lames 4z
MiLwi: Bl y &5
Ml fik 74,97, 100
M 134
Minta, (enil 46
Mulymtea, Visoous 15
Muoneyrea 136-137
i b th Rebellion 26,41
¥ o §tree: Mission, Brgtol P
wlanpomery, Bev. [r Henry 129, i34
sutehkly Reposetory, The 0
Manton 11,25 75, 76 T EV
AMumese 135, 126
Sl M a8
Maistonkam st &2
Margan, Rev. Tha 124
Minrgan, Branch sl Rolsens 108
ot ad
whoris B O 3, 37, 1B, 79, 85, B, 87,92, 113
by, WELAm 87

daielty ddeel, Manchester,
see Upper Brook Streel

Maoss-side, Manchester 8
Maossley 70, 7887
Aostyn, Ambiae 112
Mottzam 1o | origendale 70,90
Meunuzin Ash 123
Mourpoiiager, Balfast 133
4 63, 87

lnset, Roger 130, 132, 134
ey, | C ]
Wiz By, Jerom 29, 66, ¢

Jantwich 45 a7
Jarborough Rowd, Lawesnit a7
Jeadham Market 49
Jelsog o0, 08
ertletord family 104
Jewark P8
Jewbury 20, 45

Jweastle-umder- Lyrme 8.917.37. 30
mrTde upnn Tyae
11,65, 98, 100, 102, 110-111

154

MNewshureh 33,90
Newhall Hill, Birmingham 96
Newsngion Green, London 35.49. 54
Mew Light, The 125, 139
Newparr, 10W 50,58 62
Newry 131,136
Newton Abbot of
Newrgwnards FE"
Mewtoce, Rev. Samuel o
Nael, Edith Jane Ef
Mon-Suhscribing Presbyterian Churek 128-147
MNorman, Alfred &b
Norrs, loha &7
MNorch Shielda &8
Mo an 0
Northend (amesre Missien, Liverpoal oF
Morthizem 52, 55, 62
Manon, Sheffiely L &8
Nowweich 1613, 22, 48-49, 50, 54, 62, 144
Mittoge 122123
MNoddingham 75, 74,98
Mye, David Evelyn and Panners 103, 106
Oates, Inday 9
Octagon Chepel. Liverpoo! §4. 64
Odgers, Rev. W, L 112
Oldbinr ¢, 68
Oty 110
Oudbierns Licgs 78
Ol 1
Onmasiawi 123
Cnskirk &8
Qreon, Kev Jul 40
Owegns, [asmies 113
Oxford o, 98
Orxford Movement b}
Fadiham 51,00
[ 35

1552

126

&

ke, Noweastle upon Tyne of

118, 308122 10

Lverpoal 74, 79

zl 35

wn-fr- Makerfheld 38, 68

Parkar Rev. Theodore @
Faimall, Charles 136
118

albis ¢l

Fesoock, Richard 10, B8
Fewnall Michelss al
- by

o7

1,112,184

112

123

Vi

B, Thidlis 1
Perth 126
Peser de la Merme 15

vmer S Miklaus
10, 40, 67, 75, 74, 83, 80, 101

Pevsran

Plan, Manchested i1, &7
Flymouth 101,103, 1i¢
Pole farmily 44
Proryprdd 123
Poale ko]
Praries, Rev Joseph 30
Port Glaygies 126
Porsmouth 5210311

Pastal Mission
Founds, lohn
Powell, Keaneth

80
110-11%
10|

Prstyrenans®, 10, 12, 16, 17, 60, 71, 114, 128

Preseot
Preston

Price, Rev, [ Richard

Priestley, flev Joseph

38 58
23, 45
35, 44, 49,116

B, 44, 43,49, 52, 71, 80, 85, 104, 125

Frinee Regene, The
Pritcheu, ) P
Probert, Rew William
Pudsey

Pugin, A W.

Pullas, Joln

Puritans

Purser, Sarzh

Purves, Rev, James
Putney

Quaternien, The

R Teremae
i mily,
rold
houre, Fatkard
Rarhmet
Ravara

Revavpinrrall
Riad, Thomas

58

92

41

75, 9091
53,72
126

1%, 1§, 24
113

a6

103. 108

74

136137
136

59

04

79, 86
79,64

19,34

136

1LEL N3, 111
i)

Sezdmg 23
Wiz, Mobert Stuart 82
Reen Fanzily We 120
Rews, Thared fer 115,120
ReduaTisaikss o, 18
i, B, 43
Mrs Mary 5
rv Streel, Manchester ¥4

118, 186121

123
uop, London 7
44
bl b
] 2,103

Risgpaap, v Hiali Pams
Rirgworal 24, 45
Rapley én
Ravinginn 13,24, 3539, 14
&6, 71
isie 51, 52 HI2
Ropezs, Samuel a5
Roivenden 52,68
Rgaun Catholics 15, 16,17, 22, 53,
6,70, 72
Ronksley, Willtam kL
R dmiilly 1)
Rosing, Rev. Juieph Predtich 03
Bosst]lofy family 4]
Esutfserfigan 21
¢ Caigb M
L 15
chawter Instiution 55
5 p btrmary 40
Rovsisn 68
Rushalt 43
Russell Countess ¥l
Rurhedord, john a0
Rylen, Rev, Harold 136

Salln 1w Thomas and Mary &7

Walden 55, 68

i 45

3t Clears i23

St Fagans, Cardiff 118

5t Helens 103, 112

Saiv a5, 98

Saiem Meidryo, Assernbly of 118, 122

168

106

o1

&3

18, 124

Soott, Rev, james 50, 50 BB

S, Rev. Lvsience 41

scoitinh Leianan Associaton 125

Seddos, Aoy foaE 43

Seddon, Rev, Rober 81

o8

35

. Ratfibo 87

Stawe, Rev, Jolm L]

Sheffiald 12, 20, 39-40, 50, 68, 72, 91, 98

Shelburre, Eariof 49
Shelf

Sheplrd. Bev. Willlam

Shégon Mallet 45, 47
Ehore Bamely S8
Lheraskreh. London &7
TP T a0
Sidmeuth 40-41
Eikke 8O
Matthew 43

fi, Bermand 79 94
Srrardim 68
Bivdih, £ Walkes L]
- 1, Frang:s Smatuan &8
Smiih, Rev. George Vance 104
Smanily, Rev Southwood 126
E 5, WEllor ']

17 b0 IERERS 68, B4, 126, 136

Socrery of Fraieds 10, 16, 104
Suharn i
Svwthamplon 103, 11z
Southend-cor-Sea 12
Fousth Plece. Fansbury. London 12
Sinithpart 9293
¥ Faelds i
Seramby, i C. kY
Sponac, Bxhand 3%
Swafford g8
Senaforth [
i 02, 05
)

1,50 183, 112-113

*arish Chuareh 55

SRS ngaon 13, 36-39. 53. 91, 149
Serwtil Lowd 16
Stenkoagemar 126
Srppmar i [iomglon 8
Sighoegzs, Wil 58
]

&, 97

4

Struee, Jediliah

Srval

Sunday Sehuals

Suscieriand o9
Swansea ils, 122

Sutron-in-Ashfield &%
Swindon o8
Swunion 28
Saifr, Nean 15
Sylvester, Rew Matthew 107

122

40

a1

62

108

1, B 11,29, €6, 90
Tawe, Rev, Williamn 9
Tattersall, Richard 32,82, 98
Teunton 21,25, 4).52. 54
‘Taverner, Captain Samuel a4, 59
Tavisrock 13,49
Tayler, Rew. | 1L 55, 74
Tayle, Kensath 24, 103, 06, 108
Taylor, Rew Juhn 54, 62, 65
Témpijunnick 136
Tenterden 92
Theo, Rev lohn Heouben 74
Threnss, Rev Robert 121

i, Thomas Emlyn Jle
rum, W ilham (Gwylyos Mares

Lig, ii6, 321

30, 51

105

o9

126

1) 5). 75, 76, 78, 923

3

ledmorden
Trng Bev, Willam
Trpuk

a5
94-95

45
family 4]
Liverpoo! 1214
Tk 122
Trearchy 122
Trowbndpe 75.94.95
L b2
104

11,75, 78, 79, &3-86,

95,102
Ulster, Planiation of 118
Litaiaran bolieds 971,100, 125
Univenalists 9,50, 81, 5% 115

Liller Road, Liverpool

Unwin, Suiruel 49
Uppar Brosd Sueer. Muachester 53, 55,67, 69
Urmston ¢4
Whifitarianism 22
Vietona, Queen 41
Vidier, Rew, William 32 R@ bE R
vom Peizold, Rev, Gertnudy g
Wadswurtls, Edward i
Wakefield 48, 50, 84 #3

tea, Caprain Samuel a3
9 oddes
13,25, 42
an
6195
34, 69

D4

T 43
13¢-137

Warmninster
Warrenpoint

Werringion

Wanvick

Waisiih, Lord

Waikiim, Rev. Matthew
Wates, lsas

Wanralor Kood. Dlrmingharn
Webdy, Machanwl

Wehoz, M. H

Webpstd, lnisaly
Wedgeum! Sgannabh
Weeks, Res [k
wellbeloved, Rev Chasies
Wellbeioved, Rev Chazles I
wells, Rev, Grorge Henry
Welsh Acadern:es

Wem

Wesicy, John

West Brumwich

West Kithy

Weastiake, stained glass
Whameciife Fireclay Co.
Wihithy

Whitchurch

White, Susan and Thomas

Wi s, Eli

Whtrhursy, Jols

Whittaker, Gerwge and Richard
Whitt)e, Rew. james

Wibsey Fold, Beadjord

Waek

Wicken

Wicksteed, Rev, Charles

15, Rew. Francis Hayda
awrnson, Henry

oughby, Lord

Wilson and Hammond
Wilsan, john Andrew
Winchester, Rev Elhanen
Winterhottom family
wiskech

Wolverhampton

Wood, Edgar

Woold, Rev James

Wood Greem, London
Woedbridge Guay

Woodha!l Spo

Wondhouse, George
Weoolcombe, Rev, Robent
Worthingian, Rev, Hugh
Wmnkinmmag, Prrey
Woethiigsan, Thom

Fil

13,17, 42.92 49

33,45
&

il

35

v

4l
4.1
37

ar

k)

a3

44, &2-63, 16

11,100-103. 104, 113

22, 44,104
12z 123
&9

73,74

91

0

17,222

1. Edward: sec lole Morganwg

41

124, 126
38

&

421

52, 36 67
i

45
L
36, 98
13, 6
©8

o

55

&l

62

35

30, 64, TH B, #0, 102

dd_7TH. B B4

B, B7 $B, 08 0 v, (12

metalwork

i Chrisegpher
M.
i ighe, Ry

Wragss

B rhad

v
dder

Wynne, lnish B
Wythenshaws

foster

Yeowi!

York

Young Alevasoer
¥oung of Srakvinidge
Yieuieg 1 5 A

¥ Yoiwalye

57

Wi

0

83,869 70, W,
92, 116, 126
54

113

1i3
43
W4
Bl
112
i1 1w

155



156

Photographic credits

Hallam Ashley: p. 63.

Perer Leech: p. 23 (top).

fohn McLachlan: pp. 18 [top left), 39 [top), 42 (bottom), 47
{10p right), 57 [bottom}, 111 (top right), 114, 117 {top), 128,
130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, 137.

Keith Parkinson: pp. 40 (bottom), 69 (top), 72, 73 jropl, 97
{top).

Nancy Richards: p. 57 (top}.
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